

Fluorescent Nanoparticles for Super-Resolution Imaging

Wei Li, Gabriele S. Kaminski Schierle, Bingfu Lei,* Yingliang Liu, and Clemens F. Kaminski*



ABSTRACT: Super-resolution imaging techniques that overcome the diffraction limit of light have gained wide popularity for visualizing cellular structures with nanometric resolution. Following the pace of hardware developments, the availability of new fluorescent probes with superior properties is becoming ever more important. In this context, fluorescent nanoparticles (NPs) have attracted increasing attention as bright and photostable probes that address many shortcomings of traditional fluorescent probes. The use of NPs for super-resolution imaging is a recent development and this provides the focus for the current review. We give an overview of different super-resolution methods and discuss their demands on the properties of fluorescent NPs. We then review in detail the features, strengths, and weaknesses of each NP class to support these applications and provide examples from their utilization in various biological systems. Moreover, we provide an outlook on the future of the field and opportunities in material science for the development of probes for multiplexed subcellular imaging with nanometric resolution.



CONTENTS

1. Introduction	12495
2. Super-Resolution Imaging Methods	12497
2.1. Structured Illumination Microscopy	12497
2.2. Stimulated Emission Depletion Microscopy	12498
2.3. Single-Molecule Localization Microscopy	12499
3. Fluorescent Nanoparticles Used in Super-Reso-	
lution Microscopy Imaging	12499
3.1. Carbon Dots	12499
3.2. Quantum Dots	12504
3.3. Polymer Dots	12508
3.4. Modified Silica NPs	12511
3.5. Aggregation-Induced Emission Dots	12512
3.6. Nanodiamonds	12514
3.7. Upconversion NPs	12516
3.8. Other NPs/Nanomaterials	12519
4. Functionalized Nanoparticles for Cellular Super-	
Resolution Imaging	12521
5. General Strategies to Enhance the Performance	
of Nanoparticles for Biological Super-Resolution	
Imaging	12525
6. Conclusions and Persperctives	12526
Author Information	12527
Corresponding Authors	12527
Authors	12527
Notes	12527
Biographies	12527
Acknowledgments	12528
ABBREVIATIONS	12528
References	12529

1. INTRODUCTION

Fluorescence microscopy has become the standard tool for the study of biological specimens on a small scale, providing both sensitivity and specificity. A drawback is that diffraction limits the lateral resolution of fluorescence microscopes to $\lambda/2NA$,¹ where λ is the wavelength of light, and NA is the numerical aperture of the objective lens. For typical conditions, this equates to around 250 nm for visible light, providing insufficient detail for the visualization of many subcellular structures. This limit has been broken by the advent of superresolution methodologies, which have revolutionized the field of biological imaging.²⁻⁴ With super-resolution microscopy (SRM) techniques, subcellular structures become observable that could previously only be seen by electron microscopy (EM). However, in contrast to EM, SRM can provide dynamic and molecule-specific information from within living cells. It has revealed complex biological functions, such as proteinprotein interactions, motion of biomolecules, organelle dynamics, information on cell metabolism and so on.⁵⁻⁹ Common to SRM methods is the use of a photophysical phenomenon to switch between physically discernible fluorescence states. This recognition earned Eric Betzig, William Moerner, and Stefan Hell, the Nobel Prize in

Received: January 18, 2022 Published: June 27, 2022







Figure 1. Schematic illustration of NPs used in fluorescence microscopy and comparison of various imaging modalities. (a) The green panel illustrates simplified light-paths to implement confocal imaging, and different super-resolution techniques and their variants. Bottom row: In conventional confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) the image information is gathered sequentially by rastering a focused excitation laser beam across a sample plane (first column). In super-resolution microscopy (SRM), the fluorophores are distinguished by switching between discernible fluorescent states, e.g., on- and off- states. 2nd column: in structured illumination microscopy (SIM), this is achieved through illumination with striped patterns. The spatial modulation of the excitation patterns generates frequency beats with spatial frequencies in the sample. The resulting widefield fluorescence image exhibits so-called Moiré fringes that encode high resolution detail in the low frequency beat patterns. Raw images are collected for different orientations of the illumination pattern. Through mathematical reconstruction, a 2-fold enhancement in spatial resolution can be obtained over wide-field microscopy. 3rd column: in stimulated emission depletion microscopy (STED), fluorophores are returned to an off state by a doughnut shaped beam surrounding the excitation beam. As a result, only fluorophores near the center of the excitation beam emit signal, creating an excitation point spread function (PSF) that is narrower than in the absence of the depletion beam and thus enhanced resolution. Last column: in single-molecule localization microscopy (SMLM), super-resolution is achieved through the sequential imaging of individual fluorophores and inferring the position of emitters through estimation of the centroids of the emission PSFs from individual fluorophores. Photocontrollable fluorophores are required that can be cycled between fluorescent on- and off- states during illumination. Note that the resolution stated for the individual techniques are indicative only and may vary with experimental setups and fluorophore properties. SSIM, saturated structured-illumination microscopy; PALM, photoactivated localization microscopy; dSTORM/STORM, direct stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy/stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy; SOFI, super-resolution optical fluctuation microscopy; PAINT, points accumulation for imaging in nanoscale topography; MINFLUX, minimal emission fluxes. (b) Schematic makeup of various fluorescent NPs, including carbon dot, quantum dot, polymer dot, modified silica nanoparticle, aggregation-induced emission (AIE) dot, nanodiamond, and upconversion nanoparticle.

Chemistry in 2014. The award was specifically for the development of single-molecule localization microscopy (SMLM) and stimulated emission depletion microscopy (STED) as methods to implement these concepts and for opening the field of optical imaging to the nanoscale domain. $^{5,8,10-12}$

SRM techniques are commonly categorized into three groups. One group makes use of a nonlinear fluorescence response to enhance resolution, such as STED¹³⁻¹⁷ and ground state depletion microscopy (GSD).¹⁸⁻²⁰ In another, one relies on the photoswitching or photoblinking characteristics of fluorescent molecules and trades temporal resolution

with spatial resolution to localize single molecules with enhanced precision. These methods are referred to as singlemolecule localization microscopies (SMLMs)^{21,22} and include (fluorescence) photoactivated localization microscopy (FPALM/PALM),^{23,24} and (direct) stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (*d*STORM/STORM).^{25,26} A related method is based on super-resolution optical fluctuation microscopy (SOFI)^{27–29} and this also depends on the cycling of molecules through physically distinguishable states.³⁰ The third group refers to structured illumination microscopy (SIM).³¹ Here, one generates a modulated excitation pattern in the sample and achieves super-resolution by encoding high frequency spatial detail in the sample in low frequency beat patterns that can be computationally processed to reveal subwavelength scale sample detail.^{32,33} Mixtures and combinations of these methods are also possible. For example, saturated structured-illumination microscopy (SSIM) combines patterning of the excitation light and a nonlinear fluorescence response.^{34,35} Minimal emission fluxes (MIN-FLUX)³⁶ is a new technique proposed by the Hell laboratory, combining aspects of SMLM and STED. These techniques have provided new insights into subcellular systems with unprecedented spatial and temporal resolution, leading to breakthroughs in the life- and natural sciences.^{23,37,38} The principles of these super-resolution methods are illustrated in Figure 1a.

Advances in super-resolution imaging techniques have gone hand in hand with the development of fluorescent probes in the biosciences. Their purpose is to act as labels by specific attachment to the biomolecules of interest and permitting their imaging at improved resolution. The performance of SRM techniques, for example relating to image resolution, contrast, and signal-to-noise ratio, depends critically on the properties of the fluorescent probes used. Furthermore, the specific nature of individual SRM techniques places constraints on their photophysical characteristics. Dyes and fluorescent proteins are commonly used in the biosciences but have limitations in their photophysical properties and environmental factors can limit their brightness and proneness to photobleaching.^{39,40} Hence, improvements in the photobrightness, the flexibility of labeling modalities, the photostability of probes, and control over the length of off-states (nonemitting states) for SMLM are all highly desirable for progress in the field. Fluorescent nanoparticles (NPs) offer promise in this endeavor. They can feature favorable optical properties compared to traditional labels and their small sizes (between 1 and 100 nm) lead to strong electron confinement, which enhance quantum effects that can be exploited in rational probe design.⁴¹ Synthetic NPs can be designed to feature high brightness across the full visible spectrum and their outstanding photostability makes them superior substitutes for existing probes. Common to all NPs used in biological microscopy is an intrinsically fluorescent core with a surface that is modified and functionalized to enable target specific and biocompatible labeling. There is a large parameter space to explore in the rational design of NPs for SRM methodologies. These include absorption and emission cross sections and spectra, photoswitching and blinking properties, target specificity, etc.⁴² While the development and use of organic dyes and fusion proteins for SRM has matured, $^{43-50}$ there are huge opportunities still for novel NPs in SRM. Progress requires the merging of expertise from materials engineering, physics, and chemistry. Only a few review articles have so far focused on fluorescent NPs for SRM imaging,⁵¹⁻⁵⁵ but these were either specific to individual types of NPs or limited to specific application areas. A comprehensive review of the current state of the art and different approaches in the field is thus timely.

In this review, we summarize promising developments in NP research for subwavelength resolution microscopy. We discuss the material science behind NPs with a specific focus on their properties and use for optimized super-resolution imaging in the biological sciences. We cover carbon dots (CDs), quantum dots (QDs), polymer dots (PDs), modified silica NPs, aggregation-induced emission (AIE) dots, nanodiamonds (NDs), and upconversion nanoparticles (UCNPs) (Figure 1b

and Table 1). We describe their spectroscopic properties important for intracellular imaging at the nanoscale, including particle sizes (Figure 2), fluorescence mechanisms, brightness, photostability, and photoswitching kinetics. We discuss promise and opportunities, but also problems and limitations. We conclude with strategies for the surface modification of NPs to achieve desired functional characteristics. We also review bioconjugation strategies for the attachment of NPs to biomolecules, membranes, and subcellular organelles. Finally, we provide an outlook on potential directions for the field and the potential for future improvement of NPs for their use in the study of molecular mechanisms in health and disease.

2. SUPER-RESOLUTION IMAGING METHODS

Various physical phenomena are exploited to achieve optical super-resolution, i.e. the resolution of spatial detail below the diffraction limit given by λ/NA , where λ is the emission wavelength, and NA is the numerical aperture of the signal collecting objective. Each method places specific demands on fluorescent probe design. In the following we give a brief introduction on the principle of different SRM methods (Figure 1) to provide a context for the required photophysical properties of NPs.

2.1. Structured Illumination Microscopy

Structured illumination microscopy, SIM, employs a patterned illumination to reconstruct information from beat patterns between sample and illumination spatial frequencies. Interference patterns can be produced to modulate spatial frequencies in 2 dimensions across the sample plane (2D SIM) and in 3 dimensions (3D SIM) (Figure 1a). The technique can achieve a 2-fold linear resolution increase in all spatial dimensions where the excitation intensity is modulated and yields a much improved image contrast compared to widefield imaging.^{12,56} It is the fastest SRM method available but results in a smaller theoretical resolution improvement compared to alternative techniques;⁵⁷ however, it features favorable photon-efficiencies compared to STED and SMLM and requires relatively low excitation intensities. It is thus the most widely used SRM technique for the imaging of dynamic processes in living cells.^{58,59} The low light doses required for SIM keep phototoxicity at tolerable levels in many practical situations. A further advantage is that conventional fluorophores can be used for SIM imaging. 60 In the case of saturated structured illumination microscopy, SSIM, a better than 2-fold resolution increase can be achieved. The reason for this is that the sample responds in a nonlinear fashion to the excitation modulation, thereby generating higher spatial frequencies (harmonics) in the fluorescence response, that carry information on subwavelength sample detail. The resulting resolution increase comes at the cost of higher excitation powers and longer signal integration times, and photobleaching and phototoxicity become concerns for biological imaging applications. Samples for SIM imaging are prepared in the same way as for conventional fluorescence imaging, but good results require a high fluorophore brightness (defined as the product of the molar extinction coefficient and the fluorescence quantum yield) to permit faithful reconstruction of object information at high recording speeds. ^{59,61–64} High image contrast and a good modulation depth of the illumination pattern are essential for the avoidance of artifacts in SIM reconstructions, which are exacerbated by low signal-to-noise ratios.^{65,66} Bright and photostable fluorophores are essential for optimal deployment

pubs.acs.org/CR

Table 1. Comparison of Different NPs for Super-Resolution Imaging

Nanoparticle		
Туре	Advantages	Disadvantages
Carbon dot	Water-soluble and biocompatible	Lack red and infrared emission
	Easy surface functionalization Photostable	Broad excitation and emission bandwidths
Quantum dot	Tunable particle size and surface modification	Potential toxicity of heavy metals
	Tunable PL emission	Broad absorption band and risk of multiphoton excitation
	Narrow emission band High PL quantum yield Photostable	Short off-state times
Polymer dot	Versatile function and structure	Large particle size
	Easy functionalization	Potential toxicity of degradation products
	Bright and photostable	
	Continuous fluorescence or photoblinking	
Modified silica	Biocompatible	Relies on doped fluorophores
	Easy surface functionalization	Potential toxicity of degradation products
	Enhanced fluorescence effects	
	Efficient carrier for biomolecular cargo	
	Photostable	
Aggregation- induced emission dot	Tunable particle size	Limited choice
	Tunable surface functionality	Poor water solubility
	Photostable	Low PL quantum yield in NIR-II region
Nanodiamond	Biocompatible	Relative large particle size
	Bright and stable	Application in bioimaging is rarely developed
	Long-wavelength emission with high PL quantum yield	Limited emission wavelength
Upconversion nanoparticle	Sharp emission band	Poor water solubility
	PL emission penetrates deep tissue	Low PL quantum yield
	Avoid background autofluorescence	Excitation/emission bands are nearly invariable
	Photostable	Potential photothermal effect
		Potential toxicity of metals
Carbon nanotube	Emission in NIR-I and NIR- II windows	Poor water solubility
	Adjustable absorption range Easy surface	
	functionalization	
Nr (11 - 1	Good as cargo carriers	
Metal-based nanoparticle	Surface plasmon resonance effect	Potential for low colloidal stability
	Suitable for different imaging modalities	Potential toxicity of metals
	Easy surface functionalization	
	Size dependent properties	



Figure 2. Comparison of typical sizes of different fluorescent nanoparticles (NPs) for use in super-resolution microscopy.

of the technique. For biological imaging, SIM has offered dynamic information on the function of subcellular organelles in the size range from 100 to 200 nm, including mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum (ER), lysosomes, centrosomes, nuclei, and so on. The technique has also been used to study of the formation and function of large macromolecular structures, for example protein aggregates and the DNA replication machinery, both of which have been investigated by SIM in live cells.^{9,67–73}

2.2. Stimulated Emission Depletion Microscopy

In stimulated emission depletion microscopy, STED, a laser beam is focused onto the sample in a confocal microscope to excite the sample fluorophores.¹³ In addition, a doughnut shaped STED beam (also called depletion beam) is arranged to deplete the excited fluorophores in the wings of the excitation beam profile. Its purpose is to deactivate fluorophores in the periphery of the excitation PSF. The result is an effective excitation PSF that is reduced in a spatial extent over which fluorophores produce a signal, thus minimizing blurring and enhancing the resolution. 3D STED is also possible. It provides increased resolution along the optical axis of the microscope in addition to a lateral resolution improvement. The principle is the same as for standard STED, but through use of specialized optics, the depletion light is arranged as a 3-dimensional shell, leading to a strongly confined excitation spot in its center.⁷⁴ A high intensity in the STED beam is critical for efficient depletion and resolution improvement. The resolution of the STED image is proportional to the square root of the power in the depletion beam and good performance requires high depletion intensities. To reduce photodamage, variants of cw and pulsed STED have been developed in efforts to balance phototoxicity and resolution for practical imaging.^{75,76} STED routinely offers a resolution of 30 to 80 nm without a requirement for any image postprocessing. Key to successful STED imaging is minimal cross talk between the depletion process and fluorophore excitation. To avoid the (unwanted) excitation of fluorophores by the STED beam, its wavelength should be red-shifted into a region that is completely outside of the excitation band of the fluorophores used. Good STED fluorophores should thus display a large Stokes shift in their fluorescence spectrum. Furthermore, depletion should be performed in a spectral

window where phototoxicity is minimal to the sample and, crucially, where technology for high power lasers is available. This limits the number of efficient STED dyes and imposes criteria for the design of efficient NPs. STED NPs should thus feature large Stokes shifts and need to be highly photostable to resist photobleaching caused by the powerful STED beam, especially for long-term dynamic imaging in live cells or for the acquisition of 3-dimensional image stacks in fixed samples. Two-color imaging can be performed with STED, but the constraints discussed on dyes and lasers make multicolor imaging more challenging than with other SRM methods. The point scanning nature of the method limits acquisition speed as in confocal microscopy, but rapid imaging over small imaging windows is possible,⁷⁷ and dynamic structures such filaments, moving vesicles and other organelles have all been resolved by STED with high contrast and resolution.⁷⁷⁻⁷⁹

Several variations on the basic STED concept exist. MINFLUX combines aspects of STED microscopy with single-molecule localization (see next section) and has achieved the highest theoretical resolution of any optical super-resolution method so far. MINFLUX is, however, very challenging to implement experimentally and limited for applications in live biological samples. A technique that is theoretically related to SIM but requires an experimental arrangement similar to STED is called fluorescence emission difference (FED) microscopy.⁸⁰ Here two low power laser beams are used for sequential excitation. Signals are recorded for a Gaussian excitation beam and then a doughnut shaped excitation beam. The resulting images are subtracted from one another yielding a resolution improvement of a factor of 2 over standard confocal microscopy. This is of course much less than what is possible with STED but does not require a high power depletion laser.

2.3. Single-Molecule Localization Microscopy

Finally, in single-molecule localization microscopy, SMLM, individual fluorophores are detected and localized from multiple sequentially recorded images of sparse subsets of the sample fluorophore distribution. This is achieved by stochastic switching between two physically distinguishable states (usually a fluorescent on- and an off-state) in photoactivatable or -switchable dyes. Key to a successful deployment of the technique is that the on- to-off ratio of the molecules can be controlled such that in any one image there is a negligible likelihood of two proximate fluorophores to emit simultaneously. This avoids overlap of their emission PSFs. In practice, very small on-to-off ratios are required, and in turn 1000s of images have to be recorded to localize sufficient numbers of molecules to recover high-resolution sample information. SMLM is less demanding to set up compared to SIM and STED and can be implemented with conventional wide-field fluorescence microscopes. Complexities arise, however, from the requirement to optimize sample preparation protocols for a given experiment and the postprocessing of the raw image data.⁸¹ During imaging, the activation or switching of fluorophores needs to be repeated for many times. NPs should thus meet compatible photophysical requirements, for example, to be reversibly or irreversibly photoswitchable, photoactivatable, or to feature strong photoblinking, permitting the temporal cycling between fluorescent dark and bright states. Desirable characteristics include a high photon output and low on-to-off duty cycles. The labeling density,⁸² switching properties,⁸³ linker length of the fluorescent label, and

microscope drift all affect the achievable resolution.⁸⁴ In one SMLM variant, called stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy, STORM, the majority of fluorophores are switched into an off-state, leaving only a sparse subset of fluorophores in the on-state. Thus, the off-time of the fluorophore should be much longer than the on-time.⁸⁵ Because of the long acquisition time required to collect a sufficient number of raw images for image reconstruction, the use of STORM for live-cell imaging is not usually possible. A conceptually related method, stochastic optical fluctuation microscopy, SOFI,²⁷ relies on the statistical analysis of the signal fluctuations in sequentially acquired fluorescence images to differentiate fluctuations that arise from the blinking of fluorophores from random noise. In contrast to STORM, SOFI permits a higher density of on-state fluorophores, i.e. more than one fluorophore is permitted to be active within an area defined by the detection PSF. Fluorophores whose signals overlap spatially can be distinguished through a temporal correlation analysis of their blinking patterns.⁸⁶ NPs suitable for SOFI thus ought to feature rapid signal fluctuations under constant illumination and feature a high brightness to permit imaging at speed. Other SMLM variants exist. In photoactivated localization microscopy, PALM, photoactivatable fluorophores, usually variants of fluorescent fusion proteins, are used to control the duty cycle of the photon emission, but conceptually there is no difference to STORM imaging (which is usually performed using samples immunolabeled with organic dyes). Another method, points accumulation for imaging in nanoscale topography, PAINT, controls the onand off-states through physical or chemical control of the residence time of active fluorophores at the site of interest, e.g., through transient binding. In the widely used variant called DNA-PAINT (DNA points accumulation for imaging in nanoscale topography) this is achieved by transient oligonucleotide hybridization. SMLM techniques are capable of localizing isolated macromolecular structures with a lateral resolution of 10 to 50 nm, offering "best in class" performance in this category.⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰ However, for volumetric and dynamic imaging, SMLM methods are inferior to the other SRM methods. Figure 1a summarizes the different SRM methods available and their characteristics. Furthermore, Table 1 lists classes of NP materials whose properties may be suitably exploited and optimized for the respective imaging modalities. In the following sections, we present these NPs in detail and review their properties critically in the context of superresolution imaging.

3. FLUORESCENT NANOPARTICLES USED IN SUPER-RESOLUTION MICROSCOPY IMAGING

3.1. Carbon Dots

Synthetically produced CDs represent a relatively new class of carbon nanomaterial and have attracted significant attention as a promising substitute for traditional organic dyes and QDs in fluorescent imaging.⁹¹ CDs have notable advantages, such as facile preparation, excellent water solubility, low cytotoxicity, good biocompatibility, and unique optical features, which endow them with excellent potential for bioimaging.^{92,93} The synthesis routes for preparing CDs can be classified into two groups, namely top-down and bottom up approaches (Figure 3).⁹⁴ Both yield CDs that measure typically less than 10 nm in size and quantum confinement effects result in the small CDs attaining their fluorescence properties. As for QDs, the spectral



Figure 3. Illustration of production routes for carbon dots (CDs). In top-down methods (top row) a bulk precursor material is fragmented into nm sized carbon dots. Bottom-up synthesis (bottom row) CDs are grown from the assembly of small molecules. Both synthesis routes have advantages and disadvantages, and the produced CDs differ in their photophysical and morphological properties.

properties depend on confinement, and therefore size. In the top-down approach, a large carbon precursor species is broken down into nanometer sized CDs. CDs prepared in this fashion typically feature large conjugated sp²-graphene domains in the carbon core with relatively few surface chemical groups,⁹⁵ and the carbon core is regarded as the fluorescence center (Figure 4, left-hand side).⁹⁶ Increasing the size of the core domain reduces the bandgap with a resulting red-shift in photo-luminescence (PL) emission. The bottom-up design, on the other hand, comprises the dehydration, polymerization, and carbonization of small molecules to form CDs with highly configurable physical and chemical properties. The resulting CDs usually present with numerous surface chemical groups, such as -OH, -C=O, $-NH_2$, and -COOH. These affect the

oxidation state of the CDs and influence the energy levels of the material, via defects and edge states (Figure 4, right-hand side).⁹⁷ Normally, higher degrees of surface oxidation give rise to an increased number of surface defects, which in turn results in an increase in the PL emission wavelength. Furthermore, the presence of heteroatoms such as nitrogen, sulfur, fluorine and so on also affect the energy level structure of CDs. In summary, variation of the carbon core and surface states of CDs leads to tunable photoluminescence characteristics, and provide the means to functionalize the CDs via linker chemistry, for example for targeting biological molecules of interest.⁹⁸

CDs hold promise for super-resolution microscopy in biological systems because of their specific optical properties and their good biocompatibility. The first demonstration of CDs in this context was reported for STED imaging. CDs were dispersed on a coverslip and imaged with STED and a lateral resolution of ca. 30 nm was measured.⁹⁹ The method was then used for imaging MCF7 breast cancer cells incubated with solutions containing CDs. The CDs were taken up efficiently via endocytosis and found to localize in lysosomal compartments within the cells. Here, a resolution of 70 nm was achieved.99 Crucially, the CDs exhibited low levels of cytotoxicity and, compared to conventional STED dyes, a superior photostability. However, one problem noticed was the agglomeration of CDs inside endocytic vesicles, and this was the reason for the lower resolution achieved in cells, compared to the in vitro sample. To address this issue, NPs can be modified with surface coatings, such as polymers, surfactants, and polyelectrolytes. These improve dispersion stability through a change in surface charge, increasing electrostatic repulsion, or decreasing interfacial energy between NPs and their solvent environment. $^{100-103}$

In another study, CDs were conjugated with the quaternary ammonium compound lauryl betaine (BS-12), which has antibacterial properties. The BS-12 modified CDs $(CD-C_{12})$



Figure 4. Schematic illustration of the photoluminescence mechanism in CDs. The photospectral properties of CDs are determined by the carbon core and surface states. The band gap of the sp^2 (graphitic) domain in the carbon core is considered to be the fluorescence center. Adjusting the core size of CDs can thus be used to tune emission properties (left side of the diagram). Chemical groups on the surface of CDs produce defect states, resulting in the creation of new energy levels and emissive traps (right side of figure). Reprinted with permission from ref 96. Copyright 2019 Springer-Verlag GmbH Austria, part of Springer Nature.



Figure 5. Images of *S. aureus* bacterial cells recorded with, (a) confocal microscopy and, (b) STED subsequently performed. Cells were incubated with CD-C₁₂ containing medium for 1 h. Magnified versions of regions designated by the white squares are shown in panels c and d, respectively. The intensity profiles corresponding to the green lines are shown in panel e, demonstrating the resolution enhancement obtained with STED. Panels f–h illustrate different photophysical states thought to occur in CDs. (f) Off-, (g) grey, and (h) on- states that can be exploited for super-resolution imaging. Fluorescence wide-field (i) and second-order SOFI (j) images of a Saos-2 osteoblast-like cell after incubation with blue and green CDs for 1 h. Cells were imaged upon 395 nm excitation using a 405 nm long pass emission filter. Insets show enlarged regions with dotted lines indicating positions for which intensity profiles were measured. Scale bar: 10 μ m. (k) Fluorescence intensity profiles for subdiffraction sized features for cross sections indicated in panels i and j. Panels a–e were adapted with permission from ref 104. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society. Panels f–k were reproduced with permission from ref 107. Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society.

can be used for detection and inhibition of Gram-positive bacteria (Staphylococcus aureus). CD-C₁₂ NPs have enabled bacterial imaging with STED, offering an approximately 3-fold resolution enhancement compared to confocal microscopy (Figure 5a-e).¹⁰⁴ The work was the first example of STED imaging applied to bacteria labeled with CDs. In a recent study cationic CDs were used to label chromatin and nucleoli during cell division and imaged repeatedly over time with STED.¹⁰³ The CDs used measured around 3 nm in size and were seen to diffuse through nuclear membrane pores in live HeLa cells, binding to DNA and RNA, respectively, and yielding spectrally distinguishable fluorescence signals. Although the resulting resolution was not stated, these cationic CDs exhibited greater photostability than Hoechst 33342 dye. More work needs to be done, however, and although CDs used for STED hold promise in terms of biological compatibility and stability, so far no quantitative performance comparisons of CDs with commercially available STED dyes have been reported. In a more recent work, N-, F-codoped CDs with high photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY) of 56% were utilized for imaging nuclear structure and tunneling nanotubes of 4T1 cells by STED. The CDs were excited at 592 nm wavelength, and depleted with a 660 nm STED beam. The resolution was

estimated to be ca. 20 nm for the technique, and nanotubes of ca. 75 nm diameter were easily resolved.¹⁰⁶

The trapping and redistribution of charges on the surface of CDs trigger transitions between bright and dark states^{54,107,108} and fluorescence time traces can exhibit strong blinking, similar to what is observed for conventional dye molecules.¹⁰⁹ The blinking rates of CDs obey a power-law distribution, exhibited also in QDs.¹¹⁰ The overall behavior of CDs is affected by the chemical groups on the surface and the presence of charge traps. Figure 5f-h shows possible mechanisms for the on-, off-, and gray states in CDs.¹⁰⁷ The gray state is an intermediate between the dark and brightest states. Figure 5f shows an offstate caused either by transition to a nonradiative triplet state of the surface group, or, alternatively, through a nonradiative energy transfer from the excited state to the trapped charge (Auger recombination, right-hand side of Figure 5f). For the gray states (Figure 5g), energy from the fluorescence center is still transferred to the trapped charge via Auger recombination but only partially, with the result of diminished fluorescence compared to the normal fluorescent on-state (Figure 5h), where the radiative emission is unimpeded by trapped charges. Thus, transition rates are maximized in uncharged CDs, resulting in the highest photoluminescence quantum yield.

These principles permit the control of the photoblinking or photoswitching behavior of CDs via electron transfer processes. Figure 5i,j shows how the fluorescence intermittency of CDs can be used for SOFI imaging, here demonstrated for Saos-2 osteoblast cells.¹⁰⁷ Both green and blue CDs were used in the study and although no specific surface functionalization was performed, it was found that the blue CDs accumulate preferentially in the nucleus of the cells while the green CDs acted as selective labels for endosomes/lysosomes, presumably because of differences in hydrophobicity, surface charge, etc. (Figure 5f–h).¹⁰⁷ Clearly the SOFI images reveal much greater detail than the widefield images, and cross sections of subdiffraction sized features in the image reveal a lateral resolution of 184 nm (Figure 5k).

The CDs used were found to exhibit characteristics that are a mixture of those of dye molecules and semiconductor nanocrystals. Intriguingly, CDs emitting in the red spectral region were observed to be photoswitchable, which is hypothesized to be caused by an abundance of high energy nonemissive traps on the particle surface, as well as electron transfer processes.¹¹² Under constant illumination with light at 639 nm, the fluorescence from individual CDs was seen to photobleach after a certain time period, but subsequent illumination at 401 nm returned the particles back into their photoactive fluorescent state.

In another work, a relatively long-lived cationic dark state was observed in CDs when an electron acceptor was present.¹¹³ The photon budget for such CDs is comparable to that of Cy3 dye, a dye in a similar spectral window that is popular for use in SMLM. Moreover, photoblinking rates in such CDs were seen to be linearly dependent on the power of the bleaching/photoswitching laser, which makes them suitable for SMLM also. A resolution of ~35 nm was reported to be achievable with such systems.¹¹³ The authors used nitrogendoped CDs to label actin filaments, which revealed their selfassembly into soft matter polymer rings, at a resolution of ca. 64 nm.¹¹⁴ The authors found that the number of detected photons for CDs was around 3 times lower than for Cy3 in comparable experimental conditions; however, the number of switching cycles was ca. 2.5 times higher. The on-off duty cycles are comparable with that of other reporter dyes or proteins, which again proves promising for the use of CDs in SRMs based on the localization of singe point emitters. In another case, CDs were produced that exhibited photon bursts of high brightness with long intermittency between the bursts in which the CDs were dark.¹¹¹ The CDs exhibited a low duty cycle (~0.003), high photon output (~8000 per switching event), and excellent photostability, features that permitted the localization of emitters to within 25 nm. For comparison, conventional fluorophores, such as the organic dyes Cy3, Cy5, and AF647, and commercial CdSe/ZnS QDs were also characterized. It was found that the CDs exhibited a photostability comparable to that of QDs and much higher than that of organic dyes. Most organic molecules were photobleached within 300 s, while CDs and QDs were still fluorescent after 30 min of continuous illumination. In terms of their blinking behavior, CDs displayed a similar photon output and duty cycle as AF647 or Cy5, although QDs produced a larger number of photons. However, for SMLM QDs proved only marginally useful, because of their large duty cycle (~ 0.7). The blinking mechanism of CDs has been speculated to occur as follows: the surface states of CDs offer wide and deep traps for accepting the ejected electrons. Trapped electrons are

slowly recycled and this then leads to the longevity of the observed "dark" states. In the study by He et al., ¹¹¹ such CDs were used for SMLM of cellular structures and plasma membranes. Other examples are shown in Figure 6a–e,



Figure 6. Conventional fluorescence (a) and STORM (b) images of microtubules immuno-stained with CDs, and their corresponding magnified images (c and d), respectively. Scale bar: 10 μ m. (e) Intensity profile along line indicated in panel d. Panels a–e were reprinted from ref 111 with permission. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

depicting microtubules inside HeLa cells immunostained with primary antibodies and secondary antibodies conjugated with CDs. The microtubules were imaged with STORM and exhibited an excellent gain in resolution compared to what is obtainable with standard imaging. Gaussian fits of intensity profiles across a microtubule measured 60 ± 6 nm (full width half-maximum, fwhm). Recently, CDs prepared from malic acid (MACDs) have shown promise for similar applications.¹ MACDs deposited on a glass coverslip were also shown to switch stochastically between on and off fluorescence states (Figure 7a). Photoblinking occurs in short burst, and more than 95% of all photoblinking events occur within 200 ms and 75% within 100 ms (Figure 7b), respectively, with an average duty cycle of 0.53% (Figure 7c). More than 60% of the MACDs remained emissive after 400 s of high-power illumination (>0.5 kW/cm²) (Figure 7d). The system has good potential for high-resolution SMLM. Figure 7e,f shows SRLM images of CDs in fixed trout epithelial gill cells with more than 6 times better resolution than obtainable with widefield imaging. In another work, nitrogen-doped CDs were used to label DNA fibers in HeLa cells for imaging by STORM.¹¹⁶ Fluorescent CDs were conjugated to actin filaments in HeLa cells, and super-resolution microscopy was performed (STORM and super-resolution radial fluctuation microscopy, SRRF). An approximately 10-fold increase in resolution was obtained over widefield imaging, but in addition the authors demonstrated that the CDs provide contrast in EM. This provides a unique potential for correlative light and electron microscopy, CLEM, using single labels, permitting SRM light microscopy and EM imaging on the same sample via a single labeling strategy.¹¹⁷

Although there are clearly exciting prospects for the use of CDs for super-resolution imaging, several limitations remain and need to be resolved before their widespread adoption for biological research. First, the emission bands of the most frequently used CDs all appear in the blue to green spectral regions. The availability of efficient CDs emitting in the red and infrared spectral regions would be highly desirable for super-resolution imaging. The lower energy photons required for their excitation would reduce the generation of nonspecific autofluorescence from the sample, leading to improved signal-to-noise ratios, improved sample penetration and image



Figure 7. (a) Typical fluorescence time trace of an individual CD. (b) Histogram of the fluorescence on-time distribution from individual CDs. (c) Average fluorescence duty cycles of CDs (>5000 particles). (d) Survival fraction of CDs under high-power green excitation. The graph displays the survival of CDs (fraction of CDs that with exposure time at an illumination power of ca. 0.5 kW/cm^2 . (e) Conventional wide-field fluorescence image (left) and SMLM image (right) of CDs located in fixed trout epithelial gill cells. (f) Comparison of fluorescence emission profiles of intensity features within the indicated regions of interest, ROIs, indicated in panel e. fwhm denotes the full width at half-maximum. Panels a–f were reprinted with the permission from ref 115. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.



Silyladoli reaction

Figure 8. Schematic illustration of chemical binding strategies to decorate CDs with target specific ligands. Carboxy, hydroxy, and amino are the main surface groups on CDs, which can bind to other molecules through covalent and noncovalent reactions. Figure reprinted with permission from ref 101. Copyright 2018 Springer-Verlag GmbH Austria, part of Springer Nature.

contrast. Another problem is the very broad excitation bandwidth of CDs, which makes multiplexed applications

difficult, i.e. where one desires to differentiate multiple fluorophores from the same sample simultaneously. Third, pubs.acs.org/CR

because the mechanisms causing photoblinking and photoswitching in CDs are not fully understood, a rational design of CDs with optimized properties for SRM imaging remains difficult. Finally, the practical exploitation of CDs for superresolution imaging is still in its infant phase, and most applications so far have been proof of concept in nature. All examples reported of super-resolution imaging with CDs were performed using unspecific labeling with nonderivatized CDs in biological samples. Future work must focus on the design of CDs that are functionalized to reach specific subcellular targets. Chemical strategies to functionalize CDs are shown in Figure 8 and include both covalent and noncovalent surface modification. There is great opportunity here for material scientists and chemists to collaborate on the development of novel CDbased probes.

3.2. Quantum Dots

Quantum dots, QDs, have been extensively studied and were among the earliest inorganic probes designed for fluorescent bioimaging.¹²¹ Henglein at al. pioneered the synthesis of aqueous QDs in 1982.¹²² Since then, the field has seen intense development and numerous routes to the production of functionalized QDs have been researched. A single QD typically contains hundreds or thousands of atoms of group II-VI and IV-VI elements, for example, CdTe, CdSe, CdS, ZnS, ZnSe, PbSe, PbS, PbTe, and so on.¹²³ QDs are semiconductor nanocrystals and are typically constructed to feature a core-shell structure measuring 2-10 nm in size with the atoms in crystal lattice arrangements (Figure 9a).¹¹⁸ The band gap in QDs is tunable via the size of QDs, and the energy difference between the highest valence band and the lowest conduction band increase as the QDs decrease through increased quantum confinement (Figure 9b).^{119,120} Thus, more energy is needed for excitation and more energy will be released as well (blue shift). Size alteration permits the emission spectra of QDs to be tuned easily all the way from the ultraviolet to the infrared spectral regions and hence the quantum confinement of electrons. The photoluminescence properties are severely affected by the surface properties of QDs and processes such as Auger recombination lead to nonemissive transfer of excited state energy, that can be avoided through a passivation of the core surface with a shell material. For practical purposes, QDs are therefore always constructed with a surrounding shell material. The shell helps in the confinement of excitons within the core and a reduction of surface-related recombination in trap states. The effect is an increase in the fluorescence quantum yield and but also protection from chemical degradation, e.g., oxidation and improving solubility.^{121,124} QDs possess attractive photophysical properties, such as outstanding photostability and a high fluorescence brightness. For example, QDs have been shown to be more than 100 times more photostable than Rhodamine 6G, with an almost 20-fold increase in brightness compared to the dye.¹²⁵ These properties are superior even to AlexaFluor 488, one of the most efficient organic dyes available today.¹²⁶ Furthermore, QDs feature a very broad excitation spectrum while their fluorescence emission is sharply confined to a narrow band of wavelengths (<50 nm) (Figure 9c).¹²⁷ Photoblinking can be strong in systems where excited carriers can escape from the core to the QD surface and is thus strongly dependent on the shell thickness and type.¹²⁸ The shell permits the conjugation of surface ligands to confer various physiochemical properties on the QDs and function-



Figure 9. (a) Illustration of the structure of individual QDs and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) image of a CdSe/ZnS QD. Adapted with permission from ref 118 and SAMSUNG DISPLAY Web site (https://pid.samsungdisplay.com/en/learning-center/whitepapers/guide-to-understanding-quantum-dot-displays). Copyright 2011 American Chemical Society. (b) Schematic illustration of the quantum confinement effect in QDs: with decreasing particle size, quantum confinement and hence the bandgap increase, leading to progressive blue shifts in the particles' PL profiles. Adapted with permission from refs 119 and 120. Copyright 2017 Springer International Publishing AG; Copyright 2011 Royal Society of Chemistry. (c) Absorption and PL emission profiles for commercial CdSe/ZnS QDs conjugated with streptavidin from Thermo Fisher Scientific Co., Ltd. Individual QDs are designated according to their maximum emission wavelength, ranging from 525 to 705 nm, respectively. All QDs are identical in material makeup but differ in size and their emission spectra are independent of their excitation wavelength.

alize them for biological applications.^{129–131} Overall, there is good potential for the use of QDs for multicolor imaging and super-resolution imaging applications.

For STED imaging, it seems that the high photostability of QDs makes them promising candidates. However, a bottleneck is their relatively small Stokes shift and that the broad excitation spectra generally extend into their emission spectra (Figure 9c).¹³⁶ This increases the probability for fluorescence re-excitation by the STED beam, which must be avoided for a successful application of the technique. There is also a probability of re-excitation by two-photon absorption of light from the powerful STED laser. These factors have so far limited the potential of QDs in STED imaging applications and efforts have been directed at synthesizing QDs for which fluorescence re-excitation is minimized. The first STED application of QDs was carried out with commercial ZnScoated CdSe and CdTe QDs (QD705).¹³² Even though the STED beam at 775 nm was well separated from the peak of the QD excitation spectrum (the intensity of which falls off rapidly beyond 700 nm), re-excitation at high depletion powers remained substantial. To deal with this problem, Hell et al. subtracted the resulting background from the STED images by recording STED images first with both the 628 nm excitation and the 775 nm STED beams switched on simultaneously,¹³ and then collecting an image of the background with only the



Figure 10. (a) STED imaging of fibers of vimentin, a structural protein, immunolabeled with QDs in fibroblast cells. Top left: excitation laser (405 nm) and STED depletion beam (592 nm) turned on simultaneously. Because of the very broad excitation spectra of QDs, there is considerable excitation of QDs by the STED beam, which appears as a halo in the periphery of the excitation laser. Top right: By switching on the depletion laser only, a background image is obtained, which can be subtracted from the STED images, resulting in improved resolution and contrast. Bottom left: STED image after background subtraction. Bottom right: Confocal image of the same region. Scale bar: 1 µm. Reproduced with permission from ref 132. Copyright 2015 Springer Nature. (b) Schematic illustration of the "blueing" phenomenon observed in QDs used for dSTORM imaging. Three red QDs are presented within the diffraction limited volume (DLV). Without "blueing", the blinking trajectories are not differentiable to distinguish individual emitters. Upon continuous irradiation at 19 kW cm^{-2} at 532 nm, the spatial density of blinking emitters reduces, and the trajectories of individual emitters become distinguishable, as the emission peak of individual detectors shifts toward shorter wavelengths. Reprinted with permission from ref 133. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society. (c) Principle of multicolor imaging using "blueing" for two types of QDs. Continuous illumination and photooxidation causes a shrinkage in the QD size, and the resulting electron confinement leads to the associated shifts of QD spectra toward shorter wavelengths. In the illustration, the 705 nm QDs are seen to shift into the 625 nm passband while the 565 nm QDs transit the 504 nm passband. Both fluorescence signals can be recorded simultaneously without cross-talk. (d) Wide-field and two-color STORM images of QD 565 stained microtubules (blue) and QD 705 stained mitochondria (red) in HepG2 cells. Scale bar: 500 nm. Panels c and d were reprinted with permission from ref 134. Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society. (e) Demonstration of wide-field and three-dimensional SOFI imaging of epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFP) labeled with QDs. (f) 3D intensity profiles for QD aggregates located in the area indicated by the red rectangle in (e). Panels e and f were adapted with permission from ref 135. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society.

STED beam turned on. Images recorded with the latter were subsequently subtracted to produce data featuring a lateral resolution of 54 nm on point-like emitters (Figure 10a). The technique was subsequently used to image structural fibers in fibroblast cells, and a resolution of 106 nm was achieved for the visualization of the QD-stained vimentin fibers. The high photostability enabled the same QDs to be repeatedly imaged over more than 1000 frames. Although the background subtraction method is straightforward to implement, it may not always a viable option. In another study, STED was demonstrated using the commercially available QD 705.¹³⁶ To avoid the problem of two-photon-induced re-excitation, the authors used a continuous-wave depletion laser at 775 nm, instead of a pulsed picosecond laser source that is more conventionally used for STED. The lowered peak yielded an effective reduction in the 2-photon excitation at the STED wavelength. The authors were able to demonstrate a lateral resolution of 85 nm for the visualization of the microtubule network in HeLa cells.¹³⁶ More recently, Qu et al. evaluated several types of commercial CdSe@ZnS QDs as potential

STED probes,¹³⁷ and found that green emissive CdSe@ZnS QDs (QD526) under 488 nm excitation could not be reexcited by a 592 nm continuous wave, cw, depletion laser (39.6 mW). On single quantum dots, they measured lateral STED profiles with a width of 21 nm.

The blinking-photophysics of QDs was first described by Nirmal et al. in 1996,¹³⁸ who reported an intermittency in the fluorescence emission from single CdSe NPs subjected to cw excitation light. The current thinking is that photoblinking in QDs is caused by illumination-induced charging of the particle in the excited state and this in turn leads to a transition from the photoactive on-state into a charged, photoinactive off-state. Charge reneutralization then returns the QDs into their photoactive on-state.^{110,139,140} Repeated cycling of these processes causes the blinking observed in QDs. This provides potential for use of QDs for single-molecule localization microscopies. (Strictly speaking, single particle localization would be a more precise term in the context of CDs and QDs, because one is not dealing with individual molecules, but conceptually the methods are identical.) In pioneering work, a

statistical analysis using independent component analysis (ICA) of the blinking characteristics was performed to separate individual and closely positioned QDs from one another.¹⁴¹ For STORM imaging, a low on-to-off duty cycle is a desirable feature. However, blinking rates are fast in QDs compared to other fluorophores in use for STORM. This increases the chance of simultaneous blinking of multiple particles within the emission PSF, thus negating an ability to discriminate between them.⁴⁷ To overcome this issue, the so-called "blueing" phenomenon observed in QDs has been exploited.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴ The effect is thought to be caused by a shrinkage of QD cores during illumination and is related to photo-oxidation. For example, in CdSe QDs selenium atoms can be photo-oxidized, which produces an evaporating SeO₂ surface film, causing QDs to shrink over time,¹⁴⁵ with a concomitant shift in their PL emission spectra toward shorter wavelength ("blueing"). In CdSe/ZnS QDs a blue shift of 29 nm was thus observed upon illumination at 570 nm with a 20 kW cm⁻² laser beam until the particles eventually photobleached.¹⁴² Higher excitation intensities accelerate the "blueing" process.^{146,133} Figure 10b demonstrates how the blueing phenomenon can be exploited to achieve optical super-resolution. By selecting a narrow spectral detection window, all QDs are initially indetectable. In time, individual QDs stochastically shift to shorter wavelengths and become detectable (on-state). As the detected QD blueshifts further, it passes the detection window and is thus "switched off". As spectra of individual QDs transition through the detection window at different times, this permits a discrimination of overlapping diffraction patterns from single QDs. In practice, densely labeled biological structures have been visualized in this way at ~ 25 nm resolution.¹³³ The approach was later expanded to permit the simultaneous STORM imaging of QD565 and QD705 labels (Figure 10c).¹³⁴ Here the wavelength shifts were observed on two different channels simultaneously, enabling 2 color superresolution imaging. A drawback of "blueing" is that the QD brightness diminishes; however, sufficient photon numbers can usually be retrieved nevertheless, before bleaching occurs. Photon outputs as high as 3000 photons per localization were achieved by QDs, which is comparable to the best available photoswitchable dyes for SMLM. Figure 10d compares widefield and STORM images of QD 565 stained microtubules (blue) and QD 705 stained mitochondria (red) in HepG2 cells. Resolutions of 24 and 37 nm were achieved in the lateral and axial dimensions, respectively, with STORM.¹³⁴ Another method made use of hybrid blinking systems, consisting of QDs and surface-oriented crystal violet (CV) dye molecules,¹⁴⁷ for the realization of single photoactivation/emission cycles: upon absorption of visible light, photoexcited electrons are transferred from the QDs to the CV dyes and this leads to emission quenching in the QDs. Further illumination fragments the CV dyes to a photoproduct that can no longer accept electrons. The result is the activation of the QD fluorescence, leading to emission of a photon burst. Further illumination causes CV darkening and QD-CVs can thus be photomodulated to emit a single high intensity photon burst during an activation-darkening cycle and used in localization microscopies. Their potential was demonstrated via introduction into HeLa cells, with photoblinking rates increasing almost 10-fold compared to nonmodified QDs under excitation with visible light. The strategy was used for the successful localization of multiple colors simultaneously.¹⁴⁷ A conceptually similar hybrid system was synthesized using

CdSSe/ZnS QDs as donor and A647 as acceptor molecules.¹⁴⁸ Compared to the use of QDs or A647 individually, the hybrid system again exhibited improved blinking behavior. For optimal conditions a localization precision of 30 nm was reported for the hybrid reporters with PALM/STORM. The method was also demonstrated in live MRC-5 cells.¹⁴⁸

Compared with STORM, SOFI allows a higher density of on-state fluorophores to reside within an area defined by of a PSF. The strong blinking exhibited by QDs is desirable for SOFI. It was shown that SOFI imaging of QDs deposited on a coverslip resulted in a 5-fold resolution gain compared to conventional wide-field microscopy.²⁷ An enhanced contrast and a reduced background were also seen when QD-labeled microtubules were imaged with SOFI in fibroblast cells.²⁷ An interesting way to obtain super-resolution, combines aspects of STORM and SOFI imaging and was reported by Shi et al.¹⁴⁹ The authors developed tandem constructs containing one QD at each end, separated at a distance of ca. 6 nm. The two QDs where differentiable by emission color. By dispersing the fluorescence from the construct through a transmission grating, the fluctuation statistics of each QD could be spectrally differentiated and those periods recognized where one of the two QDs was in the off state. This method permitted an unambiguous assignation of the zero order signals to one of the two QDs and thus permitted very high photon numbers to be collected for their localization. The authors thus obtained more precise localization data than would have been obtained by either using STORM or SOFI alone.¹⁴⁹ The measured distances were found to be consistent with the expected values of about 6 nm. This approach was also adapted for intracellular super-resolution imaging.

In another work,¹⁵⁰ the joint-tagging SOFI (JT-SOFI) method was developed for imaging with ultrahigh labeling densities, enabled by the simultaneous use of three types of color differentiable QDs (QD525, QD625, QD705), again for imaging of the fine structure of microtubules, here in COS7 cells. JT-SOFI was found to perform better than SOFI preserve structural information in the image data. In addition, the labeling density for JT-SOFI can be increased 3-fold over that permissible for PALM/STORM imaging. Super-resolution imaging in 3D has also been performed with QDs, with reported resolutions of 8 to 17 nm in the lateral and 58 to 81 nm in the axial directions, using techniques that are conceptually identical to other SMLM methods (Figure 10e,f).¹³⁵ The methods were used to resolve the 3D distribution of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) molecules located on, or inside of, the plasma membrane of breast cancer cells.

In efforts to increase the temporal resolution of SOFI, strategies were developed to produce QDs with tunable blinking characteristics. For example, QDs with thinner ZnS shells feature accelerated blinking rates, generating potential for live-cell SOFI applications.¹⁵² In another effort, the thickness of the ZnS shell of CdSe-ZnS core-shell QDs was varied systematically and the resulting changes in the blinking properties were analyzed.¹⁵³ Certain ligands grafted onto the surface of QDs were found to reduce blinking rates.¹⁵⁴ Similar reductions were obtained in alloyed core-shell interface systems or QDs possessing thick shells,^{140,155-157} or by contacting QDs with noble metal NPs.¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶¹ It is widely accepted that the blinking behavior of QDs is caused by two mechanisms.^{110,162} The first Auger recombination, a non-radiative process in which excited state energy is transferred to



Figure 11. Illustration of the use of mid-infrared (MIR) light pulses to control the blinking characteristics of CdSe/CdS QDs. The core of the QDs is surrounded by a shell of 8 monolayers (MLs). When the MIR radiation is off, excess charge leads to trion formation with poor emission quantum yield and blinking behavior. The short MIR pulse at moderate field intensity can remove the excess charge on the surface and transfer it to trap states on the shell surface or the surrounding environment. A neutral exciton is restored, from which emission proceeds. At high fields, the exciton itself becomes ionized, resulting in an additional charge inside the dot. This gives rise to the formation of another trion and subsequent nonradiative Auger decay. Reprinted with the permission from ref 151. Copyright 2021 Springer Nature.



Figure 12. Overview of different surface functionalization strategies for QDs. The right-hand side shows typical polymers and ligands used for producing QDs with different chemical groups on their surface. The left side displays bioconjugation pathways for linking QDs with biomolecules of interest (BOI). Reprinted with permission from ref 184. Copyright 2013 Optica Publishing Group.

charged QDs nearby,¹⁶³ with the result of photoluminescence quenching.¹³⁹ The second is via activation and deactivation of trap states on the QD surface. The QD shell^{164,165} acts as a tunneling barrier and thus limits carrier escape to the surface, suppressing blinking. The thicker the shell, the stronger effect. For example, when QDs were coated with a seven-monolayerthick ZnS shell,¹³⁸ they were found to spend significantly more time in the "on" states, compared to bare QDs. However, despite progress in suppressing surface traps, the problem of Auger recombination remains. Some progress has been made by softening the structure of QDs and thus avoiding interface discontinuities.^{166–169} The effect is a lowering of spatial frequency components in the wave function which results in a partial suppression of the Auger process in charged NPs.¹⁵⁷ In recent work, ultrafast mid-infrared (MIR) pulses (5.5 μ m, 150 fs) with an appropriately selected field strength were applied to

remove the excess electron from the trion-mediated Auger recombination in off-states of single core–shell CdSe/CdS QDs (Figure 11).¹⁵¹ The method led to a significant reduction in QD intensity flicker, and blinking could be almost eliminated in QDs encapsulated with thin (8 monolayers) shells. In summary, the blinking behavior of QDs is strongly affected by QD structure,^{170–172} shell thickness,^{146–148} the presence of trap states,¹⁷³ surface ligands,^{174,175} and the external environment in which the QDs reside.^{176–180} An ability to adjust the blinking behavior of QDs, especially to decrease the on to off duty cycle of QDs, will be a breakthrough for SMLM imaging.

QD labels have also been demonstrated for SIM imaging. For example, QD605 was used to record both the distribution and the density of integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$ receptors on single acute myeloid leukemia cells.¹⁸¹ A computer-based topological



Figure 13. (a) Schematic illustration of band diagram of π -conjugated polymer. Reprinted from ref 191. Copyright 2010 Royal Society of Chemistry. (b) Chemical structures for different fluorescent semiconducting polymers. Adapted with permission from ref 192. Copyright 2013 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. (c) Absorption spectra of PDs. (d) Fluorescence emission spectra of different kinds of PDs. (e) Digital photograph of PDs under UV light illumination. Panels b–e were reprinted with the permission from refs 192–195. Copyright 2013 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Copyright 2008 American Chemical Society. Copyright 2012 Royal Society of Chemistry. Copyright 2011 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

reconstruction of the QD distribution on the cell surface suggested a lateral resolution of ~100 nm and axial resolution of ~300 nm.¹⁸¹ Similarly, 3D SIM imaging was used to image QD-labeled CD13 protein on the surfaces of single cells revealing the distribution of individual proteins on the cell membrane.¹⁸² QDs have also been used for multiplexed SIM imaging in multiple colors. Using only a single excitation wavelength, QDs with different emission spectra could recorded simultaneously and differentiated by use of a color selective image splitter. Raw SIM images could thus be acquired simultaneously for each spectral channel, increasing acquisition speed.¹⁸³

Despite of their favorable optical properties, such as superior photostability and brightness, some drawbacks prevail for the use of QDs in super-resolution imaging. For example, the broad absorption band and potential multiphoton absorption of QDs make them difficult to use for STED, similar to the problem discussed for CDs; blinking remains a major limitation; and the tendency of QDs to feature short off-state times compromises their use for single-molecule imaging. These considerations motivate the design of improved QD systems, e.g., via new synthesis routes, surface passivation strategies, and the construction of hybrid systems to control photophysical properties, e.g., to develop nonblinking QDs or QDs with controllable photon emission states for super-resolution imaging.^{185,186} Also, the photodynamics of QDs are different from standard fluorophores used in super-resolution imaging, and data analysis needs to be adapted to make optimal use of these systems in high-resolution imaging. A problem with QDs for biological imaging is that materials used for their synthesis are usually toxic for cell samples because

they contain heavy metals like cadmiums. For example, exposure to UV light or oxidation in air can lead to leakage of free cadmium ions from CdSe QDs, which can cause cell death.¹⁸⁷ For group II-VI QDs, it was furthermore demonstrated that exposure to light causes reactive oxygen species to form, which can also affect cellular function adversely.¹⁸⁸ Different strategies are therefore required to surface treat QDs to make them biocompatible and functionalize them for specific applications.^{189,190} Figure 12 summarizes different surface coating and bioconjugation strategies available for QDs.¹⁸⁴ Although similar chemistries are available to functionalize QDs and CDs, an additional step is required to render QDs water-soluble. Usually, amphiphilic polymers or hydrophilic ligands are added for this purpose. Although bioconjugation chemistry is versatile for QDs and CDs, their size of both types of NP are very large compared to organic dyes and biomolecules, which might lead to ineffective recognition and function in cellular systems. There is still much room to explore efficient and multifunctional QD/CDbased bioconjugates. On the basis of the unique photophysical features of these NPs, it is furthermore conceivable to make environmentally sensitive probes for cellular environments, e.g., to measure cellular pH, ionic strength, or molecular interactions. Finally, although QDs have been intensively used in conventional imaging and biomedical applications, their use in super-resolution imaging is still in its infancy.

3.3. Polymer Dots

In recent years, PDs have emerged as an attractive class of fluorescence probes. PDs are usually produced through the embedding of photoexcitable structures in a suitable polymer

matrix that is usually hydrophobic and occupies a volume or weight fraction of around 50%. The diameters of PDs range from 20 to 30 nm, although smaller sizes have also been reported.¹⁹² PDs are NPs formed from π -conjugated polymers, dyed doped polymers, or fluorescent polymers, usually by emulsion polymerization of nanoprecipitation. The backbone of conjugated polymers features an array of light-harvesting units, for example, alternating σ - and π -bonds. Band structures for such systems are shown in Figure 13a,¹⁹¹ where it is seen that σ -bonds bind the structure together, while π -bonds lead to semiconducting behavior. Typical chemical structures for fluorescent semiconducting polymers are shown in Figure 13b.¹⁹² Generally speaking, these materials feature a direct band gap that can be tuned through modification of the molecular structure of the polymer.^{191,196,197} Their absorption bands range from 350 to 600 nm and a multitude of emission bands are available across the visible spectrum (Figure 13ce).¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁵ Compared to molecular dyes, polymers loaded with fluorescent dyes feature a higher brightness and photostability since they comprise a large number of fluorophores per particle which are protected by their embedding matrix.¹⁹⁸ PDs are approximately 3 orders of magnitude brighter than conventional organic fluorescent dyes.^{199,200} Compositional changes affect their photoluminescence behavior and can be used to design systems that can be optimized for either continuous fluorescence or photoblinking behavior.^{201,202} It is postulated that electron hole polarons quench PD fluorescence and this to give rise to photoblinking.^{203,204} The tunable optical features, together with the versatility available in polymer design, make PDs promising candidates for super-resolution imaging.

Deep-red fluorescent organic nanoparticles (FONPs) were developed as shown in Figure 14a.²⁰⁵ Because of their high brightness (PLQY 25%) and good photostability, these FONPs were successfully employed in STED for HeLa cells and glass catfish imaging, with an improved resolution of ca. 100 nm. The photostability of FONPs was compared with those of commercial FITC and Alexa Fluor 594 fluorophores (Figure 14b). After 25 min of STED laser (600 mW) irradiation, FITC and Alexa Fluor 594 were almost photobleached, while FONPs remained unchanged. In addition, FONPs showed much improved resolution in STED imaging compared to FITC and Alexa Fluor 594 fluorophores. In a more recent work, two kinds of semiconducting PDs with different emission wavelengths were prepared for dual-color STED imaging and cellular tracking (Figure 14c).²⁰⁶ Some PDs exhibit very large Stokes shifts. The Stokes shift is ca. 149 nm for CNPPV and ca. 260 nm for PDFDP, respectively, and both are excitable with a 506 nm laser. They are depleted by a 760 nm laser beam and collected in separate channels (Figure 14d). The concept was exploited to study the dynamic interaction of clathrin-derived endosomes and caveolin-1positive endosomes, which were tracked in HeLa cells, with a resolution down to 68 nm (Figure 14e).

For single-molecule localization imaging, photoswitchable PDs have been designed. One strategy here is to make use of Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) in PDs in which donor and acceptor molecules are incorporated. An example of this is a PD system in which photochromic spiropyran molecules are conjugated to PFBT. Under UV irradiation, spiropyran is converted into its merocyanine form, which absorbs visible light and acts as a FRET quencher for PFBT fluorescence, with an efficiency exceeding 85%. On the other hand, excitation with visible light causes the recovery of the



Figure 14. (a) Chemical structures of three types of fluorescent organic nanoparticles (FONPs). (b) Fluorescence intensity plots of DBTBT-4C8 contained FONPs, FITC, and Alexa Fluor 594 in HeLa cells under 600 mW STED laser irradiation. Panels a and b were reprinted with the permission from ref 205. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (c) Chemical structures of CNPPV PDs and PDFDP PDs. (d) Simplified illustration of dual-color STED microscopy. (e) Top: Confocal and STORM images of mixture of CNPPV PDs and PDFDP PDs and PDFDP PDs. Bottom: Confocal and STORM images of PDFDP PDs labeled lysosomes and CD44 antibody-PDFDP labeled lysosomes. Panels c–e were reprinted with the permission from ref 206. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

PFBT fluorescence. The system exhibits good reversibility over many cycles and a large modulation difference between the on and off states. These advantages are complemented with excellent brightness and a small particle size (~ 16 nm). The system is readily functionalized for biological imaging and conjugation with streptavidin permitted the specific labeling of microtubules and membranes in live MCF-7 cells.

Because PDs are large compared to typical Förster radii, FRET can be inefficient when PDs are loaded with donors and acceptors because their molecular proximity may not be readily achieved. One interesting approach to address this problem exploits the use of a process called exciton diffusion of FRET donors.²⁰⁷ Bulky hydrophobic counterions were employed to prevent self-quenching of the donor and to facilitate the diffusion of excitons between octadecyl rhodamine B dyes within a poly(D,L-lactide-*co*-glycolide) matrix. The process greatly increased the probability of an exciton meeting an acceptor site within the PD volume. FRET deexcitation rates were increased as a result and thus photoswitching efficiency. In another case, PFBT was doped with the fullerene derivative PCBM to form PDs of ca. ~14 nm in diameter. The PDs feature a fluctuating steady-state population of hole polarons, leading to time variable quenching and thus photoblinking. PDs thus modified display intense bursts of $3-5 \times 10^4$ photons during each switching event, with brightness levels that are 1-2 orders of magnitude greater than those of conventional photoswitchable dyes. A remarkable localization precision of ~0.6 nm has been demonstrated for these systems, an improvement of approximately 4 times over dye molecules. The topology of PD-labeled *Escherichia coli* bacteria could be mapped out precisely with SMLM and in cells a localization of ~5 nm was achieved.²⁰⁸ In more recent work, the authors controlled the charge carrier generation and recombination dynamics in semiconducting PDs, resulting in a 3-8-fold improvement in localization precision compared to dyes and fluorescent proteins.²⁰⁹

The fluorescence kinetics of PDs appear to depend on particle size. For example, for PDs over 15 nm in diameter, a continuous fluorescence emission was observed with no significant photoblinking. However, below 10 nm, the same material exhibits strong intermittency in fluorescence emission.^{192,193,212} Photoblinking in small PQs was first demonstrated in semiconducting polymer PFBT and CN-PPV.²¹³ Similar to other NPs, such as CDs and QDs, the emission statistics of these PDs also obey a power law distribution, indicating that a small number of emitters with reversible on/ off dynamics induce fluorescence fluctuations, while only a small portion of PDs are in the on-state.¹⁹² The PD system offers high brightness, good photostability, and excellent biocompatibility. Functionalized PDs work well as biological labels. Streptavidin-conjugated PFBT and CN-PPV have been used to label and visualize mitochondrial membranes, nuclear pores, and microtubules in BS-C-1 cells. SOFI experiments have furthermore been performed offering a resolution of features in the cell down to ~180 nm. SOFI with multiple colors has also been achieved with PDs,²¹⁰ through combined use of blue emitting PFO PDs (particle size: 10 nm) and red PFTBT5 PDs (particle size: 13 nm) (Figure 15a). Both feature narrow fluorescence emission bands, permitting easy discrimination. Compared with Alexa Fluor 405 and QDs 655, PFO and PFTBT5 showed a 4.3-fold and 2.4-fold improvement in brightness, respectively. Excellent performance of these systems was demonstrated in BS-C-1 cells. Using streptavidin-conjugated PDs and dual-color SOFI, clathrin-coated vesicles and microtubule filaments were resolved in these cells, yielding resolution improvements by a factor of nearly 1.7 over standard widefield imaging (Figure 15b-d). In another work, a series of semiconducting PDs was prepared from PFxBT and PSMA by a nanoprecipitation method (Figure 15e).²¹¹ Despite their relatively large size (~20 nm) compared to the former system, they offer greater flexibility in adjusting photoblinking properties, which can be simply controlled via the number of chromophores per particle. PF10BT PDs were thus used to resolve microtubule structures by high-order SOFI microscopy with excellent resolution and contrast. Figure 15f compares the wide-field and fourth-order SOFI images with the latter offering a 4-fold resolution improvement (from 400 to 95 nm) (Figure 15g). PALM imaging with a dual-color PD system is also possible with blue and orange fluorescent PDs. For the system to work, it is essential that energy transfer between two types of PD is effectively suppressed, here mediated by excited-state intramolecular proton transfer. This is a prerequisite to enable an effective switching between the emissive and nonemissive states and



Figure 15. (a) Chemical structures of PFO, PSMA, and PFTBT5. (b) Wide-field imaging of clathrin coated pits labeled with PFO PDs and microtubule labeled with PFTBT5 PDs. (c) Magnified region in the white box of panel b. (d) Second-order SOFI image of the same region with panel c. Panels a–d were reproduced with permission from ref 210. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society. (e) Chemical structure of polymer PFxBT and functional polymer PSMA. (f) Wide-field image and fourth-order balanced SOFI image of microtubules labeled with PF10BT PDs. (g) Fluorescent line profiles of the yellow arrows shown in panel f before and after fourth-order SOFI imaging. Panels e–g were reproduced with permission from ref 211. Copyright 2019 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

good modulation contrast between these two states. PALM images of PD-labeled RAW264.7 cells revealed features down to 70 nm in size.²¹⁴ PDs thus enrich to the family of photoblinking labels available for biological super-resolution imaging.

Dye-doped PDs also possess favorable optical properties. Common synthetic fluorescent dyes emit between 10^4 and 10^6 photons in aqueous solution before being permanently photobleached. The embedding of dyes in rigid matrices can lead to significant suppression of this undesirable effect and improve brightness. In one example, Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated peptide PDs were used for whole mouse imaging.²¹⁶ Mouse tumor tissue subsequently imaged *in vivo* and *ex vivo* with STORM. In another work a novel photochromic compound (a spiropyran-functionalized distyrylanthracene derivative, DSA-2SP)²¹⁵ was synthesized and applied for super-resolution imaging. The compound was

subsequently dispersed in the diblock copolymer of polystryrene-*block*-poly(ethylene oxide) (PSt-bPEO) to form cylindrical micelles. By switching between UV and visible illumination light, the fluorescence behavior of these micelles could be cycled reversibly thus permitting STORM imaging (Figure 16a–d). Other dye-doped NPs, for example, dye-



Figure 16. (a) Conventional fluorescence image of cylindrical micelles formed from PSt-*b*-PEO staining by DSA-2SP. (b) STORM imaging of the same region in panel a. (c) Cross-sectional intensity profiles of a cylindrical micelles. (d) Fourier ring correlation (FRC) curve produced from panel b. Panels a–d were reproduced with permission from ref 215. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

doped polystyrene (PS) NPs with various surface modifications also have potential for various imaging applications. The 40 nm PS NPs have become useful tools for the performance evaluation of advanced super-resolution imaging techniques. One example is shown in Figure 17a-c where the resolution of stimulated emission double depletion microscopy (STEDD) is measured compared to standard confocal microscopy.²¹⁷ STEDD is able to suppress background signal through use of a second STED pulse. For biological application, functional moieties on the PDs largely determine their cell targeting behavior. Using correlative PAINT and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) imaging, it was possible to quantify the number and density of Atto-647N labeled ligands on poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)-polyethylene glycol (PEG) NPs (Figure 17d).²¹⁸ With PAINT (Figure 17e), the number of surface ligands per NP was identified on particles localized via TEM (Figure 17f,g). This strategy offers promise to investigate NP structure-function relations. In another case, colloidally stable, carboxylate-functionalized PS NPs were used to visualize endocytosis in COS7 cells via PALM and signal levels were sufficient to acquire images with good spatial resolution.²¹⁹ Two-color STORM was realized using either Cv5 or Alexa647 labeled PS NPs, using EDC/NHS chemistry for linkage (Figure 18a).²²⁰ The *d*STORM image shows that 80 nm PS NPs were internalized by HeLa cells (Figure 18b). A comparison between the STORM and wide-field images clearly demonstrates a substantial increase in resolution (Figure 18c,d).

PDs have also been deployed for STED imaging.²²¹ Hydrophobic fluorescent PDFDP and amphiphilic PSMA were used to form monodisperse aqueous solutions of PDs. PDs measured around 40 nm in size, of which STED images yielded cross-sectional profiles of 71 nm. As stated earlier, PDs are easily quenched by the nonfluorescent hole polarons. However, it was found polarons are short-lived in PDs when the illumination cedes, and the system returns to a photoactive fluorescence state. For example, the fluorescence of PDs recovered completely after 2 min following a 1 min illumination period. Long-term STED imaging is thus possible, if the excited pixels are allowed to recover into a photoactive state during the raster scanning process. Thus, it was possible to image PDs inside cells continuously over 2 h. Even in live cells STED imaging was successfully demonstrated and biotinconjugated PDs were imaged to track the movement of endocytic vesicles. The PDs used were proven to be more photostable than the organic dye Atto565, commonly used in STED.

Despite the outstanding photophysical properties exhibited by PDs, improvements are desirable: first, a capability to reduce particle sizes to below 10 nm would endow favorable fluorescence properties for super-resolution imaging, such as improved photoblinking and intermittency characteristics. Furthermore, a smaller size confers improved compatibility for biological systems and effectuates their use as functional probes. Second, designing PDs specially for STED imaging would enrich the arsenal of available labels for this important technique. Third, for stochastic super-resolution imaging techniques strategies need to be developed that permit the rational modulation of hole polarons in PDs to achieve optimal blinking behavior. Finally, there is potential to exploit PD systems in multiplexed imaging applications through design with multiple excitation and emission bands featuring minimal spectral overlap.

3.4. Modified Silica NPs

Dye-doped silica NPs have similar PL properties as PDs. The performance of dyes can be improved by coating them onto silica NPs and the silica substrate provides a versatile platform for linkage chemistry. Enhanced photophysical performance includes improved brightness and photoblinking.²²²⁻²²⁶ STED imaging has been successfully carried out using these dyedoped silica NPs. The internalization of Atto647N labeled silica NPs with the particle size around 25 or 85 nm in A549 cells was quantified through STED, with a resolution of ~ 61 nm.²²⁷ Later, the same research group also embedded other dyes, such as Abberior STAR 635, Dy-647, Dy-648, and Dy-649, through covalent coupling onto the silica matrix by aminosilane chemistry. Compared with free uncoupled dyes, the hybrid systems show improved photostability (\sim 1.6-fold) and brightness (\sim 1.4-fold), enabling them to be used as cellular fluorescent probes in STED imaging, with reported resolutions of ~85 nm.²²⁸ Taking Atto647N-transferrin NPs as another example,²²⁹ an approximately 4-fold resolution improvement has been achieved in STED imaging, compared to standard confocal imaging. The photostability of these Atto647N-transferrin NPs was found to be superior to that of the dye alone: under STED illumination (780 nm, 80 MHz pulses of 300 ps width, 28 mW), the fluorescence intensity of NPs declined to half of the original intensity at a rate ca. 1.6 times smaller than that of dye conjugates on their own. The transferrin-based protein NPs have application potential as



Figure 17. (a) Images of 40 nm PS beads recorded using confocal, STED, and STEDD microscopies. Color bar, counts per pixel; scale bar, 1 μ m. (b) Enlarged regions from the square in panel a. (c) Intensity profiles along the dashed lines in panel a. Panels a-c were reproduced with permission from ref 217. Copyright 2017, Nature Publishing Group. (d) Schematic illustration of ligands on PLGA-PEG NPs. (e) Localization coordinates of ligands on PLGA-PEG NPs by quantitative PAINT (qPAINT) analysis. (f) Correlated PAINT and TEM images of PLGA-PEG NPs. (g) Correlated size and quantified ligand number of single PLGA-PEG NP. Panels d-g were adapted with permission from ref 218. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society.

drug carriers in clinical medicine through their cofunctionalization with active agents. STED was used to investigate the cellular uptake of these NPs and to locate their cellular fate. Interestingly, a large number of NPs were found to accumulate within individual endosomal vesicles. Quantitative comparisons of the enhanced potential of dye conjugation to silica NPs were also carried out for Cy3 and Cy5. The studies were performed using STORM imaging of these dyes conjugated to ultrasmall (ca. 6 nm) silica NPs.²³⁰ The system was used to image block copolymer nanostructures deposited in thin films on substrates. The dye encapsulated NP system exhibited an improvement in the photon budget (~3.1-fold) and a decrease in the localization uncertainty (~2-fold) compared to the free dyes. Similarly, Alexa Fluor 647 (AF647) labeled mesoporous silica NPs ca. 80 nm in size where used in HeLa cells, again showing much improved resolution over conventional confocal imaging.²³¹ The presence of silica-coated magnetic NPs doped with rhodamine B isothiocyanate dye was quantified by STORM analysis in various cell lines,²³² such as HEK 293, NIH3T3, and RAW 264.7 cells. The cell types exhibit different internalization behavior. For example, macrophage cells show more NPs uptake than human kidney and fibroblast cells,

especially into the nuclear region. In another case, the ultrasmall (<10 nm) organic dye doped core—shell aluminosilicate NPs enabled live-cell STORM imaging to quantify the size of intracellular vesicles and the number of NPs per vesicle. These are encouraging results, especially in consideration of the fact that silica NPs are easily functionalized to carry active cargo. In future, there is thus scope for combined therapeutic and diagnostic applications using these systems.

3.5. Aggregation-Induced Emission Dots

Aggregation induced emission (AIE) has caught intense interest as a phenomenon to exploit for new fluorescence probes. AIE luminogens (AIEgens) are nonemissive, or weakly emitting, fluorescence systems when in solution, but become highly fluorescent in their solid state.^{234–236} The phenomenon was first discovered by Tang and co-workers in 2001.²³⁷ The AIE effect originates primarily from the restriction of intramolecular motion, more specifically, the suppression of rotational and vibrational degrees of freedom when AIEgens are in aggregate form.²³⁸ AIEgens are systems whose molecular structures mimic the shapes of "propellers" with each propeller arm constituting a molecular rotor. Rotor motion in the soluble state prevents the formation of large coplanar



Figure 18. (a) Workflow for PS nanoparticle functionalization and cell labeling, STORM imaging and data analysis. (b) Comparison of STORM and wide-field image of 80 nm PS NPs inside membrane-stained HeLa cells. (c) Overlay of wide-field (gray) and STORM (red) images of a single NP. (d) Comparison of intensity profile in wide-field and STORM images from panel c. Panels a–d were reproduced with permission from ref 220. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

structures in which electrons can freely move and this leads to loss of fluorescence. In contrast, in the solid form, the structures are locked into place but twists in the conformation of individual units, prevent the formation $\pi - \pi$ stacks, which can lead to nonradiative loss of excited state energy, often a reason for the fluorescence loss in traditional fluorescence systems upon aggregation.^{233,239,240} An example of aggregation-caused quenching (ACQ) in *N*,*N*-dicyclohexyl-1,7-dibromo-3,4,9,10-perylenetetracarboxylic diimide (DDPD) is shown in (Figure 19a). DDPD features strong $\pi - \pi$ stacking



Figure 19. Fluorescent photographs (left-hand) and molecular structures (right-hand) of (a) DDPD with aggregation-caused quenching (ACQ) effect and (b) TPE with (aggregation induced emission) AIE effect in tetrahydrofuran/water solvents with different water volume fractions. Panels a and b were adapted with permission from ref 233. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society.

interactions in its aggregated state, thus its fluorescence decreases upon addition of water, which induces aggregation. Tetraphenylethylene (TPE), on the other hand, represents a typical example of an AIEgen. It adopts a twisted propeller-shaped conformation (Figure 19b),²³³ which suppresses intermolecular π - π interactions when it forms aggregates on addition of water.²⁴¹ These AIE NPs can be encapsulated to vary in size and surface functionality, and systems with low

toxicity, good biocompatibility, and high resistance to photobleaching have been developed.

In pioneering work, three types of oxetane-substituted AIE (AIE-OXE) NPs with emission in the blue, green, and red spectral regions, respectively, were synthesized (Figure 20a).²⁴² They feature small size (\sim 15 nm), high quantum yield (higher than 60%), and good colloidal stability. The large Stokes shift exhibited by red emissive AIE NPs permits their use as STED imaging probes. For example, microtubule structures in MCF7 cells could be imaged with STED using such a strategy (Figure 20b-e). The spatial resolution of 95 nm was achieved under relatively low illumination intensities ($\sim 100 \text{ MW cm}^{-2}$) for the STED beam, indicating reasonable performance for stimulated depletion, and therefore sample protection when using this technique.²⁴² In one promising approach, 2,3-bis(4-(phenyl(4-(1,2,2-triphenylvinyl)phenyl)amino)phenyl) fumaronitrile (TTF) was encapsulated by colloidal mesoporous silica (TTF@SiO₂), to produce red/near-infrared (NIR) fluorescent NPs.²⁴³ Using a 594 nm laser and a 775 nm laser as excitation and STED beams, respectively, the stimulated emission depletion efficiency of TTF@SiO2 was shown to be better than 60%, similar to some of the best conventional STED dyes, such as Atto647N.²⁴⁴ Moreover, TTF@SiO₂ NPs feature large Stokes' shifts (150 nm) and are resistant to photobleaching even under long-term (280 s) irradiation with a high-power STED beam (312.5 mW average power) (Figure 20f,g). This performance appears favorable over other frequently used STED dyes, such as Coumarin 102. STED imaging of HeLa cells labeled with TTF@SiO2 was demonstrated, with a lateral spatial resolution of 30 nm. Other AIE luminogens such as DP-TBT (Figure 21a) exhibited a PLQY of 25% and was successfully used for STED imaging of helical fibers.²⁴⁵ DTPA-BT-M (Figure 21b) is a related system with a measured PLQY of more than 30% and a large two-photon absorption cross section.²⁴⁶ This system can be applied in both STED and



Figure 20. (a) Synthetic routes and structures of three types of AIE NPs. (b) Confocal and (c) STED images of microtubules labeled with red emissive AIE NPs. (d) Magnified views of region marked in panels b and c). (e) Intensity profiles across microtubule marked with "i" in panels b and c. Scale bar: 1 μ m. Panels a–e were adapted with permission from ref 242. Copyright 2017 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. (f) STED imaging of TTF@SiO₂ over prolonged time points exhibits long-term stability. (g) Normalized fluorescence intensity of TTF@SiO₂ collected at prolonged time points, during 280 s of continuous scanning under a 594 nm excitation beam and a 775 nm depletion beam. Panels f and g were adapted with permission from ref 243. Copyright 2017 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

two-photon fluorescence (TPF) microscopies, with the former offering excellent resolution and the latter good penetration for deep tissue imaging. Using this combined approach, lipid droplets could be imaged with 95 nm resolution, while TPF was capable of imaging 300 μ m deep in mouse derived lung tissue. Finally, two further very efficient AIE luminogens, PIZ-CN and PID-CN, have been reported to feature depletion efficiencies of up to 90%, at illumination intensities in the 1 to 5 MW cm⁻² range (Figure 21c).²⁴⁷ These two probes were successfully used for live cell STED imaging of lysosomal fusion (Figure 21d,f) and mitochondrial fission (Figure 21g,i), providing a new strategy for revealing organelle interactions in cells at a high spatial resolution.

The photoswitching properties of AIE NPs have also been explored. Tang et al. reported a TPE derivative, named as o-TPE-ON+,²⁴⁸ which can undergo a photocyclodehydrogenation reaction under irradiation with visible light, turning the system from a dark into a photoactive state. This photoactivation is promoted by oxygen and the system appears to associate specifically with mitochondria. In fixed cells, mitochondria could be resolved with resolution of 104 nm by STORM imaging. Similarly, AIE-active diarylethenes (TPE-2DTE and OTPE-2DTE) were reported later,²⁴⁹ which are also photoactivatable. Their superior photoswitching behavior is beneficial for STORM imaging and was used to resolve cylindrical micelles down to 50 nm detail. In another study, AIEs were constructed through incorporation of two large steric units of benzothiophene, BBTE and the material deposited as a thin film on a microscope slide. This system featured outstanding AIE performance and could be reversibly switched between on- and off-states through alternating the irradiation between UV and visible light. The fwhm of the smallest resolved details measured 32 nm with this system. In summary, there is great potential for the construction of photoresponsive AIE NPs for super-resolution imaging.²¹

3.6. Nanodiamonds

The emergence of fluorescent nanodiamonds, NDs, has opened up another potential avenue for imaging in biological research. The structure of NDs consists of carbon atoms in sp³hybridized arrangements, and they are inherently biocompatible. Unlike many other NP systems, which can be synthesized through wet chemistry methods, NDs can only be produced by chemical vapor deposition, high-pressure and high-temperature method, and detonation of explosives.²⁵² When defect free, NDs are inherently transparent because of the very large bandgap in diamond. However, (Figure 22) upon irradiation with He⁺ ions, protons or high energy electrons, charge vacancies are formed in NDs. Subsequent annealing above 700 °C results in the diffusion of these vacancies to the nitrogen atoms, thereby introducing the nitrogen-vacancy (NV) defect centers.^{118,253–257} The phenomenon causes NDs to become photoluminescent and visible excitation light generates a bright and stable long-wavelength emission. Specifically, two forms of NV centers exist in NPs: NV⁰ and NV⁻. Neutral NV⁰ normally exhibits fluorescence emission near 575 nm, and the negatively charged NV⁻ center exhibits emission near 637 nm (Figure 22) with a high fluorescence quantum yield under 532 nm excitation.^{253,258} Both electronic transitions can be coupled with phonons to exhibit emission side bands peaked at ~ 700 nm.^{259,260} Besides the green and red fluorescence,^{261–263} NDs with blue emission peaked at 450 nm have also been synthesized.²⁶⁴ The fluorescence emission of NDs is exceptional stable, and no sign of photobleaching is observable even under high-power laser excitation, making NDs ideal for longterm imaging without signal decay. Another attractive aspect is the long fluorescence lifetime (~ 20 ns) of NDs, which is much longer that of biological autofluorescence from biological tissue.²⁶⁵ Temporal gating during signal collection therefore permits an efficient discrimination of fluorescence signal from background autofluorescence and thus an effective enhancement of image contrast. Furthermore, the PLQYs of NDs is very high, ranging between 0.7 and 1, higher than almost any other fluorophore system in this wavelength range.²⁶⁶ Moreover, NDs can be surface functionalized to realize the specific labeling and targeting functions in cells.²⁶⁷ These features



Figure 21. (a) Chemical structure of DP-TBT. Adapted with permission from ref 245. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society. (b) Chemical structure of DTPA-BT-M. Adapted with permission from ref 246. Copyright 2016 Royal Society of Chemistry. (c) Chemical structure of PIZ-CN and PID-CN. Confocal (d) and STED (e) images of PIZ-CN labeled lysosomes in a live HepG2 cell. The large yellow regions are the enlarged forms of the small region in each image. The scale bars in panels d and e are 3 μ m. The scale bars in the insets are 200 nm. (f) Fluorescence intensity profiles corresponding to the white dashed lines in panels d and e. Confocal (g) and STED (h) images of PIZ-CN labeled mitochondria in a live HepG2 cell. The large green regions are the enlarged forms of the small region in each image. The scale bars in panels g and h are 1 μ m. The scale bars in the insets are 500 nm. (i) Fluorescence intensity profiles of the white dashed lines in panels of the white dashed lines in panels g and h. Panels c–i were adapted with permission from ref 247. Copyright 2020 Wiley-VCH GmbH.

make NDs a fascinating alternative to organic dyes, fluorescent proteins, and QDs offering new potential for bioimaging applications.^{253,261,268–275}

Their photostability and high quantum yields make NDs the ideal probe for STED imaging applications. The first example was demonstrated by Hell and co-workers, offering the best resolution ever reported with STED imaging and individual NV⁻ centers could be localized with a remarkable resolution of 5.8 nm.²⁷⁶ The authors were able to study the photophysical features, e.g., single-photon emission signature of these color centers and the aggregation and heterogeneity of the NPs using tunable laser sources for STED.²⁷⁷ A problem in the use of NDs as fluorescent probes in cells is particle agglomeration, which has been partially addressed via the conjugation of albumin to NDs, for which a homogeneous labeling of cells was achieved for STED imaging.²⁷⁸ The delivery of NDs into cells can be achieved via electroporation or by endocytosis and profiles of individual NDs within the cell revealed a resolution of ~40 nm in HeLa cells. It was found that while cytoplasmic

albumin coated NDs remained mostly homogeneously distributed in the cell, they were seen to aggregate in endosomes. Movement of these organelles could be dynamically tracked in the cells using STED. Improvements on this principle permitted individual NV centers to be imaged at 10 nm resolution, within NDs of various shapes, measuring 40-250 nm in size (Figure 23a,b).²⁷⁹ Both red and green emitting NDs have been produced for STED imaging, and this provides an opportunity for high-quality two-color STED imaging, something that remains difficult to achieve with alternative STED dyes.²⁸⁰ A very interesting opportunity arises through the use of NDs as dual-contrast probes in correlative STED and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) imaging.²⁸¹ The two techniques subject the sample to vastly different environmental conditions and sample preparation protocols, yet no degradation of performance loss was evident even over long-term or repeated experiments, proving the system to be robust as dual-contrast probes in correlative STED-TEM microscopy of cells (Figure 23c).



Figure 22. Normalized PL emission spectra of NV^- and NV^0 centers in NDs. The zero-phonon lines (*) represent for NV^- (637 nm) and NV^0 (575 nm). The inset shows the structure of NV centers in NDs, which involves a substitutional nitrogen atom (N) associated with a vacancy (V) in an adjacent lattice site of crystalline matrix. Reprinted with permission from ref 251. Copyright 2010 American Physical Society.



Figure 23. STED (a) and SEM (b) images a nanodiamond. Adapted with permission from ref 279. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society. (c) STED-TEM correlative images of intracellular NDs in TEM sections. Upper: Overlay image of TEM (gray) and STED (fluorescence signal from NDs in magenta). Bottom (from left to right): Zoomed section of correlation result is shown for TEM and STED, respectively. The line profile values and a two-peak Lorentzian fit of the data. Reproduced with permission from ref 281. Copyright 2017 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

The photoblinking behavior of NDs has also been studied and it was shown that the positioning of defects on the surface of NDs affects the photoblinking behavior.^{282–285} Etching of the ND host has been shown to lead to the appearance of an intermittency in the photoemission.²⁸⁶ Furthermore, in individual 5 nm NDs formed from detonation-synthesized diamond, photoblinking was also observable from nitrogen vacancies present in the material.²⁸⁷ This means single NV centers can be super-resolved with SMLM at a resolution of 20 nm or better.²⁸⁸ A statistical analysis of the photon emission suggests that there are multiple NV centers per ND particle, each acting as an intermittent photon source. In another published work, ground state depletion (GSD) was reported as a method to image NDs with optical super-resolution.^{289,290} Here, NV centers were put into a metastable dark state under continuous level illumination.

For practical applications, some limitations of NDs need to be addressed to enable efficient super-resolution imaging. A problem of NDs for use as biological reporters is their comparatively large size, and techniques for routinely producing NDs that are considerably smaller than 10 nm are highly desirable. So far, most imaging experiments have been carried out in bulk NDs contained in solution and hardly any attempts have been reported on their use in biological research, although there is potential for in vivo imaging: NDs feature deep red or NIR fluorescence and are usually compatible with biological function, ideal characteristics for deep tissue imaging with good sensitivity and resolution. For multiplexed imaging it is important to design NDs emitting in different wavelength bands. Finally, other photophysical properties of NDs, such as photoblinking and photoswitching need to be better understood to enable their rational design for improved SMLM modalities.

3.7. Upconversion NPs

Upconversion NPs, UCNPs, have been developed as a promising material for multiphoton probes.^{295–303} They feature nonlinear optical properties permitting the conversion of two or more photons into a higher energy photon. Lowenergy NIR photons can thus be converted into higher energy NIR, visible, or even UV emission.³⁰⁴ The long-wavelength absorption of UCNPs features a high penetration depth and reduces autofluorescence from biological samples. Each UCNP is composed of thousands of codoped lanthanide or actinide ions embedded in a host lattice to form a network of photon sensitizers and activators (Figure 24a). The activator ions act mainly as luminescent centers, while the sensitizer ions absorb NIR light energy that is transferred to the activators to facilitate the emission. The most critical factor that affects upconversion luminescence efficiency is the cross section of the sensitizer ions for absorbing NIR radiation. Yb^{3+} or Nd^{3+} possess large absorption cross sections in the NIR and are therefore frequently used as sensitizers.^{305,306} Er³⁺ and Tm³⁺ are good activator ions, because of their long-lived intermediate states for energy transfer.^{307,308} The host matrices offer a crystalline lattice structure for both the activator and sensitizer ions to conduct energy transfer, 307,308 and should feature a low lattice phonon cutoff energy, so that the potential of nonradiative loss to the lattice is minimized and upconversion is favored. So far, NaYF₄, NaYbF₄, NaGdF₄, NaLaF₄, NaLuF₄, LiYF₄, LiLuF₄, LaF₃, YF₃, GdF₃, GdOF, La_2O_3 , Lu_2O_3 , Y_2O_3 , and Y_2O_2S , have been used as host crystals.^{309–313} The PL resulting from upconversion originates from the 4f-4f orbital electronic transitions with concomitant wave functions from the lanthanide ions, featuring ladder-like arrangements of energy levels and allowing the occurrence of electron transitions between 4f levels.^{314–316} 4f-4f orbital electronic transitions are well shielded by the filled 5s and 5p shells, which results in line-like sharp emissions, with high



Figure 24. (a) Schematic illustration of UCNP structure. (b) Typical energy level diagrams of upconversion processes. From left to right: Excited-state absorption (ESA), energy transfer upconversion (ETU), energy migration-mediated upconversion (EMU), cooperative upconversion (CUC), cross-relaxation (CR), and photon avalanche (PA). Reprinted with permission from ref 319. Copyright 2019 Elsevier Ltd. (c) Confocal image of 8% Tm-doped UCNPs under continuous-wave 980 nm laser (left) and under both 980 and 808 nm laser (right) excitation, with upconversion emission at 455 nm. The power was 1 mW. (d) Imaging setup as in panel c with 1% Tm-doped UCNPs, but with laser power at 5 mW. Panels c and d were reprinted with the permission from ref 291. Copyright 2017 Macmillan Publishers Limited, part of Springer Nature. Insets: Fluorescence intensity profile from the diagonal white line in images. Scale bar: 500 nm. (e) TEM (large) and high-resolution TEM (small) images of NaYF₄:18% Yb³⁺, 10% Tm³⁺ UCNPs. Insets: Distribution of particle sizes. (f) STED image of antibody-conjugated UCNPs labeled cellular cytoskeleton protein desmin under 975 nm excitation and 810 nm STED laser beam. Scale bar: 2 μ m. Panels e and f were adapted with the permission from ref 292. Copyright 2017 Springer Nature. (g) Correlative STED and scanning-transmission electron microscopy images of cIr-Tub labeled microtubules in HepG2 cells, the colocalization scatter plot shows high correlation with Pearson's coefficient, $R_r = 0.91$. Adapted with the permission from ref 293. Copyright 2020 Wiley-VCH GmbH. (h) Photon avalanche (PA) mechanism in Tm³⁺-doped UCNPs. The avalanching occurs in the core-shell UCNPs with core Tm³⁺ concentration over 8%. Inset shows the energy-transfer upconversion (ETU) process. GSA, ground state absorption; ESA, intense excited state absorption. Adapted with the permission from ref 294. Copyright 2021 Springer Nature.

resistance to photobleaching and photochemical degradation.³¹⁷ The PL mechanisms in UCNPs can be classified into six main categories: excited-state absorption (ESA), energy transfer upconversion (ETU), energy migration-mediated upconversion (EMU), cooperative upconversion (CUC), cross-relaxation (CR), and photon avalanche (PA), which are illustrated in Figure 24b.^{318,319} ESA involves the successive absorption of two photons for upconversion emission.³²⁰⁻³²² ETU is a more efficient process that includes the resonant energy transfer from the sensitizer ions to the activator ions. EMU makes use of four types of lanthanide dopants located in separate layers of a core-shell structure, chosen to facilitate the energy transfer between the accumulator and activator.³²³ In CUC, both the sensitization and the luminescence processes occur in cooperative fashion to improve energy transfer between adjacent ions.^{324,325} Cross-relaxation indicates an energy transfer process between activators with well-matching optical transitions.^{326,327} In the case of PA, the intermediate reservoir level of ions is initially populated by a nonresonant ground state absorption process, and then resonant ESA or ETU follow from another excited ion to populate the luminescent level and produce upconversion emission.³²⁸ The unique luminescence features of UCNPs endow them with particular performance characteristics for biological imaging, overcoming the common disadvantages of conventional probes, such as photobleaching, photoblinking, background autofluorescence, limited tissue penetration and phototoxicity.^{318,329–331}

Taking advantages of these merits, UCNPs have been successfully used for STED imaging. In an early work, YAG:Pr3+ NPs were excited with visible laser light and exhibited UV emission, permitting background-free STED imaging with a resolution of ~50 nm.³³² However, the NP system used exhibited low efficiency, and the emitted UV light is toxic for biological samples, which limits application potential. An improvement is obtained through use of UCNPs doped with high concentrations of Tm^{3+} (8%). This facilitates the establishment of a population inversion via their intermediate metastable levels at optical excitation wavelengths, and thus enabled low-power ($\sim 0.19 \text{ MW cm}^{-2}$) STED imaging, with a resolution down to ~28 nm ($\lambda/36$). Standard UCNPs that are doped at low levels (1%) have small cross sections for absorption and stimulated emission, and therefore require high intensities for high-resolution STED imaging (Figure 24c,d).²⁹¹ Significantly lower excitation and depletion powers for STED were needed in Yb-based core-shell UCNPs $(NaYbxTm_{1-x}F_4)$.³³³ Another work revealed that under the assistance of interionic cross relaxation, 18 nm NaYF4:18% Yb³⁺, 10% Tm³⁺ NPs (Figure 24e) also lowered the laser intensity required for depletion and achieved two-color superresolution imaging at 66 nm resolution.²⁹² Moreover, pixel dwell times of only 100 us enabled the high-speed STED imaging of cellular cytoskeletal protein structures (Figure 24f). Notably, in another work, a cyclometalated iridium(III) tubulin complex (cIr-Tub) was designed and used to perform correlative STED and EMs,²⁹³ permits STED imaging of tubulin localization and motion with a resolution of ~ 30 nm (Figure 24g). UCNPs hold promise for STED nanoscopy in biology. A radically different approach makes use of MeV focused helium ions instead of lasers to excite NaYF4:Yb,Tm UCPNs.³³⁴ Here, Yb³⁺ and Tm³⁺ ions convert the energy of the helium ions to produce PL over hours long time periods. Compared with 980 nm laser excitation, the resolution was



Figure 25. (a) Acid-induced PL intermittency of individual SWNTs at pH 4 and pH 7, respectively. Reproduced with permission from ref 365. Copyright 2008 American Chemical Society. (b) Schematic illustration of photophysical processes associated with the intensity fluctuation and decay dynamics of a defect-bound exciton. Excitons produced from the band edge diffuse and are trapped by the defects (green arrow). A potential barrier (of high Eb) or nonradiative traps could impede the diffusion or trapping of the excitons, as well as the random opening and closing of a nonradiative decay channel (red dotted arrow), leading to intensity fluctuation. Reprinted with permission from ref 366. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

greatly enhanced from 253 to 28 nm. The method is extremely complex, however, and high-energy ion beams are harmful to biological samples. In another strategy, the use of downshifting NaGdF₄:Nd (1%) NPs enabled STED imaging in all-NIR spectral bands under excitation at 808 nm, depletion at 1064 nm and detection over the 850–900 nm spectral band. Saturation intensities were low (19 kW cm⁻²).³³⁵ As a result, imaging in deep tissue was possible and at depths of 50 μ m a spatial resolution of ca. 70 nm was achieved.

As a derivative method of STED, fluorescence emission difference (FED) imaging has been also been realized using NaYF₄:Nd³⁺/Yb³⁺/Er³⁺@NaYF₄:Nd³⁺ NPs. Using 808 nm cw laser excitation (10 MW/cm²) yielded 80 nm spatial resolution,³³⁶ without observation of photobleaching, a problem that plagues traditional STED.

In another study,³³⁷ blue and green emission were generated orthogonally in NaYF₄:Er³⁺@NaYF₄@NaYF₄:Yb³⁺/Tm³⁺ nanoparticles, enabling single-scan FED microscopy using a 940 nm Gaussian beam and an 808 nm donut beam. Images were subtracted on the fly to increase imaging speed. Similarly, in efforts to lower laser powers for use in deep tissue superresolution imaging, a 980 nm laser (5.5 MW/cm²) was used to generate the doughnut beam with detection at 800 nm. Remarkably, the authors were able to image individual NaYF₄:Yb³⁺/Tm³⁺ particles through 93 μ m thick liver tissue with a resolution of better than 50 nm.³³⁸

In ,photon-avalanche NPs (NaY_{0.92}Tm_{0.08}F₄@ NaY_{0.8}Gd_{0.2}F₄) (Figure 24h) were directly excited on a conventional confocal microscope using 1064 nm excitation light. This NP system benefits from weak absorption in the ground state but extremely enhanced absorption in the excited state, with enhancements of order 10000. The extreme nonlinearity of the photon avalanching process, leads to a narrowing of the emission PSF that scales with the inverse square root of the nonlinearity. The authors demonstrated sub-70 nm spatial resolution using a conventional, single beam confocal microscope. Illumination was with a Gaussian profile at 1046 nm, a readily available wavelength with existing laser

technology, and no further computational analysis was required to generate the images, making this a promising SRM imaging method in near-infrared spectral windows.

The giant nonlinear optical response from photoavalanching UCNPs (NaYF₄:40%Yb³⁺/2%Tm³⁺) has also been exploited to obtain super-resolution via excitation of a single donut shaped excitation beam at 980 nm wavelength. The heterochromic response yields two emission states, one resulting from the 4-photon excited state, resulting in 740 nm emission, and another from the a 2-photon excited state, emitting at 800 nm. The emission states are thus chromatically distinguishable. However, because the 2-photon transition saturates much more quickly than the 4-photon transition, the two emission states yield very different PSF patterns. Subtraction of the patterns and deconvolution permitted a spatial resolution to be obtained of 40 nm at a relatively low laser powers (2.75 MW/ cm²).³³⁹

UCNPs have also been demonstrated for SIM imaging.^{340,341} Jin et al. used UCNPs formed of NaYF4:Yb,Tm as probes,³⁴⁰ illuminated at 976 nm in the NIR spectral region. The material upconverts this radiation to emit at 800 nm. An interesting possibility in this context is offered by the highly nonlinear photoresponse of UCNPs. In SIM this can produce harmonics that convey high spatial frequency information on the sample through the microscope. This nonlinear variant of SIM can be realized under low-power excitation conditions with UCNPs $(10^{3}$ W/cm²) improving on the resolution of standard SIM. This was used to image UCNPs with a physical diameter of 40 nm. Two adjacent UCNPs could thus be resolved, with a resolution below 131 nm at an imaging rate of 1 Hz. Moreover, the result was achieved by imaging the UCNPs embedded deep within liver tissue, a promising result, that holds promise for new modes of tracking dynamic detail deep within tissue, with subcellular resolution.

However, UCNPs also have shortcomings. They suffer from poor water-solubility and low fluorescence quantum yields. Capping with hydrophilic ligands or postsynthetic modification is an option to improve their dispersibility in water. Through a

careful core-shell design, their brightness can furthermore be enhanced, although improvements reported so far are modest.^{342,343} The nature of the electronic transitions involved in upconversion systems means that the excitation and emission bands are not tunable and cross sections for stimulated emission are small because the transition is parityforbidden.^{344,345} These factors are not beneficial for STED imaging, and rational design strategies are needed to optimize host matrices, doping types, and concentration of lanthanide ions.^{305,346-348} For biological applications, the UCNP surface needs to be functionalized and again achieving small particle sizes is key for success in a physiologically relevant context. Further desirable characteristics include UCNPs that feature emissions in the NIR II spectral window (1000-1700 nm). This wavelength band offers optimal sample transmission for deep-tissue imaging. Given the fact that UCNPs are highly photostable without photobleaching, which hinders their use for STORM imaging. Finally, excitation powers must be kept low, because sample heating is a problem in the wavelength range relevant for UCNPs.³

3.8. Other NPs/Nanomaterials

In the following section, we cover carbon nanotubes and metal NPs as new classes of materials for which reported research in the context of super-resolution imaging is less established so far compared to the NP classes summarized so far. These materials do offer some promise, however, to progress the field.

Carbon nanotubes, CNTs, are a class of 1D carbon nanomaterials discovered in 1991.^{350–353} CNTs consist of single or multiple coaxial tubes of "rolled up" graphitic layers consisting of sp² carbon atoms. The electronic and optical properties of CNTs are largely dependent on the direction along which the graphitic sheet is rolling with respect to lattice coordinates, the diameter of the nanotube, and the covalent intralayer bonding between the carbon layers. Specifically, the band gaps in semiconducting single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) give rise to a range of PL properties.^{354–357} Absorption spectra lie in the visible (400–750 nm) and NIR-I (750–1000 nm) windows, generating PL emission in the NIR-II window (1000–1700) nm,³⁵⁸ which makes SWCNTs interesting candidates as probes for deep tissue fluorescence imaging.^{359–364}

CNTs have been explored for use in SMLM imaging. The photoblinking behavior of SWNTs was first discovered under controlled acidic environments,³⁶⁵ A long-term intermittency in the fluorescence trace is visible (Figure 25a), which can be ascribed to individually localized protonation and deprotonation reactions. Similarly, by inducing certain reactions on the SWCNT surface, oscillatory fluorescence behavior from a single SWCNT has been observed.³⁶⁷ Specifically, the PL of SWCNTs can be quenched by riboflavin-generated reactive oxygen species (ROS), but it increases with Trolox, a ROS scavenger. Through regulation of the charge transfer process on the surface, this environmentally sensitive fluorescence response can be used as a dynamic probe for reaction conditions at the nanoscale. In another work, SWCNTs exhibited emission fluctuations at pH 6 in a phosphatebuffered saline solution.³⁶⁸ The surface intermittency spots of SWCNTs can be localized to reconstruct an image at 80 nm resolution. With the aid of the RNA-decorated SWCNT, the stochastic chemical kinetics of DNA walkers was revealed. For biological application, ultrasmall nanotubes exhibit an enhanced diffusion ability. Ultrashort SWCNTs (~40 nm

length) were found showing a photoblinking behavior,³⁶⁹ which is probably because of the transient defect charging induced by electrostatic interactions, a resolution below 25 nm was achieved on individual nanotubes. In a recent study, Htoon et al. ascribed the PL intensity fluctuations of SWCNTs to their fluctuation from defect exciton occupancy,³⁶⁶ which originates from random opening of nonradiative quenching sites intercepting the exciton population and/or the fluctuating potential barrier around the defect (Figure 25b). In order to figure out the blinking dynamics of the photoswitchable CNTs, Cognet et al. carried out simulation modeling and found that photoinduced blinking CNTs possessing arbitrary dynamics by adjusting the density of functionalization or illumination. So, the blinking rates of CNTs can be optimized for super-resolving densely labeled structures.³⁷⁰

Metal NPs (Au/Ag) or dye-doped metallic NPs have long been used to exploit strongly localized plasmon resonances (LPR), which offers opportunities to create reporter systems that are useful for bioimaging.³⁷²⁻³⁷⁸ The phenomenon results from the surface plasmon resonance (SPR) effect.^{379,380} When metal NPs are irradiated at specific wavelengths, electrons in the metal start to oscillate in resonance with the incoming field, which is caused by the interaction of conduction electrons near the metal surface with incident photons.^{381,382} The SPR endows metal NPs with unique optical properties including very large absorption and scattering cross sections. The use of small metal NP leads to strongly localized resonances that lead to hugely enhanced near-field amplitudes at the resonance wavelength.³⁸³ Different sizes, shapes, and local dielectric surroundings have a strong effect on the optical behavior of metallic NPs.^{372,384–387} Sivan and co-workers were the first to investigate how LPRs might be exploited in dye-coated gold NPs to improve STED imaging quality,³⁸⁸ in a technique termed nanoparticle-assisted STED nanoscopy (NP-STED). Specifically, there has been an interest to see whether the conjugation of reporter dyes to metal NPs can enhance their properties for STED imaging, such that the intensities required for efficient depletion can be lowered, and thus to improve sample compatibility for practical STED applications.³⁸⁹ Potentially, this would not only permit higher resolution imaging performance for STED, demonstrated for example with dye coated, nanorod shaped, gold NPs, but also the use of lower power, lower cost laser sources for STED imaging.^{391,392} It is thought that thicker metallic shells lead to better NP-STED performance, but this increases size, and therefore limits application potential for biological research. In more recent studies, 20 nm gold nanospheres were coated with a 20 nm shell formed of silica doped with Atto 488 dye for STED imaging (Figure 26a),³⁷¹ yielding a 3.3-fold resolution improvement over diffraction limited confocal microscopy (Figure 26a). The method permitted a reduction in the depletion laser intensity by a factor of 2 compared to standard, dye-based, STED at a similar resolution performance (Figure 26b) with concomitant reductions photobleaching rates by a factor of 3. In addition, the LPR field enhancement does not only modify STED efficiencies but also makes changes to the spontaneous fluorescence behavior.³⁹³ So-called spasers (i.e., surface plasmon laser) nanoprobes have been explored as STED probes.³⁹⁴ They consist of a 20 nm gold core with a 13.5 nm shell of dye-doped silica (Figure 27a). As illustrated in Figure 27b, under pump laser illumination, electrons undergo a triplet-singlet transition between the T₂ and S₀ levels, which couples resonantly to the plasmonic cavity and facilitates



Figure 26. (a) Left: TEM image of the synthesized composite, that is, 20 nm gold nanospheres coated by 20 nm silica shell doped with Atto 488. Right: Confocal image and STED image of the composite. A 488 nm pulsed diode laser was used for excitation. A 595 nm Ti:sapphire laser (80 MHz) was used as STED beam. (b) Resolution comparisons of the synthesized composite between Atto 488 dye under different STED power. Panels a and b were reprinted with the permission from ref 371. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

spaser emission. When a depletion beam is subsequently switched on, electrons in the excited S_1 state deplete rapidly to the S_0 state, which suppresses a population inversion between T_2 and S_0 states and no spaser emission occurs. The work pioneers the use of spasers for STED imaging without spectral crosstalk by exploiting their very narrow emission line widths (3.8 nm) (Figure 27a). A resolution of 74 nm over a signal collection window of 10 nm bandwidth (Figure 27c).

Very recently, a super-resolution method was proposed called scattering saturation STED microscopy (ssSTED). The technique exploits the nonlinear response of backscattered light emitted from 50 nm plasmonic NPs made of silver when illuminated with intense laser light. Although not STED in the strictest sense, there are conceptual parallels. The technique makes use of the fact that the backscattered signal in the fully saturated regime has a donut shaped profile, whereas at low illumination intensity the backscattered light is Gaussian in profile. The authors split the laser into two beams, one at low intensity and temporally modulated, and the other at very high intensity, that is unmodulated. Superimposing the two beams to illuminate the sample and detecting the modulated part in the signal permits the picking out of a central region that is narrowed by the saturated donut, in conceptually analogy to STED, here enabled through the nonlinearity in the plasmonic response of the particles. The authors achieved a resolution of 65 nm ($\lambda/7$) with this approach to resolve the particles.³⁹⁶

Metallic NPs have also been applied for super-resolution techniques other than STED. For example, red emitting Au-NPs conjugated with bovine serum albumin have been used in SMLM super-resolution microscopy.³⁹⁷ On–off duty cycles were calculated to be ~0.008 with an average "on" time of ~200 ms. The reporters could be used to localize lysosome HeLa cells with a resolution of ~59 nm. Pappas et al. proposed that the blinking rates of Rhodamine 110-doped Ag silica NPs²²⁴ can be regulated by changing the medium in which the particles are suspended, with a specific sensitivity to prevailing oxygen concentrations. In nitrogen rich/oxygen starved environments, the duty cycles of the NPs were found to be larger. In another study, cyanine 5 (Cy5) fluorophores were conjugated to the surface of Au NP cores,³⁹⁵ again enabling the labeling of lysosomes. The method could be used for SIM



Figure 27. (a) Emission spectra of fluorescent dyes (dashed red line) and spaser NPs (solid black line). Inset: TEM image of spaser NPs. Scale bar: 100 nm. Excitation: 488 nm. (b) STED principle using spasers. The top panel shows the energy level and population distribution of the spaser NPs in the presence of excitation laser light alone, while in the bottom panel, a depletion laser is also applied. ET: energy transfer. (c) Typical intensity profiles extracted from spaser NPs in STED imaging and confocal imaging (inset). Panels a-c were reproduced with permission from ref 394. Copyright 2020 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. SIM images of Cy5@Au NPs labeled lysosomes in HeLa cells before (d) and during (e) the kiss-and-run process. Panels d and e were reproduced with permission from ref 395. Copyright 2020 Ivyspring International Publisher.

imaging in live HeLa cells and visualized kiss-and-run interactions between organelles (Figure 27d,e), as well as fusion, fission, and mitophagy processes. Despite these achievements, metal NPs or dye-doped metallic NPs are larger (above 40 nm) than carbon dots, quantum dots, and polymer dots (<10 nm) and their development for multiplexed labeling remains immature.

4. FUNCTIONALIZED NANOPARTICLES FOR CELLULAR SUPER-RESOLUTION IMAGING

The surface functionalization of NPs is of importance to develop these systems into effective probes for biological applications. Decorating NPs with ligands that target biological molecules with specificity and sensitivity is key to reach this goal. The large surface-to-volume ratio featured by NPs is a potential advantage in this respect, providing space for multiple attachment sites, but there are further requirements: Depending on the NP type, specific surface chemistries are required to improve water-solubility, stability, and to protect biological systems from toxic effects. Even though the photophysical properties of NPs have been carefully studied, their biological application is still at an early stage. Successful probes require efficient bonding to biomolecules of interest, including proteins, peptides, nucleic acids (i.e., DNA/RNA, oligomers, aptamers), lipids, antibodies, enzymes, etc. directly in the cell. Ideal systems have a high efficiency to traverse the cell membrane and are capable of reaching specific subcellular targets efficiently. General strategies for probe design and labeling for different NP classes are shown in Figure 28. We review these here with particular focus on systems suitable for super-resolution imaging. 43,398

Properties that need to be considered to render NPs useful for bioimaging applications include their water-solubility, biocompatibility, and monodispersity. For nonmetallic materials such as CDs, PDs, NDs, AIE dots, and CNTs, the compatibility with biological systems is usually good and concentrations up to tens of μ g/mL are often tolerated with negligible toxic phenotypes.³⁸³ However, apart from CDs, their water solubility is poor. NDs, for example, aggregate readily in cellular environments.²⁷⁸ Metal-based NPs are usually hydrophobic and also tend to aggregate in aqueous solution. On their own without protective coating, they are often highly toxic to cells.

To address such issues, three approaches are commonly used for surface modification of NPs.⁴⁰⁰ The first strategy improves water solubility through synthesis from water-soluble precursors and use of stabilizing ligands.401 This has been successful for the synthesis of water-soluble QDs, PDs, and modified silica UCNPs. The second method uses postsynthesis ligand exchange, so that water-soluble groups such as -OH, -COOH, thiols,⁴⁰²⁻⁴⁰⁹ polymers,⁴¹⁰⁻⁴¹⁶ or silica⁴¹⁷⁻⁴¹⁹ replace the hydrophobic ligands on the originally hydrophobic surface. The third approach involves the encapsulation of hydrophobic NPs in polymers or in other hydrophilic matrices. The NPs themselves are attached to the matrix by hydrophobic or electrostatic interactions. Amphiphilic polymers are excellent coating materials in this context, because their polymer chains feature hydrophobic subunits for binding with hydrophobic NP cores, $^{420-423}$ while exposing their hydrophilic part to the solvent, thus conferring hydrophilic properties overall to the encapsulated NPs. Silica coatings, $^{424-426}$ liposomes, $^{427-429}$ and other surfactants 430 can also be used for encapsulation.



Figure 28. Strategy for NPs realizing intracellular delivery and targeting through regulating the composition, physical properties, surface chemistry, and targeting ligands. Adapted and reprinted with the permission from the ref 399. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

For conjugation with biological molecules, both covalent and noncovalent bonds are used. In the former case, the binding occurs directly between the molecule of interest and reactive ligands on the NP surface. Covalent bonds can be realized via catalysts and functional cross-linkers. Homo-, hetero-, and trifunctional cross-linkers are available, varying in size and type of cross-bridging available. For water-soluble NPs, carboxylic acid groups are often used, which can be enriched by chemical oxidation and acid treatment using thiogycolic acid (TGA) and dihydrolipoic acid (DHLA).^{105,278,434,435} Carboxylic acid groups can be easily reacted with amino groups of proteins, peptides, DNA, and immunoglobulins via N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) and 1-(3-(dimethylamino)propyl)-3-ethylcarbodiimide (EDC)-catalyzed amidation.⁴³⁶ For example, through EDC catalysis, UCNPs are able to bind to DNA. On conjugation with graphene oxide, this composite can subsequently be used for the detection of zeptomoles of target oligonucleotides in solution.^{437,438} Moreover, amine terminated NPs can be biotinylated by the reaction with biotin NHS or biotin-sulfo NHS ester. Carboxyl and hydroxyl groups are normally found on hydrophilic NPs.

Hydrophobic metal NPs have a high affinity to thiols, reaction with which confers excellent colloidal stability on this NP class.⁴³⁹ Other coupling chemistries are also available, such as maleimide conjugation to free thiols, aniline-catalyzed hydrazine binding with amino groups, and diazonium modification of the phenolic side chain of tyrosine.^{431,432} Specifically, the conjugation of carboxyl, amino, and sulfhydryl

pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 29. Common strategies and reaction mechanisms for the surface functionalization of NPs. Reprinted with permission from refs 431-433. Copyright 2008 Academic Press. Copyright 2009 Wiley-Blackwell. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society.

functionalized NPs to desired biomolecules can be realized based on commonly used bifunctional cross-linking reagents such as EDC, diisopropyl carbodiimide (DIC), *N*-succinimidyl 3-[2-pyridyldithio]-propionate (SPDP), ulfosuccinimidyl-(4-N-maleimidomethyl)cyclohexane-1-carboxylate (sulfo-SMCC) and maleimido succinimide. Figure 29 displays common conjugation strategies for different chemical groups and corresponding reaction mechanisms. The specific conjugation approach to be adopted for labeling a molecule of interest depends on NP surface groups and linker availability. For modified silica NPs, for example, surficial Si–OH does not react efficiently with common linkage groups (carboxyl, amine, etc.). Here, silane linkers, e.g., APTES, can be used for subsequent conjugation with functional molecules via amidation.^{440–442}

Noncovalent binding is mediated by hydrophobic, electrostatic, or high affinity interactions between the NP surface and the biomolecule of interest. The self-assembled NP bioconjugates can often be produced simply by stoichiometric mixing of the two components, which is rapid and facile but depends sensitively the concentrations of NPs and biomolecules to be labeled, and the environment in which they reside.⁴⁴³ Electrostatic interactions between molecules of opposite charge are widely used.⁴⁴⁴ For example, negatively charged QDs with -COOH surface ligands can bind to positively charged proteins. Nucleic acids, on the other hand, can be conjugated to positively charged NPs via their negatively charged phosphate backbone and similar approaches have been taken for other labeling strategies. Despite the simplicity of electrostatic binding, which requires no complex reagents or cross-linkers, there are limitations. Binding via electrostatic interactions is comparatively weak and sensitively

dependent on ionic strength, pH, and the type and magnitude of charges involved in the interaction. $^{445-448}$

A common noncovalent bioconjugation strategy employs the avidin/streptavidin-biotin interaction.^{431,449-453} Here, NPs and biomolecules are ligated with biotin and avidin/ streptavidin, respectively, or vice versa, and a noncovalent, but very strong and specific, avidin/streptavidin-biotin complex forms to yield the conjugate. The method is popular for tethering DNA, proteins, or antibodies onto the surface of NPs and it is much less dependent on environmental factors (pH, etc.) than electrostatic conjugation. The method provides a tool, furthermore, for secondary ligation to the NP surface. For example, if recognition of a biomolecule is not efficient with an NP conjugated with a primary antibody, it is possible instead to achieve recognition in multisteps, e.g., using a biotinylated primary antibody that binds to the biomolecule, and this conjugate is finally bound to the NP via avidin/streptavidinbiotin linkage.454 Secondary interactions such as receptorligand and antibody-ligand interactions have also been frequently investigated using similar approaches. 455,456

The coating of the surfaces of NPs or their encapsulation are important to their functionality. NPs are usually coated with organic (monomeric and polymeric), inorganic (metallic and oxidized), or biomolecular layers. For example, for inorganic NPs, such as QDs,^{457,458} modified silica NPs,⁴⁵⁹ and metallic NPs,⁴⁶⁰ poly ethylene glycol (PEG) is commonly used. PEG coatings confer good biocompatibility and hydrophilicity and stabilize NP suspensions, preventing aggregation and reducing nonspecific binding.^{461,462} PEG coated NPs can be further conjugated to molecules of interest, such as peptides, antibodies or fluorophores. PEGs can act as cross-linkers/ spacers and enable facile conjugation strategies,⁴⁶³ while at same time protecting the hybrid particles from their environment. $^{\rm 464-467}_{\rm }$

Silica coating of NPs prevents oxidation or decomposition of NPs and can reduce their toxicity dramatically.^{468–470} Through the sol–gel method involving the hydrolysis and condensation of alkoxysilane, silanol-terminated surfaces are formed on the NP surface. Functional groups can be introduced during either the condensation process or by postsynthesis surface modification.⁴⁷¹ Commonly, 3-aminopropyl tri(m)-ethoxysilane and 3-mercaptopropyl tri(m)ethoxysilane are used in the condensation reactions, providing primary amines and thiol groups on the NP surface.⁴⁷²

An important encapsulation strategy involves the protein bovine serum albumin (BSA). BSA is a protein present in blood, and BSA modified NPs have improved circulation halflives and are able to target biomolecules of interest.⁴⁷³ As an example, BSA coated onto alkyl-thiol terminated NPs via hydrophobic interactions improved water dispersibility and prolonged fluorescence properties.⁴⁷⁴

The strategies presented here offer great flexibility to manufacture conjugates with various biological functionalities. Linkage of specific peptides and proteins can be used to optimize cell uptake and tissue penetration, to reach cellular target sites, and to improve the specificity and sensitivity with which cellular pathways can be probed and manipulated.⁴⁷⁵ For example, NPs conjugated with cell-penetrating peptides have been shown to exhibit improved uptake and delivery properties,⁴⁷⁶ while so-called homing peptides permit the specific targeting of cells and tissues; particularly interesting for the targeting of tumor cells. The conjugation of peptides depends on NP surface properties. For example, for Au NPs, peptides featuring cysteine can bind directly via the free thiol (–SH) group in the side chain of cysteine.^{477–480}

In addition to direct coupling, peptides can also conjugate with ligands present on the NP surface. For example, EDC/ sulfo-NHS coupling has been employed to modify OEG-capped NPs with peptides. Such systems were demonstrated in studies of endothelial cells in the context of angiogenesis both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.^{479,481–487} As for protein binding, the most common way is to use the avidin/streptavidin–biotin system described.^{488–490} General principles of electrostatic and covalent binding approaches are shown in Figure 30.³⁹⁹

Bioconjugated NPs can be used as labels and tags for the analysis of cellular events, for example to visualize membrane bound receptor proteins, transport of intracellular cargo, delivery and uptake of molecules, the monitoring of organelle and cellular dynamics, and the labeling of tumor cells.⁴⁹²⁻⁴⁹⁶ Understanding the route of NP uptake and fate is vital for these tasks. NPs must be able to traverse the cellular membrane which can be achieved by chemical, biological, and physical delivery mechanisms as illustrated in Figure 31. For chemical/biological delivery, endocytosis is the main transport pathway.⁴⁹⁷⁻⁵⁰⁰ Internalization into cells can be direct or mediated by membrane-embedded receptors. On contact with the cell membrane, hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions cause the plasma membrane to be invaginated, causing the NP to be engulfed in a process called pinocytosis. The NPs can then be internalized (endocytosed) inside vesicles. Receptor-mediated endocytosis occurs NPs conjugated with ligands that bind to membrane bound receptors. This confers specificity and leads to the recruitment of receptors to clathrin through adaptor proteins, and efficient transport into the cell via clathrin-mediated endocytosis.



Figure 30. Methods for the conjugation of NPs with biomolecules. (a) Electrostatic interactions can be used to couple positively charged molecules, e.g., proteins, directly to negatively charged NPs. This method is facile to implement but very dependent on environmental parameters such as ion concentration, pH, etc. (b) Conjugation of biomolecules through introduction of charged ligands on the NP surface permits the labeling with weakly charged NPs. (c) Covalent linking via functional groups (e.g., Cys-SH or Lys-NH₂), here shown for the reaction of thiols in cysteines with a metal NP surface. This is a strategy commonly used for gold NPs. (d) Covalent binding via a bifunctional linker. Panels a–d were reproduced with permission from ref 399. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

Internalized NPs can undergo endocytic recycling (Figure 32) to be returned to the plasma membrane for cellular expulsion or trafficked to organelles including the lysosomes, Golgi, and mitochondria. Motor proteins shuttle vesicles along microtubules within the cell, so that they can be processed, sorted, fused or dissociated, to form endosomes and lysosomes.^{501–504} Entrapment of NPs inside vesicles can be undesirable and mask the function for which they were intended. To overcome this problem, pH-sensitive synthetic peptides or membranous envelopes have been used to coat NPs,⁵⁰⁵ the former to disrupt vesicle membranes and release the NP and the latter fuse with endosomal membranes. NPs have also been coated with polymers that can act as proton scavengers, allowing NPs to escape the endosomes through the so-called "proton-sponge effect". The result is osmotic swelling and rupture of the endosome due to the proton-absorbing polymer, and thus escape of the NP.⁵⁰⁶⁻⁵⁰⁸ In another example, QDs were conjugated with cell penetrating peptides to be entrapped by vesicles and subsequent transport to the microtubule-organizing center, situated in the perinuclear region of the cell.509

The impact of NPs on cellular homeostasis was investigated in several studies.^{511–514} Without postfunctionalization, the physical properties of the NPs themselves affect their fate. All of their composition, size, surface groups, charge, etc. influence uptake, transportation, and accumulation inside the cell.^{513,515–517} CDs, for example, are inherently soluble in water and are highly compatible with biological systems. They can endocytose into a cell without further modification, and this property was exploited in their use as probes for SOFI imaging in cells.¹⁰⁷ Blue emitting CDs thus delivered to the cells were seen to penetrate the nuclear membrane and localized in the nucleus, while green CDs accumulated



Figure 31. Approaches for NPs cellular internalization, including the chemical/biological delivery and physical delivery. Adapted with permission from ref 491. Copyright 2010 Royal Society of Chemistry.



Abbreviations: ERC, endocytic recycling compartment; ER, endoplastic reticulum; MTOC, microtubule-organizing centre; MVB, multivesicular bodies;

Figure 32. Intracellular transport pathways of NPs. In the endocytic pathways, NPs are transported along the endolysosomal network within vesicles with the help of motor proteins and cytoskeletal structures. NPs inside the vesicles can either undergo recycling and alternatively cellular expulsion or trafficking to the organelles including the lysosomes, Golgi, and mitochondria. Reprinted with permission from ref 510. Copyright 2011 Royal Society of Chemistry.

preferentially in endosomes and lysosomes. This differential behavior was attributed to differences in surface charge or chemical groups. Other super-resolution imaging studies of various CDs found them to accumulate in the cytoplasm,^{113,518} and to associate to mitochondria.¹¹⁵ In the case of QDs, positively charged QDs were found to accumulate in the nucleus, while negatively charged QDs remained in the cytoplasm.⁵¹⁹ When QDs were capped with ligands such as thiols (DHLA, TGA, D-penicillamine), nonspecific binding to the membranes of HeLa, neuroblastoma, monocytic, and NIH 3T3 fibroblast cells were reported.^{520–522} Although coatings can be designed to offer differential affinity for adhesion to particular membrane types, they are often nonspecific.^{189,523}

For example, QDs conjugated with polymers,^{507,524} liposomes,^{428,525} and lipids⁵²⁶ were seen to undergo nonspecific endocytosis in different cell types. To facilitate the efficient internalization of NPs into cells, QDs modified with polymer ligands (e.g., polyethylene glycol (PEG)) and then conjugated with specific fusion protein can be transported into the nuclei of HeLa cells. For CDs, zwitterionic surface functionalization imparts good colloidal stability and was seen to cause CDs to translocate from cytoplasm to the nucleus.⁵²⁷ Decoration of CDs with cell-penetrating peptides has also been used as coatings for the intracellular delivery of CDs.⁵²⁸ Peptides such as TAT⁴⁹² and calcitonin⁵²⁹ deliver CDs to the cytosol, and incorporation of nuclear localization signals permit the subsequent guidance to the nucleus. 530,531

Unlike small molecular dyes with selectivity for cellular substructures, for instance, DAPI, Mitotracker, and Lysotracker, which can penetrate cell membranes by passive diffusion, the much larger size of NPs requires active transport pathways, such as receptor-mediated and ligand-receptormediated endocytosis for cellular uptake. QDs have been functionalized with the epidermal growth factor (EGF), which targets the EGF receptor (EGFR) on the cell membrane.¹³⁵ Wang et al. formed NPs from a mixture of transferrin protein and Atto647N dye.²²⁹ On mixing these components and cross-linking with glutaraldehyde, NPs were obtained that are readily transported into cells. Because transferrin itself targets transferrin-receptor proteins on the cell surface, the dye NPs were readily taken up by endocytosis and could be imaged by STED super-resolution imaging.

Physical methods have also been employed to provide transport pathways for NPs. Electroporation can be used to produce temporary hydrophilic pores in a cell membrane, for example used to transfer BSA-conjugated NDs into cells.²⁷⁸ With STED, individual cytosolic NDs were identifiable in cells distinguishable from particle aggregates trapped in endosomes. Photoporation is conceptually similar, but both techniques are invasive and lead to significant cell death, and they are usually less efficient than endocytosis-mediated uptake. However, an advantage is that using localized fields, specific locations in tissue or cell cultures can be targeted with physical techniques, whereas endocytosis-mediated processes affect the whole cell population.

Specific targeting of structures and subcellular compartment of interest is feasible through the use of functionalized NPs.^{531,532} In another investigation, through the electrostatic attraction, negative CDs were used to label the KI4 peptide self-assemblies, which contain numerous positive amino groups on their surface, enabling the high-density loading of CDs onto the assemblies. STORM permits the distribution of CDstained peptide self-assemblies to be visualized and ultrastructural features were resolved.¹¹¹ For visualizing subcellular compartments, the biotin-streptavidin recognition gains large popularity among super-resolution techniques.⁵³³ Thus, biotinylated antibodies and streptavidin-conjugated NPs are frequently used for efficient targeting. The most common example of this approach is the immunostaining of microtubules in cells with primary antibodies and streptavidin-conjugated NPs.^{27,136,150,210} In one example, the performance of STED, SIM, and SOFI imaging of a microtubule network was compared by staining the cells with streptavidin conjugates of QDs. In addition, the authors were able to image the distributions of membrane proteins in the cell. For instance, G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) clusters are protein aggregates with sizes in the nanometer range, which cannot be resolved by conventional microscopy. The authors labeled the chemokine receptor CCR3 with primary antibodies and CD-stained secondary antibodies. The latter permitted superresolution imaging of receptor assemblies.¹

5. GENERAL STRATEGIES TO ENHANCE THE PERFORMANCE OF NANOPARTICLES FOR BIOLOGICAL SUPER-RESOLUTION IMAGING

The specific discussion around the different NP classes discussed so far permits us to draw some general conclusions

on the applicability and promise of NPs for super-resolution imaging.

CDs and QDs offer excellent photostability and brightness, which favors their use for STED and SIM imaging applications. However, the high duty cycles of their photoemission do not make them as promising for use in SMLM applications. Progress here requires surface engineering or the construction of hybrid systems to lower the duty cycles. For example, nitrogen doping of CDs can lower duty cycles to below 0.3%. Similarly, the blinking of QDs can be controlled in hybrid core—shell systems, where excitation is followed energy transfer to an electron acceptor. Much more work is needed to render these systems into practical probes for SMLM imaging applications.

PDs and modified silica NPs, however, are more flexible in this regard and they improve both the photostability and photoblinking characteristics of their guest fluorophores (e.g., organic dyes, polymers). These advantages are offset, however, by the vastly increased size of these NP systems compared to the fluorophores on their own, and this poses limitations for biological use.

On the one hand, AIE dots have shown excellent potential for STED imaging, because of their large Stokes shifts and saturation behavior. Some AIEs are photoactivatable; there is thus some promise for future developments in SMLM imaging. NDs, on the other hand, are extremely photostable with excellent PLQYs. They offer the best resolution for STED imaging and SMLM is in principle possible, through the introduction of surface defects. As for AIEs, the use of NDs is in SMLM is in its infancy. A disadvantage in biology is again the problem of functionalizing ND probes for targeted delivery. UCNPs are other highly photostable systems, but photoblinking has not been reported yet for these systems.

How can the performance of NPs be improved for superresolution imaging? In what follows, we consider some general potential strategies for the various NP classes.

For CDs and QDs, surface states play a dominant role in their photoblinking and photoswitching behavior. For CDs, the current consensus is that the emission intermittency comes from surface groups that produce energy wells for accepting the ejected electrons. The ensuing electron transfer process leads to fluorescent on- and off-states. The blinking characteristic of CDs can thus be adjusted through rational surface design, e.g., addition of electron accepting and donating agents. In the case of QDs, nonradiative recombination via surface traps or charging-induced Auger recombination severely affects the blinking behavior. The decrease of on-to-off duty cycles could be achieved via core passivation using thicker shell materials, the grafting of ligands onto the QD surface, contacting QDs with other NPs, electrostatic gating, the construction of hybrid blinking systems, and irradiation with ultrafast mid-infrared (MIR) pulses. For STED imaging, CDs and QDs could be improved, if multiphoton emission is effectively suppressed under illumination with high-power depletion lasers. On the one hand, suppressing background signal from the STED laser in the first place is, of course, preferential to reported methods requiring background subtraction in a postprocessing step. On the other hand, future CDs or QDs should be designed to feature narrow excitation spectra, emission at long wavelengths, and improved PLQYs. For CDs, promising avenues here are doping with elements (N, S, F, and so on) and incorporation of aromatic

structures; for QDs, approaches include change of surface ligands and core size.

Developments for PDs for STED imaging include improvement of their photostability and the opportunity for multicolor imaging. The latter requires engineering of the particle surface and doping the PDs with different semiconducting polymers or fluorescent dyes. Spectral characteristics are governed by particle size, which is challenging to control in PD synthesis. The nanoprecipitation method enables small sizes to be obtained, and PDs thus produced showed improved photoblinking and emission intermittency, potentially taking their use beyond STED applications. Hole palarons may be exploited to further manipulate their blinking behavior. Doping of silica NPs may be similarly used to improve brightness and photoblinking.

AIE dots are usually hydrophobic. Their modification with functional groups or coating with hydrophilic matrices will enable water-soluble AIE dots to be obtained for bioimaging applications. Their optical performances are largely dependent on the AIE luminogens (AIEgens). Linking different AIE moieties can lead to red-shifted emission.⁵³⁴ In addition, the donor–acceptor structure constructed by electron donating (e.g., methoxy) or withdrawing (e.g., benzothiadiazole, benzobisthiadiazole) units in AIE dots can result photo-luminescence systems that are tunable from the visible to the NIR spectral regions.⁵³⁵

Nanodiamonds feature very high photostability and brightness, even in the deep red or NIR regions. Their synthesis requires high-temperature and high-pressure methods. Heating/annealing cycles during periods of irradiation can result in a higher density of NV centers, which improves the brightness. The photoluminescence spectrum in NDs largely depends on the annealing temperature of the irradiated particles. Despite their superlative optical properties, a huge drawback is their size, and nanodiamonds with sizes less than 30 nm have not yet been achieved. The manufacturing process is complex and obtaining materials with uniformly distributed NV centers is difficult to achieve in practice.⁵³⁶ For bioimaging, surface functionalization is essential. Both noncovalent and covalent conjugation is possible with NDs, but precise cellular targeting remains a challenge with these large systems.

In the synthesis of UCNPs, hydro(solvo)thermal and thermal decomposition methods enable the preparation particles with controllable crystalline phase, size, and morphology. The coprecipitation approach is superior in obtaining high-purity and precise stoichiometric UCNPs and surfactants can be introduced to improve solubility functionalize the surface. Dopants can again be used to vary photoluminescence characteristics. Other approaches, such as host lattice manipulation, surface passivation, surface plasmon coupling, photonic crystal engineering, combination with other moieties for the facilitation of energy transfer, and construction of inorganic-organic hybrid systems, are all interesting strategies to enhance on current systems.⁵⁵ For biological imaging, using Nd³⁺-sensitized or dye-sensitized UCNPs irradiated at 800 nm can address the issue of overheating under 980 nm illumination.^{537,538} Especially for STED applications, this is important. The overheating effect caused by the high-density depletion laser might be alleviated by an energy transfer or photoavalanche mechanism requiring lower saturation intensities. Exciting strategies also include the integration of UCNPs into photonic bandgap structures, e.g., via self-assembly of UCNP containing building blocks into

photonic crystal structures. It was demonstrated with such an approach that photoluminescence lifetimes can be dramatically shortened. This would improve the imaging speed in STED applications.^{539,540}

6. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPERCTIVES

The emergence of optical super-resolution methods has revolutionized the field of biological imaging. Key biological discoveries were enabled both by a better understanding of the physical principles underlying these methods, and, crucially also, through the availability of better reporter systems whose properties are matched to specific imaging techniques.

High-resolution fluorescence imaging is always a compromise among image resolution, speed of acquisition, and compatibility with the biological system under investigation. Observing fast cellular processes such as organelle dynamics and transport at super-resolution remains to be a huge challenge in the field. The ideal probe needs to emit a maximal number of photons for minimal excitation fluxes during the observation window. From a biological perspective, the reporter system must be both specific to detect the entity one desires to study, and nonintrusive to not perturb the biological system under study.

Fluorescent reporters in use for super-resolution imaging are traditionally based either on organic dyes, or fluorescent proteins. Both systems have their shortcomings. While the former is superior in terms of brightness, the biological flexibility is limited, and a gamut of efficient probes is not available for all super-resolution variants. Fluorescent proteins on the other hand are outstanding from a biological perspective but their photophysical properties are far from optimal.

The ideal probe should possess a small size, exceptional brightness, and feature a low toxicity and high photostability. The probes should offer a good range of excitation and emission bands that enable multiple species to be differentiated simultaneously. Furthermore, photoswitching and blinking properties should be controllable to match the super-resolution method for which the reporter is intended.

In this review, we have surveyed the current state of the art of fluorescent nanoparticle systems and their optimization for biological super-resolution imaging. Confinement effects and the high surface-to-volume ratio of NPs permit design options that are not available with traditional reporter systems. The field is at the interface of materials science, chemistry, physics, and the biological sciences, and huge progress has been made in optimizing photophysical and functional properties of NP systems to realize specific imaging tasks at super-resolution.

We have focused this review primarily on the application in the biological sciences, but there is ample opportunity also for application in nonbiological systems. For example, the location and number of nitrogen vacancies can be measured with nanometer resolution in NP systems.²⁷⁹ The distribution of functional ligands on the NP surface can, on the other hand, be mapped and quantified by PAINT or DNA-PAINT.^{541,542} There are also opportunities to study materials and processes that are too delicate to be subjected to nonoptical microscopy techniques,⁵⁴³ or where no contrast can be achieved between different functional domains. Examples include block copolymer assembly processes⁵⁴⁴ or phase transition behavior and hydrogel formation.^{545,546}

In biological systems, the superior brightness of NP systems and their photostability permits the tracking of subcellular entities, or labeled molecules over extended periods of time with high resolution. However, the field is still in its infancy, and much of the effort so far has been placed on the development of new NP materials and their photophysical characterization. A majority of work is still proof of principle in nature, at the technological appraisal stage. Progress in the field now requires biological application and not just proof of concept study. For this to happen, material chemists need to work side by side with biologists. Bright and highly specific probes would greatly enhance the arsenal of bioimaging tools available and enable the biologist to study subcellular phenomena in the context of health and disease. Indeed, the further advances in the field of super-resolution imaging are more likely to stem from advances in probe technologies than from optical physics.

There is excellent potential. The large surface area of NPs permits efficient coupling chemistries to be carried out, and the brightness and flexibility of material choice permit functional reporters to be designed that are optimal for a given application. Anchoring NPs to the membranes of cellular organelles such as the ER, for example, would permit the imaging of organelle peristalsis over hours and perhaps longer,⁵⁴⁷ at better resolution than has so far been possible, perhaps shedding light on such intriguing, recently discovered phenomena. If NP probes were designed with a capability to cross into the intraluminal space of the ER, a better understanding of molecular transport might ensue. This in turn might shed light on how the ER manages to distribute the products it synthesizes throughout the cell volume so efficiently, despite the fact that there is no known active transport machinery within its luminal space.⁹ Designing probes specifically for requisite biological experiments offers outstanding opportunities for high impact research.

Other NP enabled SRM modalities are on the horizon. For example, a variant of PAINT can be realized through electrostatic coupling or hydrophobic interactions between fluorophore and the sample. This is in contrast to DNA-PAINT, which utilizes transient oligonucleotide hybridization to enable the method.⁵⁴⁸ Using NPs as labels is rarely reported in these two techniques. Existing methods make use of fluorescent proteins, antibodies, and organic dyes and there are limitations. Multicolor imaging is difficult with these systems.⁵⁴⁹ Another problem for DNA-PAINT is the low acquisition speed, which is limited by the binding of the imager strand to its target. Strategies, such as the use of FRET, have been used to increase imaging speed without increasing background noise;^{550,551} however, this comes at the cost photobleaching for dyes such as Atto447N.551 NPs are superior in terms of photostability and chemical flexibility and multicolour imaging applications are thinkable, because of the narrow excitation and emission bands some systems offer. Technical challenges again relate to size and functionalization of NPs to be compatible with biological end use.

There is potential also to use NPs as catalysts for biochemical reactions. For example, the surface of NPs could be used to control rates of protein folding, aggregation, etc. either in efforts to gain a better understanding of these phenomena, or to find modes for therapeutic intervention. Theragnostic approaches are conceivable with functionalized NPs targeting specific subcellular domains to deliver functional molecules conjugated to their surface. Luminescence from the NP thus permits cargo tracking, at super-resolution, and its delivery elicits a functional response in the cell. The approach could be used to target cancerous tissue, for example. Photophysical interventions are also conceivable, e.g., via particle heating and interaction with local tissue.

Finally, fluorescent NPs may enable completely new modalities for correlative imaging. They could be designed as dual contrast probes for correlative EM and light microscopy or used as robust optical probes for samples subjected to AFM, electrophysiological, or mass spectrometric measurements. Computation will play a major role in such efforts, to deal with extremely rich and large data sets generated by such methods. There are huge challenges ahead, and therefore opportunities, for interdisciplinary science in the field.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

- Bingfu Lei Key Laboratory for Biobased Materials and Energy of Ministry of Education, College of Materials and Energy, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou 510642, People's Republic of China; ◎ orcid.org/0000-0002-6634-0388; Email: tleibf@scau.edu.cn
- Clemens F. Kaminski Department of Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB3 0AS, United Kingdom; Occid.org/0000-0002-5194-0962; Email: cfk23@cam.ac.uk

Authors

- Wei Li Key Laboratory for Biobased Materials and Energy of Ministry of Education, College of Materials and Energy, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou 510642, People's Republic of China; Department of Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB3 0AS, United Kingdom
- Gabriele S. Kaminski Schierle Department of Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB3 0AS, United Kingdom; Occid.org/0000-0002-1843-2202
- Yingliang Liu Key Laboratory for Biobased Materials and Energy of Ministry of Education, College of Materials and Energy, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou 510642, People's Republic of China; ◎ orcid.org/0000-0003-1930-0700

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00050

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Wei Li received her Ph.D. degree from the College of Materials and Energy at South China Agricultural University in 2020. During 2019– 2020, she was a CSC (Chinese Scholar Council) exchange student studying nanoparticle bioimaging in the group of Clemens F. Kaminski at the University of Cambridge. She is currently an associate professor at South China Agricultural University. Her research interests are nanoparticles for bioimaging and plant applications.

Gabriele S. Kaminski Schierle is a professor of Molecular Neuroscience at the University of Cambridge, UK, where she leads the Molecular Neuroscience group. The group uses optical techniques to study the molecular causes underlying neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's. She is the director of MPhil graduate programme in Biotechnology at the Department of Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology and senior fellow of the UK higher education academy. Her current research is focussed on the development of transparent microelectrode arrays that are compatible with super-resolution imaging methods for concomitant analysis of neuronal function and amyloid formation, in relation to neurodegenerative diseases.

Bingfu Lei earned his Ph.D degree in Condensed Matter Physics at Changchun Institute of Optics, Fine Mechanics and Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences. After postdoctoral studies supported by Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) at the Osaka University, he became an associate professor at the Jinan University. Now he is a professor at the College of Materials and Energy, South China Agricultural University, and also is the associate dean of the college. His research interests are preparation of inorganic nonmetallic materials, organic/inorganic hybrid materials and analysis of rare earth functional materials and their optoelectronic application.

Yingliang Liu graduated from Sun Yat-Sen University in 1994, receiving his Ph.D. degree in Chemistry. Following 18 years as an associate professor and then professor, also as director of the Chemistry department of Jinan University, he moved to South China Agricultural University in 2012, worked as the associate dean of College of Materials and Energy, director of Guangdong Optical Agricultural Engineering Technology Research Center, and director of Guangzhou Key Laboratory of Optical Agriculture. His research interests mainly focus on the preparation and characterization of fluorescent phosphors and nanoparticles and the study of their luminescent properties and mechanisms for different applications in cells and plants.

Clemens Kaminski is a professor of Chemical Physics at the University of Cambridge, UK, where he leads the Laser Analytics group. The group specializes in the development of optical imaging techniques for the study of molecular mechanisms in health and disease. He currently serves as head of the Department of Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology at the University of Cambridge and directs the EPSRC Centre for Doctoral Training for Sensor Technologies for a Healthy and Sustainable Future. He is a fellow of the Optical Society of America, the Royal Society of Chemistry, and the Institute of Physics. Current research includes the development of live cell super-resolution imaging tools and studies of molecular self-assembly processes in biological systems.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

C.F.K. acknowledges funding from the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council, EPSRC (grants EP/ L015889/1 and EP/H018301/1), the Wellcome Trust (grants 3-3249/Z/16/Z and 089703/Z/09/Z), and the UK Medical Research Council, MRC (grants MR/K015850/1 and MR/ K02292X/1), MedImmune, and Infinitus (China) Ltd. W.L. acknowledges financial support from China Scholarship Council, the National Natural Science Foundations of China (Youth Science Foundation Project, Grant No. 52102042), Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (2022A1515010452), and Macau Yong Scholars Program.

ABBREVIATIONS

NP	nanoparticle
SRM	super-resolution microscopy
EM	electron microscopy
SMLM	single-molecule localization microscopy
STED	stimulated emission depletion micros-
	сору

s.acs.org/CR	Review
GSD	ground state depletion microscopy
000	fluorescence photoactivated localization
	microscopy/photoactivated localization
FPALM/PALM	microscopy
dSTORM/STORM	
,	microscopy/stochastic optical recon-
	struction microscopy
SIM	structured illumination microscopy
SSIM	saturated structured-illumination micros-
	сору
SOFI	super-resolution optical fluctuation mi-
	croscopy
MINFLUX	minimal emission fluxes
CLSM	confocal laser scanning microscopy
SIM	structured illumination microscopy
FED	fluorescence emission difference
PAINT	points accumulation for imaging in
DGE	nanoscale topography
PSF	point spread function
PLQY CD	photoluminescence quantum yield carbon dot
QD PD	quantum dot polymer dot
AIE	aggregation-induced emission
ND	nanodiamond
UCNP	upconversion nanoparticle
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
PL	photoluminescence
SRRF	super-resolution radial fluctuation mi-
	croscopy
fwhm	full width at half-maximum
DLV	diffraction limited volume
EGFP	epidermal growth factor receptors
ICA	independent component analysis
CV	crystal violet
JT-SOFI	joint-tagging SOFI
MIR	mid-infrared
FONP	fluorescent organic nanoparticle
FRET	Förster resonance energy transfer
PS	polystyrene
STEDD	stimulated emission double depletion
ATE	microscopy
AIEgens	AIE luminogens
ACQ TPE	aggregation-caused quenching tetraphenylethylene
TTF	2, 3 - b i s (4 - (ph e n y l (4 - (1, 2, 2 -
1 11	triphenylvinyl)phenyl)amino)phenyl) fu-
	maronitrile
TPF	two-photon fluorescence
NV	nitrogen-vacancy
ESA	excited state absorption
ETU	energy transfer upconversion
PA	photon avalanche
SWCNT	single-walled carbon nanotube
ROS	reactive oxygen species
LPR	localized plasmon resonance
SPR	surface plasmon resonance
ssSTED	scattering saturation STED microscopy
Cy5	cyanine 5
TGA	thiogycolic acid
DHLA	dihydrolipoic acid
NHS	N-hydroxysuccinimide

EDC	1-(3-(dimethylamino)propyl)-3-ethylcar-
	bodiimide
DIC	diisopropyl carbodiimide
SPDP	N-succinimidyl 3-[2-pyridyldithio]-propi-
	onate
sulfo-SMCC	sulfosuccinimidyl-(4-N-
	maleimidomethyl)cyclohexane-1-carbox-
	ylate
PEG	polyethylene glycol
PLGA	poly(lactic- <i>co</i> -glycolic acid)
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	EGF receptor
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor

REFERENCES

(1) Abbe, E. Beiträge zur Theorie des Mikroskops und der mikroskopischen Wahrnehmung. *Archiv für mikroskopische Anatomie* **1873**, *9*, 413–468.

(2) Sigal, Y. M.; Zhou, R.; Zhuang, X. Visualizing and discovering cellular structures with super-resolution microscopy. *Science* 2018, 361, 880–887.

(3) Pennacchietti, F.; Serebrovskaya, E. O.; Faro, A. R.; Shemyakina, I. I.; Bozhanova, N. G.; Kotlobay, A. A.; Gurskaya, N. G.; Bodén, A.; Dreier, J.; Chudakov, D. M.; et al. Fast reversibly photoswitching red fluorescent proteins for live-cell RESOLFT nanoscopy. *Nat. Methods* **2018**, *15*, 601–604.

(4) Gwosch, K. C.; Pape, J. K.; Balzarotti, F.; Hoess, P.; Ellenberg, J.; Ries, J.; Hell, S. W. MINFLUX nanoscopy delivers 3D multicolor nanometer resolution in cells. *Nat. Methods* **2020**, *17*, 217–224.

(5) Sauer, M.; Heilemann, M. Single-molecule localization microscopy in eukaryotes. *Chem. Rev.* 2017, *117*, 7478–7509.

(6) Fornasiero, E. F.; Opazo, F. Super-resolution imaging for cell biologists: concepts, applications, current challenges and developments. *Bioessays* **2015**, *37*, 436–451.

(7) Turkowyd, B.; Virant, D.; Endesfelder, U. From single molecules to life: microscopy at the nanoscale. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2016**, *408*, 6885–6911.

(8) Sahl, S. J.; Hell, S. W.; Jakobs, S. Fluorescence nanoscopy in cell biology. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2017**, *18*, 685–701.

(9) Lu, M.; van Tartwijk, F. W.; Lin, J. Q.; Nijenhuis, W.; Parutto, P.; Fantham, M.; Christensen, C. N.; Avezov, E.; Holt, C. E.; Tunnacliffe, A.; Holcman, D.; Kapitein, L.; Schierle, G. S. K.; Kaminski, C. F. The structure and global distribution of the endoplasmic reticulum network are actively regulated by lysosomes. *Sci. Adv.* **2020**, *6*, No. eabc7209.

(10) Betzig, E.; Hell, S. W.; Moerner, W. E. The nobel prize in chemistry 2014. *Nobel Media AB*; The Nobel Foundation, 2014.

(11) Schermelleh, L.; Ferrand, A.; Huser, T.; Eggeling, C.; Sauer, M.; Biehlmaier, O.; Drummen, G. P. Super-resolution microscopy demystified. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2019**, *21*, 72–84.

(12) Wu, Y.; Shroff, H. Faster, sharper, and deeper: structured illumination microscopy for biological imaging. *Nat. Methods* **2018**, *15*, 1011–1019.

(13) Hell, S. W.; Wichmann, J. Breaking the diffraction resolution limit by stimulated emission: stimulated-emission-depletion fluorescence microscopy. *Opt. Lett.* **1994**, *19*, 780–782.

(14) Willig, K. I.; Rizzoli, S. O.; Westphal, V.; Jahn, R.; Hell, S. W. STED microscopy reveals that synaptotagmin remains clustered after synaptic vesicle exocytosis. *Nature* **2006**, *440*, 935–939.

(15) Klar, T. A.; Hell, S. W. Subdiffraction resolution in far-field fluorescence microscopy. *Opt. Lett.* **1999**, *24*, 954–956.

(16) Blom, H.; Widengren, J. Stimulated emission depletion microscopy. *Chem. Rev.* 2017, 117, 7377-7427.

(17) Vicidomini, G.; Bianchini, P.; Diaspro, A. STED super-resolved microscopy. *Nat. Methods* **2018**, *15*, 173–182.

(18) Hell, S. W.; Kroug, M. Ground-state-depletion fluorscence microscopy: A concept for breaking the diffraction resolution limit. *Appl. Phys. B: Laser Opt.* **1995**, *60*, 495–497.

(19) Bretschneider, S.; Eggeling, C.; Hell, S. W. Breaking the diffraction barrier in fluorescence microscopy by optical shelving. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *98*, 218103.

(20) Chong, S.; Min, W.; Xie, X. S. Ground-state depletion microscopy: detection sensitivity of single-molecule optical absorption at room temperature. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2010**, *1*, 3316–3322.

(21) Patterson, G.; Davidson, M.; Manley, S.; Lippincott-Schwartz, J. Superresolution imaging using single-molecule localization. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2010**, *61*, 345–367.

(22) Allen, J. R.; Ross, S. T.; Davidson, M. W. Single molecule localization microscopy for superresolution. J. Opt. 2013, 15, 094001.

(23) Betzig, E.; Patterson, G. H.; Sougrat, R.; Lindwasser, O. W.; Olenych, S.; Bonifacino, J. S.; Davidson, M. W.; Lippincott-Schwartz, J.; Hess, H. F. Imaging intracellular fluorescent proteins at nanometer resolution. *Science* **2006**, *313*, 1642–1645.

(24) Hess, S. T.; Girirajan, T. P.; Mason, M. D. Ultra-high resolution imaging by fluorescence photoactivation localization microscopy. *Biophys. J.* **2006**, *91*, 4258–4272.

(25) Rust, M. J.; Bates, M.; Zhuang, X. Sub-diffraction-limit imaging by stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (STORM). *Nat. Methods* **2006**, *3*, 793–796.

(26) Egner, A.; Geisler, C.; von Middendorff, C.; Bock, H.; Wenzel, D.; Medda, R.; Andresen, M.; Stiel, A. C.; Jakobs, S.; Eggeling, C.; Schonle, A.; Hell, S. W. Fluorescence nanoscopy in whole cells by asynchronous localization of photoswitching emitters. *Biophys. J.* **2007**, *93*, 3285–3290.

(27) Dertinger, T.; Colyer, R.; Iyer, G.; Weiss, S.; Enderlein, J. Fast, background-free, 3D super-resolution optical fluctuation imaging (SOFI). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2009**, *106*, 22287–22292.

(28) Zhang, X.; Chen, X.; Zeng, Z.; Zhang, M.; Sun, Y.; Xi, P.; Peng, J.; Xu, P. Development of a reversibly switchable fluorescent protein for super-resolution optical fluctuation imaging (SOFI). *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 2659–2667.

(29) Grußmayer, K. S.; Geissbuehler, S.; Descloux, A.; Lukes, T.; Leutenegger, M.; Radenovic, A.; Lasser, T. Spectral cross-cumulants for multicolor super-resolved SOFI imaging. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 1–8.

(30) Dertinger, T.; Colyer, R.; Vogel, R.; Heilemann, M.; Sauer, M.; Enderlein, J.; Weiss, S. In *Nano-Biotechnology for Biomedical and Diagnostic Research*; Springer: Dordrecht, 2012; Vol. 733, pp 17–21.

(31) Saxena, M.; Eluru, G.; Gorthi, S. S. Structured illumination microscopy. *Adv. Opt. Photon.* **2015**, *7*, 241–275.

(32) Gustafsson, M. G. Surpassing the lateral resolution limit by a factor of two using structured illumination microscopy. *J. Microsc.* **2000**, *198*, 82–87.

(33) Kner, P.; Chhun, B. B.; Griffis, E. R.; Winoto, L.; Gustafsson, M. G. Super-resolution video microscopy of live cells by structured illumination. *Nat. Methods* **2009**, *6*, 339–342.

(34) Heintzmann, R.; Jovin, T. M.; Cremer, C. Saturated patterned excitation microscopy-a concept for optical resolution improvement. *J. Opt. Soc. Am. A* **2002**, *19*, 1599–1609.

(35) Gustafsson, M. G. Nonlinear structured-illumination microscopy: wide-field fluorescence imaging with theoretically unlimited resolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2005**, *102*, 13081–13086.

(36) Eilers, Y.; Ta, H.; Gwosch, K. C.; Balzarotti, F.; Hell, S. W. MINFLUX monitors rapid molecular jumps with superior spatiotemporal resolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2018**, *115*, 6117–6122.

(37) Betzig, E. Single molecules, cells, and super-resolution optics (Nobel Lecture). *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 8034–8053.

(38) Komis, G.; Mistrik, M.; Šamajová, O.; Ovečka, M.; Bartek, J.; Šamaj, J. Superresolution live imaging of plant cells using structured illumination microscopy. *Nat. Protoc.* **2015**, *10*, 1248–1263.

(39) Kim, S.; Lim, Y. T.; Soltesz, E. G; De Grand, A. M; Lee, J.; Nakayama, A.; Parker, J A.; Mihaljevic, T.; Laurence, R. G; Dor, D. M; Cohn, L. H; Bawendi, M. G; Frangioni, J. V Near-infrared fluorescent type II quantum dots for sentinel lymph node mapping. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2004**, *22*, 93–97.

(40) Zheng, Q.; Ohulchanskyy, T. Y.; Sahoo, Y.; Prasad, P. N. Water-dispersible polymeric structure co-encapsulating a novel hexaperi-hexabenzocoronene core containing chromophore with enhanced two-photon absorption and magnetic nanoparticles for magnetically guided two-photon cellular imaging. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2007, 111, 16846–16851.

(41) Hewakuruppu, Y. L.; Dombrovsky, L. A.; Chen, C.; Timchenko, V.; Jiang, X.; Baek, S.; Taylor, R. A. Plasmonic "pumpprobe" method to study semi-transparent nanofluids. *Appl. Opt.* **2013**, *52*, 6041–6050.

(42) Choquet, D.; Sainlos, M.; Sibarita, J.-B. Advanced imaging and labelling methods to decipher brain cell organization and function. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2021**, *22*, 237–255.

(43) Fernández-Suárez, M.; Ting, A. Y. Fluorescent probes for superresolution imaging in living cells. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2008**, *9*, 929–943.

(44) Wang, L.; Frei, M. S.; Salim, A.; Johnsson, K. Small-molecule fluorescent probes for live-cell super-resolution microscopy. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 2770–2781.

(45) Kozma, E.; Kele, P. Fluorogenic probes for super-resolution microscopy. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2019, 17, 215-233.

(46) Yang, Z.; Sharma, A.; Qi, J.; Peng, X.; Lee, D. Y.; Hu, R.; Lin, D.; Qu, J.; Kim, J. S. Super-resolution fluorescent materials: an insight into design and bioimaging applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2016**, *45*, 4651–4667.

(47) Dempsey, G. T.; Vaughan, J. C.; Chen, K. H.; Bates, M.; Zhuang, X. Evaluation of fluorophores for optimal performance in localization-based super-resolution imaging. *Nat. Methods* **2011**, *8*, 1027–1036.

(48) Kaufmann, R.; Schellenberger, P.; Seiradake, E.; Dobbie, I. M.; Jones, E. Y.; Davis, I.; Hagen, C.; Grünewald, K. Super-resolution microscopy using standard fluorescent proteins in intact cells under cryo-conditions. *Nano Lett.* **2014**, *14*, 4171–4175.

(49) Ha, T.; Tinnefeld, P. Photophysics of fluorescent probes for single-molecule biophysics and super-resolution imaging. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2012**, *63*, 595–617.

(50) Erdmann, R. S.; Baguley, S. W.; Richens, J. H.; Wissner, R. F.; Xi, Z.; Allgeyer, E. S.; Zhong, S.; Thompson, A. D.; Lowe, N.; Butler, R.; Bewersdorf, J.; Rothman, J. E.; St Johnston, D.; Schepartz, A.; Toomre, D. Labeling strategies matter for super-resolution microscopy: a comparison between HaloTags and SNAP-tags. *Cell Chem. Biol.* **2019**, *26*, 584–592.

(51) Jin, D.; Xi, P.; Wang, B.; Zhang, L.; Enderlein, J.; van Oijen, A. M. Nanoparticles for super-resolution microscopy and single-molecule tracking. *Nat. Methods* **2018**, *15*, 415–423.

(52) Liu, Z.; Liu, J.; Wang, X.; Mi, F.; Wang, D.; Wu, C. Fluorescent bioconjugates for super-resolution optical nanoscopy. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2020**, *31*, 1857–1872.

(53) Xu, Y.; Xu, R.; Wang, Z.; Zhou, Y.; Shen, Q.; Ji, W.; Dang, D.; Meng, L.; Tang, B. Z. Recent advances in luminescent materials for super-resolution imaging via stimulated emission depletion nanoscopy. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2021**, *50*, 667–690.

(54) Verma, N. C.; Yadav, A.; Rao, C.; Mishra, P. M.; Nandi, C. K. Emergence of carbon nanodots as a probe for super-resolution microscopy. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2021, *125*, 1637–1653.

(55) Zhang, H.; Zhao, M.; Abrahám, I. M.; Zhang, F. Superresolution imaging with lanthanide luminescent nanocrystals: progress and prospect. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* **2021**, *9*, 692075.

(56) Heintzmann, R.; Huser, T. Super-resolution structured illumination microscopy. *Chem. Rev.* 2017, *117*, 13890–13908.

(57) Demmerle, J.; Innocent, C.; North, A. J.; Ball, G.; Müller, M.; Miron, E.; Matsuda, A.; Dobbie, I. M.; Markaki, Y.; Schermelleh, L. Strategic and practical guidelines for successful structured illumination microscopy. *Nat. Protoc.* **2017**, *12*, 988–1010.

(58) Shao, L.; Kner, P.; Rego, E. H.; Gustafsson, M. G. Superresolution 3D microscopy of live whole cells using structured illumination. *Nat. Methods* **2011**, *8*, 1044–1046. (59) Fiolka, R.; Shao, L.; Rego, E. H.; Davidson, M. W.; Gustafsson, M. G. Time-lapse two-color 3D imaging of live cells with doubled resolution using structured illumination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 5311–5315.

(60) Li, D.; Shao, L.; Chen, B.-C.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, M.; Moses, B.; Milkie, D. E.; Beach, J. R.; Hammer, J. A.; Pasham, M.; Kirchhausen, T.; Baird, M. A.; Davidson, M. W.; Xu, P.; Betzig, E. Extendedresolution structured illumination imaging of endocytic and cytoskeletal dynamics. *Science* **2015**, *349*, aab3500.

(61) Fiolka, R.; Shao, L.; Rego, E. H.; Davidson, M. W.; Gustafsson, M. G. L. Time-lapse two-color 3D imaging of live cells with doubled resolution using structured illumination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 5311–5315.

(62) Young, L. J.; Ströhl, F.; Kaminski, C. F. A guide to structured illumination TIRF microscopy at high speed with multiple colors. *J. Vis. Exp.* **2016**, 3568, 185–196.

(63) Ströhl, F.; Kaminski, C. F. Frontiers in structured illumination microscopy. *Optica* **2016**, *3*, 667–677.

(64) Ströhl, F.; Kaminski, C. F. Speed limits of structured illumination microscopy. *Opt. Lett.* **2017**, *42*, 2511–2514.

(65) Ball, G.; Demmerle, J.; Kaufmann, R.; Davis, I.; Dobbie, I. M.; Schermelleh, L. SIMcheck: a toolbox for successful super-resolution structured illumination microscopy. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 15915.

(66) Demmerle, J.; Innocent, C.; North, A. J.; Ball, G.; Müller, M.; Miron, E.; Matsuda, A.; Dobbie, I. M.; Markaki, Y.; Schermelleh, L. Strategic and practical guidelines for successful structured illumination microscopy. *Nat. Protoc.* **2017**, *12*, 988–1010.

(67) Wunderlich, L. C.; Ströhl, F.; Ströhl, S.; Vanderpoorten, O.; Mascheroni, L.; Kaminski, C. F. Superresolving the kidney-a practical comparison of fluorescence nanoscopy of the glomerular filtration barrier. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2021**, *413*, 1203–1214.

(68) Lu, M.; Williamson, N.; Mishra, A.; Michel, C. H.; Kaminski, C. F.; Tunnacliffe, A.; Kaminski Schierle, G. S. Structural progression of amyloid- β Arctic mutant aggregation in cells revealed by multiparametric imaging. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2019**, *294*, 1478–1487.

(69) Lu, M.; Banetta, L.; Young, L. J.; Smith, E. J.; Bates, G. P.; Zaccone, A.; Schierle, G. S. K.; Tunnacliffe, A.; Kaminski, C. F. Livecell super-resolution microscopy reveals a primary role for diffusion in polyglutamine-driven aggresome assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2019**, *294*, 257–268.

(70) Mela, I.; Endo, M.; Sugiyama, H.; Henderson, R. M.; Kaminski, C. F. DNA origami as a tool in the targeted destruction of bacteria. *Biophys. J.* **2019**, *116*, 324a.

(71) Laine, R. F.; Goodfellow, G.; Young, L. J.; Travers, J.; Carroll, D.; Dibben, O.; Bright, H.; Kaminski, C. F. Structured illumination microscopy combined with machine learning enables the high throughput analysis and classification of virus structure. *Elife* **2018**, 7, No. e40183.

(72) Lawo, S.; Hasegan, M.; Gupta, G. D.; Pelletier, L. Subdiffraction imaging of centrosomes reveals higher-order organizational features of pericentriolar material. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2012**, *14*, 1148–1158.

(73) Chagin, V. O.; Casas-Delucchi, C. S.; Reinhart, M.; Schermelleh, L.; Markaki, Y.; Maiser, A.; Bolius, J. J.; Bensimon, A.; Fillies, M.; Domaing, P.; Rozanov, Y. M.; Leonhardt, H.; Cardoso, M. C. 4D Visualization of replication foci in mammalian cells corresponding to individual replicons. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 11231.

(74) Urban, N. T.; Willig, K. I.; Hell, S. W.; Nägerl, U. V. STED nanoscopy of actin dynamics in synapses deep inside living brain slices. *Biophys. J.* **2011**, *101*, 1277–1284.

(75) Schroeder, L. K.; Barentine, A. E. S.; Merta, H.; Schweighofer, S.; Zhang, Y.; Baddeley, D.; Bewersdorf, J.; Bahmanyar, S. Dynamic nanoscale morphology of the ER surveyed by STED microscopy. *J. Cell Biol.* **2019**, *218*, 83–96.

(76) Eggeling, C.; Ringemann, C.; Medda, R.; Schwarzmann, G.; Sandhoff, K.; Polyakova, S.; Belov, V. N.; Hein, B.; von Middendorff, C.; Schonle, A.; Hell, S. W. Direct observation of the nanoscale dynamics of membrane lipids in a living cell. *Nature* **2009**, *457*, 1159–1162.
(77) Westphal, V.; Rizzoli, S. O.; Lauterbach, M. A.; Kamin, D.; Jahn, R.; Hell, S. W. Video-rate far-field optical nanoscopy dissects synaptic vesicle movement. *Science* **2008**, *320*, 246–249.

(78) Galiani, S.; Waithe, D.; Reglinski, K.; Cruz-Zaragoza, L. D.; Garcia, E.; Clausen, M. P.; Schliebs, W.; Erdmann, R.; Eggeling, C. Super-resolution microscopy reveals compartmentalization of peroxisomal membrane proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2016**, *291*, 16948–16962.

(79) Ober, R. J.; Ram, S.; Ward, E. S. Localization accuracy in singlemolecule microscopy. *Biophys. J.* **2004**, *86*, 1185–1200.

(80) Kuang, C.; Li, S.; Liu, W.; Hao, X.; Gu, Z.; Wang, Y.; Ge, J.; Li, H.; Liu, X. Breaking the diffraction barrier using fluorescence emission difference microscopy. *Sci. Rep.* **2013**, *3*, 1441.

(81) Burgert, A.; Letschert, S.; Doose, S.; Sauer, M. Artifacts in single-molecule localization microscopy. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 2015, 144, 123–131.

(82) Van de Linde, S.; Heilemann, M.; Sauer, M. Live-cell superresolution imaging with synthetic fluorophores. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2012**, *63*, 519–540.

(83) Van de Linde, S.; Löschberger, A.; Klein, T.; Heidbreder, M.; Wolter, S.; Heilemann, M.; Sauer, M. Direct stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy with standard fluorescent probes. *Nat. Protoc.* **2011**, *6*, 991–1009.

(84) Thompson, R. E.; Larson, D. R.; Webb, W. W. Precise nanometer localization analysis for individual fluorescent probes. *Biophys. J.* **2002**, *82*, 2775–2783.

(85) Loveland, A. B.; Habuchi, S.; Walter, J. C.; Van Oijen, A. M. A general approach to break the concentration barrier in single-molecule imaging. *Nat. Methods* **2012**, *9*, 987–992.

(86) Geissbuehler, S.; Dellagiacoma, C.; Lasser, T. Comparison between SOFI and STORM. *Biomed. Opt. Express* **2011**, *2*, 408–420.

(87) Ehmann, N.; van de Linde, S.; Alon, A.; Ljaschenko, D.; Keung, X. Z.; Holm, T.; Rings, A.; DiAntonio, A.; Hallermann, S.; Ashery, U.; Heckmann, M.; Sauer, M.; Kittel, R. J. Quantitative super-resolution imaging of Bruchpilot distinguishes active zone states. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 4650.

(88) Lando, D.; Endesfelder, U.; Berger, H.; Subramanian, L.; Dunne, P. D.; McColl, J.; Klenerman, D.; Carr, A. M.; Sauer, M.; Allshire, R. C.; Heilemann, M.; Laue, E. D. Quantitative singlemolecule microscopy reveals that CENP-ACnp1 deposition occurs during G2 in fission yeast. *Open Biol.* **2012**, *2*, 120078.

(89) Löschberger, A.; van de Linde, S.; Dabauvalle, M.-C.; Rieger, B.; Heilemann, M.; Krohne, G.; Sauer, M. Super-resolution imaging visualizes the eightfold symmetry of gp210 proteins around the nuclear pore complex and resolves the central channel with nanometer resolution. J. Cell Sci. 2012, 125, 570–575.

(90) Szymborska, A.; De Marco, A.; Daigle, N.; Cordes, V. C.; Briggs, J. A.; Ellenberg, J. Nuclear pore scaffold structure analyzed by super-resolution microscopy and particle averaging. *Science* **2013**, *341*, 655–658.

(91) Baker, S. N.; Baker, G. A. Luminescent carbon nanodots: emergent nanolights. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 6726–6744.

(92) Li, W.; Zheng, Y.; Zhang, H.; Liu, Z.; Su, W.; Chen, S.; Liu, Y.; Zhuang, J.; Lei, B. Phytotoxicity, uptake, and translocation of fluorescent carbon dots in mung bean plants. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 19939–19945.

(93) Li, W.; Wu, S.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, X.; Zhuang, J.; Hu, C.; Liu, Y.; Lei, B.; Ma, L.; Wang, X. Enhanced biological photosynthetic efficiency using light-harvesting engineering with dual-emissive carbon dots. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2018**, *28*, 1804004.

(94) Wang, J.; Liu, G.; Leung, K.; Loffroy, R.; Lu, P.-X.; Wang, Y. J. Opportunities and challenges of fluorescent carbon dots in translational optical imaging. *Curr. Pharm. Design* **2015**, *21*, 5401–5416.

(95) Zhu, S.; Song, Y.; Zhao, X.; Shao, J.; Zhang, J.; Yang, B. The photoluminescence mechanism in carbon dots (graphene quantum dots, carbon nanodots, and polymer dots): current state and future perspective. *Nano Res.* **2015**, *8*, 355–381.

(96) Yan, F.; Sun, Z.; Zhang, H.; Sun, X.; Jiang, Y.; Bai, Z. The fluorescence mechanismof carbon dots, and methods for tuning their emission color: a review. *Microchim. Acta* **2019**, *186*, 583.

(97) Ai, L.; Yang, Y.; Wang, B.; Chang, J.; Tang, Z.; Yang, B.; Lu, S. Insights into photoluminescence mechanisms of carbon dots: advances and perspectives. *Sci. Bull.* **2021**, *66*, 839–856.

(98) Tian, Z.; Zhang, X.; Li, D.; Zhou, D.; Jing, P.; Shen, D.; Qu, S.; Zboril, R.; Rogach, A. L. Full-color inorganic carbon dot phosphors for white-light-emitting diodes. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2017**, *5*, 1700416.

(99) Leménager, G.; De Luca, E.; Sun, Y. P.; Pompa, P. P. Superresolution fluorescence imaging of biocompatible carbon dots. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 8617–8623.

(100) Hotze, E. M.; Phenrat, T.; Lowry, G. V. Nanoparticle aggregation: challenges to understanding transport and reactivity in the environment. *J. Environ. Qual.* **2010**, *39*, 1909–1924.

(101) Yan, F.; Jiang, Y.; Sun, X.; Bai, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Zhou, X. Surface modification and chemical functionalization of carbon dots: a review. *Microchim. Acta* **2018**, *185*, 424.

(102) geor malar, C.; Seenuvasan, M.; Kumar, K. S.; Kumar, A.; Parthiban, R Review on surface modification of nanocarriers to overcome diffusion limitations: An enzyme immobilization aspect. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2020**, *158*, 107574.

(103) Kankala, R. K.; Han, Y.-H.; Na, J.; Lee, C.-H.; Sun, Z.; Wang, S.-B.; Kimura, T.; Ok, Y. S.; Yamauchi, Y.; Chen, A.-Z.; Wu, K. C.-W. Nanoarchitectured structure and surface biofunctionality of mesoporous silica nanoparticles. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 1907035.

(104) Yang, J.; Zhang, X.; Ma, Y.-H.; Gao, G.; Chen, X.; Jia, H.-R.; Li, Y.-H.; Chen, Z.; Wu, F.-G. Carbon dot-based platform for simultaneous bacterial distinguishment and antibacterial applications. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 32170–32181.

(105) Han, G.; Zhao, J.; Zhang, R.; Tian, X.; Liu, Z.; Wang, A.; Liu, R.; Liu, B.; Han, M.-Y.; Gao, X.; Zhang, Z. Membrane-penetrating carbon quantum dots for imaging nucleic acid structures in live organisms. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 7087–7091.

(106) Li, H.; Ye, S.; Guo, J.; Wang, H.; Yan, W.; Song, J.; Qu, J. Biocompatible carbon dots with low-saturation-intensity and high-photobleaching-resistance for STED nanoscopy imaging of the nucleolus and tunneling nanotubes in living cells. *Nano Res.* 2019, *12*, 3075–3084.

(107) Chizhik, A. M.; Stein, S.; Dekaliuk, M. O.; Battle, C.; Li, W.; Huss, A.; Platen, M.; Schaap, I. A. T.; Gregor, I.; Demchenko, A. P.; Schmidt, C. F.; Enderlein, J.; Chizhik, A. I. Super-resolution optical fluctuation bio-imaging with dual-color carbon nanodots. *Nano Lett.* **2016**, *16*, 237–242.

(108) Khan, S.; Li, W.; Karedla, N.; Thiart, J.; Gregor, I.; Chizhik, A. M.; Enderlein, J. r.; Nandi, C. K.; Chizhik, A. I. Charge-driven fluorescence blinking in carbon nanodots. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **201**7, *8*, 5751–5757.

(109) Dickson, R. M.; Cubitt, A. B.; Tsien, R. Y.; Moerner, W. E. On/off blinking and switching behaviour of single molecules of green fluorescent protein. *Nature* **1997**, *388*, 355–358.

(110) Efros, A. L.; Nesbitt, D. J. Origin and control of blinking in quantum dots. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2016**, *11*, 661–671.

(111) He, H.; Liu, X.; Li, S.; Wang, X.; Wang, Q.; Li, J.; Wang, J.; Ren, H.; Ge, B.; Wang, S.; Zhang, X.; Huang, F. High-density superresolution localization imaging with blinking carbon dots. *Anal. Chem.* **2017**, *89*, 11831–11838.

(112) Khan, S.; Verma, N. C.; Gupta, A.; Nandi, C. K. Reversible photoswitching of carbon dots. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 11423.

(113) Verma, N. C.; Khan, S.; Nandi, C. K. Single-molecule analysis of fluorescent carbon dots towards localization-based super-resolution microscopy. *Methods Appl. Fluoresc.* **2016**, *4*, 044006.

(114) Verma, N. C.; Rao, C.; Nandi, C. K. Nitrogen-doped biocompatible carbon dot as a fluorescent probe for STORM nanoscopy. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2018**, *122*, 4704–4709.

(115) Zhi, B.; Cui, Y.; Wang, S.; Frank, B. P.; Williams, D. N.; Brown, R. P.; Melby, E. S.; Hamers, R. J.; Rosenzweig, Z.; Fairbrother, D. H.; Orr, G.; Haynes, C. L. Malic acid carbon dots: from superresolution live-cell imaging to highly efficient separation. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 5741–5752.

(116) Bu, L.; Luo, T.; Peng, H.; Li, L.; Long, D.; Peng, J.; Huang, J. One-step synthesis of N-doped carbon dots, and their applications in curcumin sensing, fluorescent inks, and super-resolution nanoscopy. *Microchim. Acta* **2019**, *186*, 675.

(117) Verma, N. C.; Rao, C.; Singh, A.; Garg, N.; Nandi, C. K. Dual responsive specifically labelled carbogenic fluorescent nanodots for super resolution and electron microscopy. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 6561–6565.

(118) Algar, W. R.; Susumu, K.; Delehanty, J. B.; Medintz, I. L. Semiconductor Quantum Dots in Bioanalysis: Crossing the Valley of Death. *Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *83*, 8826–8837.

(119) Rabouw, F. T.; de Mello Donega, C. Excited-state dynamics in colloidal semiconductor nanocrystals. *Photoactive Semiconductor Nanocrystal Quantum Dots* **2017**, 1–30.

(120) De Mello Donegá, C. Synthesis and properties of colloidal heteronanocrystals. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2011**, *40*, 1512–1546.

(121) Wegner, K. D.; Hildebrandt, N. Quantum dots: bright and versatile in vitro and in vivo fluorescence imaging biosensors. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 4792–4934.

(122) Henglein, A. Photochemistry of colloidal cadmium sulfide. 2. Effects of adsorbed methyl viologen and of colloidal platinum. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1982**, *86*, 2291–2293.

(123) Lesnyak, V.; Gaponik, N.; Eychmüller, A. Colloidal semiconductor nanocrystals: the aqueous approach. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2013, 42, 2905.

(124) Dabbousi, B. O.; Rodriguez-Viejo, J.; Mikulec, F. V.; Heine, J. R.; Mattoussi, H.; Ober, R.; Jensen, K. F.; Bawendi, M. G. (CdSe) ZnS core-shell quantum dots: synthesis and characterization of a size series of highly luminescent nanocrystallites. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **1997**, *101*, 9463–9475.

(125) Chan, W. C.; Nie, S. Quantum dot bioconjugates for ultrasensitive nonisotopic detection. *Science* **1998**, *281*, 2016–2018.

(126) Panchuk-Voloshina, N.; Haugland, R. P.; Bishop-Stewart, J.; Bhalgat, M. K.; Millard, P. J.; Mao, F.; Leung, W.-Y.; Haugland, R. P. Alexa dyes, a series of new fluorescent dyes that yield exceptionally bright, photostable conjugates. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* **1999**, 47, 1179–1188.

(127) Alivisatos, A. P. Semiconductor clusters, nanocrystals, and quantum dots. *Science* **1996**, *271*, 933–937.

(128) Guo, X.; Kuang, Y.; Wang, S.; Li, Z.; Shen, H.; Guo, L. Shelldependent blinking behavior and fluorescence dynamics of single ZnSe/CdS core/shell quantum dots. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 18696– 18705.

(129) Lou, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Chen, J.; Zhu, J.-J. Metal ions optical sensing by semiconductor quantum dots. J. Mater. Chem. C 2014, 2, 595–613.

(130) Chinnathambi, S.; Chen, S.; Ganesan, S.; Hanagata, N. Silicon quantum dots for biological applications. *Adv. Healthcare Mater.* **2014**, 3, 10–29.

(131) Cheng, X.; Lowe, S. B.; Reece, P. J.; Gooding, J. J. Colloidal silicon quantum dots: from preparation to the modification of self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) for bio-applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2014**, *43*, 2680–2700.

(132) Hanne, J.; Falk, H. J.; Görlitz, F.; Hoyer, P.; Engelhardt, J.; Sahl, S. J.; Hell, S. W. STED nanoscopy with fluorescent quantum dots. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 7127.

(133) Hoyer, P.; Staudt, T.; Engelhardt, J.; Hell, S. W. Quantum dot blueing and blinking enables fluorescence nanoscopy. *Nano Lett.* **2011**, *11*, 245–250.

(134) Xu, J.; Tehrani, K. F.; Kner, P. Multicolor 3D super-resolution imaging by quantum dot stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 2917–2925.

(135) Wang, Y.; Fruhwirth, G.; Cai, E.; Ng, T.; Selvin, P. R. 3D super-resolution imaging with blinking quantum dots. *Nano Lett.* **2013**, *13*, 5233–5241.

(136) Yang, X.; Zhanghao, K.; Wang, H.; Liu, Y.; Wang, F.; Zhang, X.; Shi, K.; Gao, J.; Jin, D.; Xi, P. Versatile application of fluorescent quantum dot labels in super-resolution fluorescence microscopy. *ACS Photonics* **2016**, *3*, 1611–1618.

(137) Ye, S.; Guo, J.; Song, J.; Qu, J. Achieving high-resolution of 21 nm for STED nanoscopy assisted by CdSe@ZnS quantum dots. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2020**, *116*, 041101.

(138) Nirmal, M.; Dabbousi, B. O.; Bawendi, M. G.; Macklin, J.; Trautman, J.; Harris, T.; Brus, L. E. Fluorescence intermittency in single cadmium selenide nanocrystals. *Nature* **1996**, *383*, 802–804.

(139) Efros, A. L.; Rosen, M. Random telegraph signal in the photoluminescence intensity of a single quantum dot. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1997**, 78, 1110–1113.

(140) Efros, A. L. Almost always bright. Nat. Mater. 2008, 7, 612-613.

(141) Lidke, K. A.; Rieger, B.; Jovin, T. M.; Heintzmann, R. Superresolution by localization of quantum dots using blinking statistics. *Opt. Express* **2005**, *13*, 7052–7062.

(142) Van Sark, W. G.; Frederix, P. L.; Bol, A. A.; Gerritsen, H. C.; Meijerink, A. Blueing, bleaching, and blinking of single CdSe/ZnS quantum dots. *ChemPhysChem* **2002**, *3*, 871–879.

(143) Cordero, S.; Carson, P.; Estabrook, R.; Strouse, G.; Buratto, S. Photo-activated luminescence of CdSe quantum dot monolayers. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2000**, *104*, 12137–12142.

(144) Van Sark, W. G.; Frederix, P. L.; Van den Heuvel, D. J.; Gerritsen, H. C.; Bol, A. A.; Van Lingen, J. N.; de Mello Donega, C.; Meijerink, A. Photooxidation and photobleaching of single CdSe/ZnS quantum dots probed by room-temperature time-resolved spectroscopy. J. Phys. Chem. B 2001, 105, 8281–8284.

(145) Katari, J. B.; Colvin, V. L.; Alivisatos, A. P. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy of CdSe nanocrystals with applications to studies of the nanocrystal surface. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1994**, *98*, 4109–4117.

(146) Nazzal, A. Y.; Wang, X.; Qu, L.; Yu, W.; Wang, Y.; Peng, X.; Xiao, M. Environmental effects on photoluminescence of highly luminescent CdSe and CdSe/ZnS core/shell nanocrystals in polymer thin films. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 5507–5515.

(147) Jung, S.; Park, J.; Bang, J.; Kim, J.-Y.; Kim, C.; Jeon, Y.; Lee, S. H.; Jin, H.; Choi, S.; Kim, B.; Lee, W. J.; Pack, C.-G.; Lee, J.-B.; Lee, N. K.; Kim, S. Light-induced fluorescence modulation of quantum dot-crystal violet conjugates: stochastic off-on-off cycles for multicolor patterning and super-resolution. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 7603–7615.

(148) Zong, S.; Jiang, X.; Wang, Z.; Chen, C.; Lu, J.; Wang, L.; Zhu, D.; Cui, Y. A FRET based dual emission nanoprobe (FREDEN) with improved blinking behavior for single molecule localization imaging. *Nanoscale* **2016**, *8*, 19110–19119.

(149) Shi, X.; Xie, Z.; Song, Y.; Tan, Y.; Yeung, E. S.; Gai, H. Superlocalization spectral imaging microscopy of a multicolor quantum dot complex. *Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *84*, 1504–1509.

(150) Zeng, Z.; Chen, X.; Wang, H.; Huang, N.; Shan, C.; Zhang, H.; Teng, J.; Xi, P. Fast super-resolution imaging with ultra-high labeling density achieved by joint tagging super-resolution optical fluctuation imaging. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 8359.

(151) Shi, J.; Sun, W.; Utzat, H.; Farahvash, A.; Gao, F. Y.; Zhang, Z.; Barotov, U.; Willard, A. P.; Nelson, K. A.; Bawendi, M. G. All-optical fluorescence blinking control in quantum dots with ultrafast mid-infrared pulses. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2021**, *16*, 1355–1361.

(152) Watanabe, T. M.; Fukui, S.; Jin, T.; Fujii, F.; Yanagida, T. Real-time nanoscopy by using blinking enhanced quantum dots. *Biophys. J.* **2010**, *99*, L50–L52.

(153) Heyes, C. D.; Kobitski, A. Y.; Breus, V. V.; Nienhaus, G. U. Effect of the shell on the blinking statistics of core-shell quantum dots: A single-particle fluorescence study. *Phys. Rev. B* **2007**, *75*, 125431.

(154) Garcia-Gutierrez, D. F.; Hernandez-Casillas, L. P.; Cappellari, M. V.; Fungo, F.; Martínez-Guerra, E.; García-Gutiérrez, D. I. Influence of the capping ligand on the band gap and electronic levels of PbS nanoparticles through surface atomistic arrangement determination. *ACS omega* **2018**, *3*, 393–405.

(155) Chang, J. H.; Hahm, D.; Char, K.; Bae, W. K. Interfacial engineering of core/shell heterostructured nanocrystal quantum dots for light-emitting applications. J. Inf. Dispersion **2017**, *18*, 57–65.

(156) Guo, X.; Kuang, Y.; Wang, S.; Li, Z.; Shen, H.; Guo, L. Shelldependent blinking behavior and fluorescence dynamics of single ZnSe/CdS core/shell quantum dots. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 18696– 18705.

(157) Rani, S.; Kumar, J. Suppression of blinking and enhancement of optical properties of core-shell quantum dots by structural formulation. *IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol.* **2020**, *19*, 792–799.

(158) Jin, S.; Lian, T. Electron transfer dynamics from single CdSe/ZnS quantum dots to TiO_2 nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2009**, *9*, 2448–2454.

(159) Matsumoto, Y.; Kanemoto, R.; Itoh, T.; Nakanishi, S.; Ishikawa, M.; Biju, V. Photoluminescence quenching and intensity fluctuations of CdSe-ZnS quantum dots on an Ag nanoparticle film. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2008**, *112*, 1345–1350.

(160) Li, B.; Zhang, G.; Wang, Z.; Li, Z.; Chen, R.; Qin, C.; Gao, Y.; Xiao, L.; Jia, S. Suppressing the fluorescence blinking of single quantum dots encased in N-type semiconductor nanoparticles. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 32662.

(161) Ma, X.; Tan, H.; Kipp, T.; Mews, A. Fluorescence enhancement, blinking suppression, and gray states of individual semiconductor nanocrystals close to gold nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2010**, *10*, 4166–4174.

(162) Yuan, G.; Gomez, D. E.; Kirkwood, N.; Boldt, K.; Mulvaney, P. Two mechanisms determine quantum dot blinking. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 3397–3405.

(163) Quinn, S. D.; Rafferty, A.; Dick, E.; Morten, M. J.; Kettles, F. J.; Knox, C.; Murrie, M.; Magennis, S. W. Surface charge control of quantum dot blinking. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2016**, *120*, 19487–19491.

(164) Mahler, B.; Spinicelli, P.; Buil, S.; Quelin, X.; Hermier, J.-P.; Dubertret, B. Towards non-blinking colloidal quantum dots. *Nat. Mater.* **2008**, *7*, 659–664.

(165) Javaux, C.; Mahler, B.; Dubertret, B.; Shabaev, A.; Rodina, A. V.; Efros, A. L.; Yakovlev, D. R.; Liu, F.; Bayer, M.; Camps, G.; Biadala, L.; Buil, S.; Quelin, X.; Hermier, J-P. Thermal activation of non-radiative Auger recombination in charged colloidal nanocrystals. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2013**, *8*, 206–212.

(166) Guo, W.; Tang, J.; Zhang, G.; Li, B.; Yang, C.; Chen, R.; Qin, C.; Hu, J.; Zhong, H.; Xiao, L.; Jia, S. Photoluminescence blinking and biexciton Auger recombination in single colloidal quantum dots with sharp and smooth core/shell interfaces. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2021**, *12*, 405–412.

(167) Qin, W.; Liu, H.; Guyot-Sionnest, P. Small bright charged colloidal quantum dots. *ACS Nano* **2014**, *8*, 283–291.

(168) Chen, O.; Zhao, J.; Chauhan, V. P.; Cui, J.; Wong, C.; Harris, D. K.; Wei, H.; Han, H.-S.; Fukumura, D.; Jain, R. K.; Bawendi, M. G. Compact high-quality CdSe-CdS core-shell nanocrystals with narrow emission linewidths and suppressed blinking. *Nat. Mater.* **2013**, *12*, 445–451.

(169) Qin, H.; Niu, Y.; Meng, R.; Lin, X.; Lai, R.; Fang, W.; Peng, X. Single-dot spectroscopy of zinc-blende CdSe/CdS core/shell nanocrystals: nonblinking and correlation with ensemble measurements. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136*, 179–187.

(170) Bajwa, P.; Gao, F.; Nguyen, A.; Omogo, B.; Heyes, C. D. Influence of the inner-shell architecture on quantum yield and blinking dynamics in core/multishell quantum dots. *ChemPhysChem* **2016**, *17*, 731–740.

(171) Talapin, D. V.; Mekis, I.; Götzinger, S.; Kornowski, A.; Benson, O.; Weller, H. CdSe/CdS/ZnS and CdSe/ZnSe/ZnS core-shell-shell nanocrystals. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 18826–18831.

(172) Ji, B.; Giovanelli, E.; Habert, B.; Spinicelli, P.; Nasilowski, M.; Xu, X.; Lequeux, N.; Hugonin, J.-P.; Marquier, F.; Greffet, J.-J.; Dubertret, B. Non-blinking quantum dot with a plasmonic nanoshell resonator. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2015**, *10*, 170–175.

(173) Chen, X.; Lou, Y.; Samia, A. C.; Burda, C. Coherency strain effects on the optical response of core/shell heteronanostructures. *Nano Lett.* **2003**, *3*, 799–803.

(174) Talapin, D. V.; Rogach, A. L.; Kornowski, A.; Haase, M.; Weller, H. Highly luminescent monodisperse CdSe and CdSe/ZnS nanocrystals synthesized in a hexadecylamine-trioctylphosphine oxide-trioctylphospine mixture. *Nano Lett.* **2001**, *1*, 207–211.

(175) Breus, V. V.; Heyes, C. D.; Nienhaus, G. U. Quenching of CdSe-ZnS core-shell quantum dot luminescence by water-soluble thiolated ligands. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2007**, *111*, 18589–18594.

(176) Lobo, A.; Borchert, H.; Talapin, D.; Weller, H.; Möller, T. Surface oxidation of CdTe nanocrystals-A high resolution core-level photoelectron spectroscopy study. *Colloids Surf.*, A 2006, 286, 1–7.

¹ (177) Gao, F.; Bajwa, P.; Nguyen, A.; Heyes, C. D. Shell-dependent photoluminescence studies provide mechanistic insights into the offgrey-on transitions of blinking quantum dots. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 2905–2916.

(178) Issac, A.; Krasselt, C.; Cichos, F.; Von Borczyskowski, C. Influence of the dielectric environment on the photoluminescence intermittency of cdse quantum dots. *ChemPhysChem* **2012**, *13*, 3223–3230.

(179) Krasselt, C.; Schuster, J.; von Borczyskowski, C. Photoinduced hole trapping in single semiconductor quantum dots at specific sites at silicon oxide interfaces. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 17084–17092.

(180) Verberk, R.; Chon, J.; Gu, M.; Orrit, M. Environmentdependent blinking of single semiconductor nanocrystals and statistical aging of ensembles. *Physica E: Low-Dimensional Systems & Nanostructures* **2005**, *26*, 19–23.

(181) Wang, T.; Li, G.; Wang, D.; Li, F.; Men, D.; Hu, T.; Xi, Y.; Zhang, X.-E. Quantitative profiling of integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$ on single cells with quantum dot labeling to reveal the phenotypic heterogeneity of glioblastoma. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 18224–18231.

(182) Xi, Y.; Wang, D.; Wang, T.; Huang, L.; Zhang, X.-E. Quantitative profiling of CD13 on single acute myeloid leukemia cells by super-resolution imaging and its implication in targeted drug susceptibility assessment. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 1737–1744.

(183) Zeng, H.; Yang, H.; Liu, G.; Zhang, S.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, Y. Simultaneous multicolour imaging using quantum dot structured illumination microscopy. J. Microsc. **2020**, 277, 32–41.

(184) Petryayeva, E.; Algar, W. R.; Medintz, I. L. Quantum dots in bioanalysis: a review of applications across various platforms for fluorescence spectroscopy and imaging. *Appl. Spectrosc.* **2013**, *67*, 215–252.

(185) Marchuk, K.; Guo, Y.; Sun, W.; Vela, J.; Fang, N. Highprecision tracking with non-blinking quantum dots resolves nanoscale vertical displacement. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134*, 6108–6111.

(186) Lane, L. A.; Smith, A. M.; Lian, T.; Nie, S. Compact and blinking-suppressed quantum dots for single-particle tracking in live cells. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2014, *118*, 14140–14147.

(187) Derfus, A. M.; Chan, W. C.; Bhatia, S. N. Probing the cytotoxicity of semiconductor quantum dots. *Nano Lett.* **2004**, *4*, 11–18.

(188) Liu, W.; Zhang, S.; Wang, L.; Qu, C.; Zhang, C.; Hong, L.; Yuan, L.; Huang, Z.; Wang, Z.; Liu, S.; Jiang, G. CdSe quantum dot (QD)-induced morphological and functional impairments to liver in mice. *PloS One* **2011**, *6*, No. e24406.

(189) Bentzen, E. L.; Tomlinson, I. D.; Mason, J.; Gresch, P.; Warnement, M. R.; Wright, D.; Sanders-Bush, E.; Blakely, R.; Rosenthal, S. J. Surface modification to reduce nonspecific binding of quantum dots in live cell assays. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2005**, *16*, 1488–1494.

(190) Wegner, K. D.; Morgner, F.; Oh, E.; Goswami, R.; Susumu, K.; Stewart, M. H.; Medintz, I. L.; Hildebrandt, N. Three-dimensional solution-phase Förster resonance energy transfer analysis of nano-molar quantum dot bioconjugates with subnanometer resolution. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 4299–4312.

(191) Heeger, A. J. Semiconducting polymers: the third generation. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2010**, *39*, 2354–2371.

(192) Wu, C.; Chiu, D. T. Highly fluorescent semiconducting polymer dots for biology and medicine. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2013, 52, 3086–3109.

(193) Wu, C.; Bull, B.; Szymanski, C.; Christensen, K.; McNeill, J. Multicolor conjugated polymer dots for biological fluorescence imaging. *ACS Nano* **2008**, *2*, 2415–2423.

(194) Ye, F.; Wu, C.; Jin, Y.; Wang, M.; Chan, Y.-H.; Yu, J.; Sun, W.; Hayden, S.; Chiu, D. T. A compact and highly fluorescent orangeemitting polymer dot for specific subcellular imaging. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 1778–1780.

(195) Wu, C.; Hansen, S. J.; Hou, Q.; Yu, J.; Zeigler, M.; Jin, Y.; Burnham, D. R.; McNeill, J. D.; Olson, J. M.; Chiu, D. T. Design of highly emissive polymer dot bioconjugates for in vivo tumor targeting. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 3430–3434.

(196) Gong, X.; Ma, W.; Ostrowski, J. C.; Bazan, G. C.; Moses, D.; Heeger, A. J. White electrophosphorescence from semiconducting polymer blends. *Adv. Mater.* **2004**, *16*, 615–619.

(197) Dou, L.; Liu, Y.; Hong, Z.; Li, G.; Yang, Y. Low-bandgap near-IR conjugated polymers/molecules for organic electronics. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 12633–12665.

(198) Zhao, X.; Bagwe, R. P.; Tan, W. Development of organic-dyedoped silica nanoparticles in a reverse microemulsion. *Adv. Mater.* **2004**, *16*, 173–176.

(199) Wu, C.; Schneider, T.; Zeigler, M.; Yu, J.; Schiro, P. G.; Burnham, D. R.; McNeill, J. D.; Chiu, D. T. Bioconjugation of ultrabright semiconducting polymer dots for specific cellular targeting. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 15410–15417.

(200) Wu, C.; Jin, Y.; Schneider, T.; Burnham, D. R.; Smith, P. B.; Chiu, D. T. Ultrabright and bioorthogonal labeling of cellular targets using semiconducting polymer dots and click chemistry. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 9436–9440.

(201) Szymanski, C.; Wu, C.; Hooper, J.; Salazar, M. A.; Perdomo, A.; Dukes, A.; McNeill, J. Single molecule nanoparticles of the conjugated polymer MEH-PPV, preparation and characterization by near-field scanning optical microscopy. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2005**, *109*, 8543–8546.

(202) Wu, C.; Szymanski, C.; McNeill, J. Preparation and encapsulation of highly fluorescent conjugated polymer nanoparticles. *Langmuir* **2006**, *22*, 2956–2960.

(203) Gesquiere, A. J.; Park, S.-J.; Barbara, P. F. Hole-induced quenching of triplet and singlet excitons in conjugated polymers. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 9556–9560.

(204) Yu, J.; Song, N. W.; McNeill, J. D.; Barbara, P. F. Efficient exciton quenching by hole polarons in the conjugated polymer MEH-PPV. *Isr. J. Chem.* **2004**, *44*, 127–132.

(205) Xu, Y.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, N.; Wang, X.; Dang, D.; Jing, X.; Xi, D.; Hao, Y.; Tang, B. Z.; Meng, L. Deep-red fluorescent organic nanoparticles with high brightness and photostability for super-resolution in vitro and in vivo imaging using STED nanoscopy. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2020**, *12*, 6814–6826.

(206) Wu, Y.; Ruan, H.; Dong, Z.; Zhao, R.; Yu, J.; Tang, X.; Kou, X.; Zhang, X.; Wu, M.; Luo, F.; Yuan, J.; Fang, X. Fluorescent polymer dot-based multicolor stimulated emission depletion nanoscopy with a single laser beam pair for cellular tracking. *Anal. Chem.* **2020**, *92*, 12088–12096.

(207) Trofymchuk, K.; Prodi, L.; Reisch, A.; Mély, Y.; Altenhöner, K.; Mattay, J.; Klymchenko, A. S. Exploiting fast exciton diffusion in dye-doped polymer nanoparticles to engineer efficient photoswitching. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2015**, *6*, 2259–2264.

(208) Jiang, Y.; Novoa, M.; Nongnual, T.; Powell, R.; Bruce, T.; McNeill, J. Improved superresolution imaging using telegraph noise in organic semiconductor nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 3896– 3901.

(209) Jiang, Y.; Hu, Q.; Chen, H.; Zhang, J.; Chiu, D. T.; McNeill, J. Dual-mode superresolution imaging using charge transfer dynamics in semiconducting polymer dots. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 16173–16180.

(210) Chen, X.; Liu, Z.; Li, R.; Shan, C.; Zeng, Z.; Xue, B.; Yuan, W.; Mo, C.; Xi, P.; Wu, C.; Sun, Y. Multicolor super-resolution fluorescence microscopy with blue and carmine small photoblinking polymer dots. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 8084–8091.

(211) Sun, Z.; Liu, Z.; Chen, H.; Li, R.; Sun, Y.; Chen, D.; Xu, G.; Liu, L.; Wu, C. Semiconducting polymer dots with modulated photoblinking for high-order super-resolution optical fluctuation imaging. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2019**, *7*, 1900007.

(212) Wu, C.; Szymanski, C.; Cain, Z.; McNeill, J. Conjugated polymer dots for multiphoton fluorescence imaging. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 12904–12905.

(213) Chen, X.; Li, R.; Liu, Z.; Sun, K.; Sun, Z.; Chen, D.; Xu, G.; Xi, P.; Wu, C.; Sun, Y. Small photoblinking semiconductor polymer dots for fluorescence nanoscopy. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1604850.

(214) Kim, D.; Jeong, K.; Kwon, J. E.; Park, H.; Lee, S.; Kim, S.; Park, S. Y. Dual-color fluorescent nanoparticles showing perfect color-specific photoswitching for bioimaging and super-resolution microscopy. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 3089.

(215) Qi, Q.; Li, C.; Liu, X.; Jiang, S.; Xu, Z.; Lee, R.; Zhu, M.; Xu, B.; Tian, W. Solid-state photoinduced luminescence switch for advanced anticounterfeiting and super-resolution imaging applications. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 16036–16039.

(216) Chien, M.-P.; Carlini, A. S.; Hu, D.; Barback, C. V.; Rush, A. M.; Hall, D. J.; Orr, G.; Gianneschi, N. C. Enzyme-directed assembly of nanoparticles in tumors monitored by in vivo whole animal imaging and ex vivo super-resolution fluorescence imaging. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 18710–18713.

(217) Gao, P.; Prunsche, B.; Zhou, L.; Nienhaus, K.; Nienhaus, G. U. Background suppression in fluorescence nanoscopy with stimulated emission double depletion. *Nat. Photonics* **2017**, *11*, 163–169.

(218) Andrian, T.; Delcanale, P.; Pujals, S.; Albertazzi, L. Correlating super-resolution microscopy and transmission electron microscopy reveals multiparametric heterogeneity in nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 5360–5368.

(219) Li, Y.; Shang, L.; Nienhaus, G. U. Super-resolution imagingbased single particle tracking reveals dynamics of nanoparticle internalization by live cells. *Nanoscale* **2016**, *8*, 7423–7429.

(220) van der Zwaag, D.; Vanparijs, N.; Wijnands, S.; De Rycke, R.; De Geest, B. G.; Albertazzi, L. Super resolution imaging of nanoparticles cellular uptake and trafficking. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 6391–6399.

(221) Wu, Y.; Ruan, H.; Zhao, R.; Dong, Z.; Li, W.; Tang, X.; Yuan, J.; Fang, X. Ultrastable fluorescent polymer dots for stimulated emission depletion bioimaging. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2018**, *6*, 1800333.

(222) Lu, J.; Zong, S.; Wang, Z.; Chen, C.; Zhang, Y.; Cui, Y. Yolkshell type nanoprobe with excellent fluorescence 'blinking'behavior for optical super resolution imaging. *Nanotechnology* **201**7, *28*, 265701.

(223) Thompson, S.; Pappas, D. Core size does not affect blinking behavior of dye-doped Ag@ SiO_2 core-shell nanoparticles for superresolution microscopy. *RSC Adv.* **2020**, *10*, 8735–8743.

(224) Chakraborty, C.; Thompson, S.; Lyons, V. J.; Snoeyink, C.; Pappas, D. Modulation and study of photoblinking behavior in dye doped silver-silica core-shell nanoparticles for localization superresolution microscopy. *Nanotechnology* **2019**, *30*, 455704.

(225) Prabhakar, N.; Nareoja, T.; von Haartman, E.; Karaman, D. S.; Jiang, H.; Koho, S.; Dolenko, T. A.; Hanninen, P. E.; Vlasov, D. I.; Ralchenko, V. G.; Hosomi, S.; Vlasov, I. I.; Sahlgren, C.; Rosenholm, J. M. Core-shell designs of photoluminescent nanodiamonds with porous silica coatings for bioimaging and drug delivery II: application. *Nanoscale* **2013**, *5*, 3713–3722.

(226) Wang, J.; Ma, Q.; Wang, Y.; Li, Z.; Li, Z.; Yuan, Q. New insights into the structure-performance relationships of mesoporous materials in analytical science. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, *47*, 8766–8803.

(227) Peuschel, H.; Ruckelshausen, T.; Cavelius, C.; Kraegeloh, A. Quantification of internalized silica nanoparticles via STED microscopy. *BioMed. Res. Int.* **2015**, 2015, 1–16.

(228) Tavernaro, I.; Cavelius, C.; Peuschel, H.; Kraegeloh, A. Bright fluorescent silica-nanoparticle probes for high-resolution STED and confocal microscopy. *Beilstein J. Nanotechnol.* **2017**, *8*, 1283–1296.

(229) Shang, L.; Gao, P.; Wang, H.; Popescu, R.; Gerthsen, D.; Nienhaus, G. U. Protein-based fluorescent nanoparticles for superresolution STED imaging of live cells. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 2396–2400. (230) Hinckley, J. A.; Chapman, D. V.; Hedderick, K. R.; Oleske, K. W.; Estroff, L. A.; Wiesner, U. B. Quantitative comparison of dye and ultrasmall fluorescent silica core-shell nanoparticle probes for optical super-resolution imaging of model block copolymer thin film surfaces. *ACS Macro Lett.* **2019**, *8*, 1378–1382.

(231) Chen, S.; Wang, J.; Xin, B.; Yang, Y.; Ma, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Yuan, L.; Huang, Z.; Yuan, Q. Direct observation of nanoparticles within cells at subcellular levels by super-resolution fluorescence imaging. *Anal. Chem.* **2019**, *91*, 5747–5752.

(232) Chakkarapani, S. K.; Shin, T. H.; Lee, S.; Park, K.-S.; Lee, G.; Kang, S. H. Quantifying intracellular trafficking of silica-coated magnetic nanoparticles in live single cells by site-specific direct stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy. *J. Nanobiotechnol.* **2021**, *19*, 398.

(233) Ding, D.; Li, K.; Liu, B.; Tang, B. Z. Bioprobes based on AIE fluorogens. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2013**, *46*, 2441–2453.

(234) Cai, X.; Liu, B. Aggregation-induced emission: recent advances in materials and biomedical applications. *Angew. Chem.* **2020**, *132*, 9952–3886.

(235) Suzuki, S.; Sasaki, S.; Sairi, A. S.; Iwai, R.; Tang, B. Z.; Konishi, G. i. Principles of aggregation-induced emission: design of deactivation pathways for advanced AIEgens and applications. *Angew. Chem.* **2020**, *132*, 9940–9951.

(236) Guo, J.; Fan, J.; Liu, X.; Zhao, Z.; Tang, B. Z. Photomechanical luminescence from through-space conjugated AIEgens. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 8828–8832.

(237) Luo, J.; Xie, Z.; Lam, J. W. Y.; Cheng, L.; Tang, B. Z.; Chen, H.; Qiu, C.; Kwok, H. S.; Zhan, X.; Liu, Y.; Zhu, D. Aggregationinduced emission of 1-methyl-1, 2, 3, 4, 5-pentaphenylsilole. *Chem. Commun.* 2001, 18, 1740–1741.

(238) Hong, Y.; Lam, J. W.; Tang, B. Z. Aggregation-induced emission: phenomenon, mechanism and applications. *Chem. Commun.* **2009**, *29*, 4332–4353.

(239) Mei, J.; Leung, N. L.; Kwok, R. T.; Lam, J. W.; Tang, B. Z. Aggregation-induced emission: together we shine, united we soar! *Chem. Rev.* 2015, *115*, 11718–11940.

(240) Jin, G.; Feng, G.; Qin, W.; Tang, B. Z.; Liu, B.; Li, K. Multifunctional organic nanoparticles with aggregation-induced emission (AIE) characteristics for targeted photodynamic therapy and RNA interference therapy. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 2752–2755.

(241) Xu, S.; Duan, Y.; Liu, B. Precise molecular design for highperformance luminogens with aggregation-induced emission. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 1903530.

(242) Fang, X.; Chen, X.; Li, R.; Liu, Z.; Chen, H.; Sun, Z.; Ju, B.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, S. X.-A.; Ding, D.; Sun, Y.; Wu, C. Multicolor photocrosslinkable AIEgens toward compact nanodots for subcellular imaging and STED nanoscopy. *Small* **2017**, *13*, 1702128.

(243) Li, D.; Qin, W.; Xu, B.; Qian, J.; Tang, B. Z. AIE Nanoparticles with high stimulated emission depletion efficiency and photobleaching resistance for long-term super-resolution bioimaging. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1703643.

(244) Liu, Y.; Ding, Y.; Alonas, E.; Zhao, W.; Santangelo, P. J.; Jin, D.; Piper, J. A.; Teng, J.; Ren, Q.; Xi, P. Achieving $\lambda/10$ resolution CW STED nanoscopy with a Ti: sapphire oscillator. *PLoS One* **2012**, 7, No. e40003.

(245) Dang, D.; Zhang, H.; Xu, Y.; Xu, R.; Wang, Z.; Kwok, R. T.; Lam, J. W.; Zhang, L.; Meng, L.; Tang, B. Z. Super-resolution visualization of self-assembling helical fibers using aggregationinduced emission luminogens in stimulated emission depletion nanoscopy. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 11863–11873.

(246) Xu, Y.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, N.; Xu, R.; Wang, Z.; Zhou, Y.; Shen, Q.; Dang, D.; Meng, L.; Tang, B. Z. An easily synthesized AIE luminogen for lipid droplet-specific super-resolution imaging and twophoton imaging. *Mater. Chem. Front.* **2021**, *5*, 1872–1883.

(247) Lv, Ż.; Man, Z.; Cui, H.; Xu, Z.; Cao, H.; Li, S.; Liao, Q.; He, Q.; Zheng, L.; Fu, H. Red AIE Luminogens with tunable organelle specific anchoring for live cell dynamic super resolution imaging. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2021**, *31*, 2009329.

(248) Gu, X.; Zhao, E.; Zhao, T.; Kang, M.; Gui, C.; Lam, J. W.; Du, S.; Loy, M. M.; Tang, B. Z. A Mitochondrion-Specific photoactivatable fluorescence turn-on AIE-based bioprobe for localization super-resolution microscope. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 5064–5071.

(249) Li, C.; Xiong, K.; Chen, Y.; Fan, C.; Wang, Y.-L.; Ye, H.; Zhu, M.-Q. Visible-light-driven photoswitching of aggregated-induced emission-active diarylethenes for super-resolution imaging. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 27651–27662.

(250) Yang, H.; Li, M.; Li, C.; Luo, Q.; Zhu, M. Q.; Tian, H.; Zhu, W. H. Unraveling dual aggregation-induced emission behavior in steric-hindrance photochromic system for super resolution imaging. *Angew. Chem.* **2020**, *132*, 8638–8648.

(251) Rondin, L.; Dantelle, G.; Slablab, A.; Grosshans, F.; Treussart, F.; Bergonzo, P.; Perruchas, S.; Gacoin, T.; Chaigneau, M.; Chang, H.-C.; Jacques, V.; Roch, J.-F. Surface-induced charge state conversion of nitrogen-vacancy defects in nanodiamonds. *Phys. Rev.* B 2010, 82, 115449.

(252) Chang, Y.-R.; Lee, H.-Y.; Chen, K.; Chang, C.-C.; Tsai, D.-S.; Fu, C.-C.; Lim, T.-S.; Tzeng, Y.-K.; Fang, C.-Y.; Han, C.-C.; Chang, H.-C.; Fann, W. Mass production and dynamic imaging of fluorescent nanodiamonds. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2008**, *3*, 284–288.

(253) Hsiao, W. W.-W.; Hui, Y. Y.; Tsai, P.-C.; Chang, H.-C. Fluorescent nanodiamond: a versatile tool for long-term cell tracking, super-resolution imaging, and nanoscale temperature sensing. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2016**, *49*, 400–407.

(254) Hell, S. W.; Soukka, J.; Hänninen, P. E. Two-and multiphoton detection as an imaging mode and means of increasing the resolution in far-field light microscopy: A study based on photon-optics. *Bioimaging* **1995**, *3*, 64–69.

(255) Weston, K. D.; Dyck, M.; Tinnefeld, P.; Müller, C.; Herten, D. P.; Sauer, M. Measuring the number of independent emitters in single-molecule fluorescence images and trajectories using coincident photons. *Anal. Chem.* **2002**, *74*, 5342–5349.

(256) Sýkora, J.; Kaiser, K.; Gregor, I.; Bönigk, W.; Schmalzing, G.; Enderlein, J. Exploring fluorescence antibunching in solution to determine the stoichiometry of molecular complexes. *Anal. Chem.* **2007**, *79*, 4040–4049.

(257) Masuo, S.; Vosch, T.; Cotlet, M.; Tinnefeld, P.; Habuchi, S.; Bell, T. D. M.; Oesterling, I.; Beljonne, D.; Champagne, B.; Mullen, K.; Sauer, M.; Hofkens, J.; De Schryver, F. C. Multichromophoric dendrimers as single-photon sources: A single-molecule study. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 16686–16696.

(258) Fu, C.-C.; Lee, H.-Y.; Chen, K.; Lim, T.-S.; Wu, H.-Y.; Lin, P.-K.; Wei, P.-K.; Tsao, P.-H.; Chang, H.-C.; Fann, W. Characterization and application of single fluorescent nanodiamonds as cellular biomarkers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **200**7, *104*, 727–732.

(259) Gruber, A.; Dräbenstedt, A.; Tietz, C.; Fleury, L.; Wrachtrup, J.; Von Borczyskowski, C. Scanning confocal optical microscopy and magnetic resonance on single defect centers. *Science* **1997**, *276*, 2012–2014.

(260) Yu, S.-J.; Kang, M.-W.; Chang, H.-C.; Chen, K.-M.; Yu, Y.-C. Bright fluorescent nanodiamonds: no photobleaching and low cytotoxicity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 17604–17605.

(261) Vaijayanthimala, V.; Cheng, P.-Y.; Yeh, S.-H.; Liu, K.-K.; Hsiao, C.-H.; Chao, J.-I.; Chang, H.-C. The long-term stability and biocompatibility of fluorescent nanodiamond as an in vivo contrast agent. *Biomaterials* **2012**, *33*, 7794–7802.

(262) Wee, T.-L.; Mau, Y.-W.; Fang, C.-Y.; Hsu, H.-L.; Han, C.-C.; Chang, H.-C. Preparation and characterization of green fluorescent nanodiamonds for biological applications. *Diam. Relat. Mater.* **2009**, *18*, 567–573.

(263) Wee, T.-L.; Tzeng, Y.-K.; Han, C.-C.; Chang, H.-C.; Fann, W.; Hsu, J.-H.; Chen, K.-M.; Yu, Y.-C. Two-photon excited fluorescence of nitrogen-vacancy centers in proton-irradiated type Ib diamond. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2007**, *111*, 9379–9386.

(264) Mochalin, V. N.; Gogotsi, Y. Wet chemistry route to hydrophobic blue fluorescent nanodiamond. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 4594–4595.

(266) Gaebel, T.; Popa, I.; Gruber, A.; Domhan, M.; Jelezko, F.; Wrachtrup, J. Stable single-photon source in the near infrared. *New J. Phys.* **2004**, *6*, 98.

(267) Chang, B. M.; Lin, H. H.; Su, L. J.; Lin, W. D.; Lin, R. J.; Tzeng, Y. K.; Lee, R. T.; Lee, Y. C.; Yu, A. L.; Chang, H. C. Highly fluorescent nanodiamonds protein-functionalized for cell labeling and targeting. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2013**, *23*, 5737–5745.

(268) Krüger, A.; Liang, Y.; Jarre, G.; Stegk, J. Surface functionalisation of detonation diamond suitable for biological applications. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2006**, *16*, 2322–2328.

(269) Chang, Y.-R.; Lee, H.-Y.; Chen, K.; Chang, C.-C.; Tsai, D.-S.; Fu, C.-C.; Lim, T.-S.; Tzeng, Y.-K.; Fang, C.-Y.; Han, C.-C.; Chang, H.-C.; Fann, W. Mass production and dynamic imaging of fluorescent nanodiamonds. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2008**, *3*, 284–288.

(270) Chao, J.-I.; Perevedentseva, E.; Chung, P.-H.; Liu, K.-K.; Cheng, C.-Y.; Chang, C.-C.; Cheng, C.-L. Nanometer-sized diamond particle as a probe for biolabeling. *Biophys. J.* **2007**, *93*, 2199–2208. (271) Zhang, X. Q.; Lam, R.; Xu, X.; Chow, E. K.; Kim, H. J.; Ho, D. Multimodal nanodiamond drug delivery carriers for selective targeting, imaging, and enhanced chemotherapeutic efficacy. *Adv. Mater.* **2011**, *23*, 4770–4775.

(272) Faklaris, O.; Joshi, V.; Irinopoulou, T.; Tauc, P.; Sennour, M.; Girard, H.; Gesset, C.; Arnault, J.-C.; Thorel, A.; Boudou, J.-P.; Curmi, P. A.; Treussart, F. Photoluminescent diamond nanoparticles for cell labeling: study of the uptake mechanism in mammalian cells. *ACS Nano* **2009**, *3*, 3955–3962.

(273) Faklaris, O.; Garrot, D.; Joshi, V.; Druon, F.; Boudou, J. P.; Sauvage, T.; Georges, P.; Curmi, P. A.; Treussart, F. Detection of single photoluminescent diamond nanoparticles in cells and study of the internalization pathway. *Small* **2008**, *4*, 2236–2239.

(274) Mohan, N.; Chen, C.-S.; Hsieh, H.-H.; Wu, Y.-C.; Chang, H.-C. In vivo imaging and toxicity assessments of fluorescent nanodiamonds in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nano Lett.* **2010**, *10*, 3692–3699.

(275) Igarashi, R.; Yoshinari, Y.; Yokota, H.; Sugi, T.; Sugihara, F.; Ikeda, K.; Sumiya, H.; Tsuji, S.; Mori, I.; Tochio, H.; Harada, Y.; Shirakawa, M. Real-time background-free selective imaging of fluorescent nanodiamonds in vivo. *Nano Lett.* **2012**, *12*, 5726–5732. (276) Rittweger, E.; Han, K. Y.; Irvine, S. E.; Eggeling, C.; Hell, S. W. STED microscopy reveals crystal colour centres with nanometric resolution. *Nat. Photonics* **2009**, *3*, 144–147.

(277) Han, K. Y.; Willig, K. I.; Rittweger, E.; Jelezko, F.; Eggeling, C.; Hell, S. W. Three-dimensional stimulated emission depletion microscopy of nitrogen-vacancy centers in diamond using continuous-wave light. *Nano Lett.* **2009**, *9*, 3323–3329.

(278) Tzeng, Y. K.; Faklaris, O.; Chang, B. M.; Kuo, Y.; Hsu, J. H.; Chang, H. C. Superresolution imaging of albumin-conjugated fluorescent nanodiamonds in cells by stimulated emission depletion. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 2262–2265.

(279) Arroyo-Camejo, S.; Adam, M.-P.; Besbes, M.; Hugonin, J.-P.; Jacques, V.; Greffet, J.-J.; Roch, J.-F.; Hell, S. W.; Treussart, F. Stimulated emission depletion microscopy resolves individual nitrogen vacancy centers in diamond nanocrystals. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 10912–10919.

(280) Laporte, G.; Psaltis, D. STED imaging of green fluorescent nanodiamonds containing nitrogen-vacancy-nitrogen centers. *Biomed. Opt. Express* **2016**, *7*, 34–44.

(281) Prabhakar, N.; Peurla, M.; Koho, S.; Deguchi, T.; Näreoja, T.; Chang, H. C.; Rosenholm, J. M.; Hänninen, P. E. STED-TEM correlative microscopy leveraging nanodiamonds as intracellular dualcontrast markers. *Small* **2018**, *14*, 1701807.

(282) Zheng, Q.; Juette, M. F.; Jockusch, S.; Wasserman, M. R.; Zhou, Z.; Altman, R. B.; Blanchard, S. C. Ultra-stable organic fluorophores for single-molecule research. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2014**, *43*, 1044–1056. (283) Barnard, A. S.; Sternberg, M. Substitutional nitrogen in nanodiamond and bucky-diamond particles. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 17107–17112.

(284) Stennett, E. M.; Ciuba, M. A.; Levitus, M. Photophysical processes in single molecule organic fluorescent probes. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2014, 43, 1057–1075.

(285) Pinto, H.; Jones, R.; Palmer, D.; Goss, J.; Briddon, P.; Öberg, S. Theory of the surface effects on the luminescence of the NV-defect in nanodiamond. *Phys. Status Solidi A* **2011**, *208*, 2045–2050.

(286) Bradac, C.; Gaebel, T.; Pakes, C. I.; Say, J. M.; Zvyagin, A. V.; Rabeau, J. R. Effect of the nanodiamond host on a nitrogen-vacancy color-centre emission state. *Small* **2013**, *9*, 132–139.

(287) Smith, B. R.; Inglis, D. W.; Sandnes, B.; Rabeau, J. R.; Zvyagin, A. V.; Gruber, D.; Noble, C. J.; Vogel, R.; Osawa, E.; Plakhotnik, T. Five-nanometer diamond with luminescent nitrogen-vacancy defect centers. *Small* **2009**, *5*, 1649–1653.

(288) Yang, X.; Tzeng, Y.-K.; Zhu, Z.; Huang, Z.; Chen, X.; Liu, Y.; Chang, H.-C.; Huang, L.; Li, W.-D.; Xi, P. Sub-diffraction imaging of nitrogen-vacancy centers in diamond by stimulated emission depletion and structured illumination. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 11305–11310.

(289) Storteboom, J.; Li, X.; Gu, M. Front. Opt. 2014, FTh1A. 7.

(290) Storterboom, J.; Barbiero, M.; Castelletto, S.; Gu, M. Nanoscale Res. Lett. **2021**, 16, 44.

(291) Liu, Y.; Lu, Y.; Yang, X.; Zheng, X.; Wen, S.; Wang, F.; Vidal, X.; Zhao, J.; Liu, D.; Zhou, Z.; Ma, C.; Zhou, J.; Piper, J. A.; Xi, P.; Jin, D. Amplified stimulated emission in upconversion nanoparticles for super-resolution nanoscopy. *Nature* **201**7, *543*, 229–233.

(292) Zhan, Q.; Liu, H.; Wang, B.; Wu, Q.; Pu, R.; Zhou, C.; Huang, B.; Peng, X.; Ågren, H.; He, S. Achieving high-efficiency emission depletion nanoscopy by employing cross relaxation in upconversion nanoparticles. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 1058.

(293) Tian, X.; De Pace, C.; Ruiz-Perez, L.; Chen, B.; Su, R.; Zhang, M.; Zhang, R.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, Q.; Zhou, H.; Wu, J.; Zhang, Z.; Tian, Y.; Battaglia, G. A cyclometalated Iridium (III) complex as a microtubule probe for correlative super-resolution fluorescence and electron microscopy. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 2003901.

(294) Lee, C.; Xu, E. Z.; Liu, Y.; Teitelboim, A.; Yao, K.; Fernandez-Bravo, A.; Kotulska, A. M.; Nam, S. H.; Suh, Y. D.; Bednarkiewicz, A.; Cohen, B. E.; Chan, E. M.; Schuck, P. J. Giant nonlinear optical responses from photon-avalanching nanoparticles. *Nature* **2021**, *589*, 230–235.

(295) González-Béjar, M.; Francés-Soriano, L.; Pérez-Prieto, J. Upconversion nanoparticles for bioimaging and regenerative medicine. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* **2016**, *4*, 47.

(296) Zhao, M.; Li, B.; Wang, P.; Lu, L.; Zhang, Z.; Liu, L.; Wang, S.; Li, D.; Wang, R.; Zhang, F. Supramolecularly engineered NIR-II and upconversion nanoparticles in vivo assembly and disassembly to improve bioimaging. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1804982.

(297) Rafique, R.; Kailasa, S. K.; Park, T. J. Recent advances of upconversion nanoparticles in theranostics and bioimaging applications. *TrAC Trends Anal. Chem.* **2019**, *120*, 115646.

(298) Tan, G. R.; Wang, M.; Hsu, C. Y.; Chen, N.; Zhang, Y. Small upconverting fluorescent nanoparticles for biosensing and bioimaging. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2016**, *4*, 984–997.

(299) Jia, T.; Wang, Q.; Xu, M.; Yuan, W.; Feng, W.; Li, F. Highly efficient BODIPY-doped upconversion nanoparticles for deep-red luminescence bioimaging in vivo. *Chem. Commun.* **2021**, *57*, 1518–1521.

(300) Zhang, R.; Liang, L.; Meng, Q.; Zhao, J.; Ta, H. T.; Li, L.; Zhang, Z.; Sultanbawa, Y.; Xu, Z. P. Responsive upconversion nanoprobe for background-free hypochlorous acid detection and bioimaging. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1803712.

(301) Li, H.; Wang, X.; Huang, D.; Chen, G. Recent advances of lanthanide-doped upconversion nanoparticles for biological applications. *Nanotechnology* **2020**, *31*, 072001.

(302) Chen, G.; Qiu, H.; Prasad, P. N.; Chen, X. Upconversion nanoparticles: design, nanochemistry, and applications in theranostics. *Chem. Rev.* **2014**, *114*, 5161–5214.

(303) Wu, X.; Chen, G.; Shen, J.; Li, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Han, G. Upconversion nanoparticles: a versatile solution to multiscale biological imaging. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2015**, *26*, 166–175.

(304) Dou, Q.; Idris, N. M.; Zhang, Y. Sandwich-structured upconversion nanoparticles with tunable color for multiplexed cell labeling. *Biomaterials* **2013**, *34*, 1722–1731.

(305) Xie, X.; Gao, N.; Deng, R.; Sun, Q.; Xu, Q.-H.; Liu, X. Mechanistic investigation of photon upconversion in Nd³⁺-sensitized core-shell nanoparticles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 12608–12611.

(306) Rajeswari, R.; Susmitha, K.; Jayasankar, C.; Raghavender, M.; Giribabu, L. Enhanced light harvesting with novel photon upconverted Y_2CaZnO_5 : Er^{3+}/Yb^{3+} nanophosphors for dye sensitized solar cells. Sol. Energy 2017, 157, 956–965.

(307) Zhou, B.; Shi, B.; Jin, D.; Liu, X. Controlling upconversion nanocrystals for emerging applications. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2015**, *10*, 924–936.

(308) Lu, Y.; Zhao, J.; Zhang, R.; Liu, Y.; Liu, D.; Goldys, E. M.; Yang, X.; Xi, P.; Sunna, A.; Lu, J.; Shi, Y.; Leif, R. C.; Huo, Y.; Shen, J.; Piper, J. A.; Robinson, J. P.; Jin, D. Tunable lifetime multiplexing using luminescent nanocrystals. *Nat. Photonics* **2014**, *8*, 32–36.

(309) Kong, W.; Shan, J.; Ju, Y. Flame synthesis and effects of host materials on Yb3+/Er3+ co-doped upconversion nanophosphors. *Mater. Lett.* **2010**, *64*, 688–691.

(310) Gu, Z.; Yan, L.; Tian, G.; Li, S.; Chai, Z.; Zhao, Y. Recent advances in design and fabrication of upconversion nanoparticles and their safe theranostic applications. *Adv. Mater.* **2013**, *25*, 3758–3779.

(311) Wei, W.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, R.; Goggi, J.; Ren, N.; Huang, L.; Bhakoo, K. K.; Sun, H.; Tan, T. T. Y. Cross relaxation induced pure red upconversion in activator-and sensitizer-rich lanthanide nano-particles. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 5183–5186.

(312) Wu, S.; Butt, H. J. Near-infrared-sensitive materials based on upconverting nanoparticles. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 1208–1226.

(313) Yan, C.; Zhao, H.; Perepichka, D. F.; Rosei, F. Lanthanide ion doped upconverting nanoparticles: synthesis, structure and properties. *Small* **2016**, *12*, 3888–3907.

(314) Chen, X.; Peng, D.; Ju, Q.; Wang, F. Photon upconversion in core-shell nanoparticles. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 1318–1330.

(315) Lei, Z.; Ling, X.; Mei, Q.; Fu, S.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, Y. An excitation navigating energy migration of lanthanide ions in upconversion nanoparticles. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 1906225.

(316) Wiesholler, L. M.; Frenzel, F.; Grauel, B.; Würth, C.; Resch-Genger, U.; Hirsch, T. Yb, Nd, Er-doped upconversion nanoparticles: 980 nm versus 808 nm excitation. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 13440–13449.

(317) Gnanasammandhan Jayakumar, M. K.; Huang, K.; Zhang, Y. Tuning the energy migration and new insights into the mechanism of upconversion. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 8439–8440.

(318) Zheng, W.; Huang, P.; Tu, D.; Ma, E.; Zhu, H.; Chen, X. Lanthanide-doped upconversion nano-bioprobes: electronic structures, optical properties, and biodetection. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 1379–1415.

(319) Zheng, K.; Loh, K. Y.; Wang, Y.; Chen, Q.; Fan, J.; Jung, T.; Nam, S. H.; Suh, Y. D.; Liu, X. Recent advances in upconversion nanocrystals: Expanding the kaleidoscopic toolbox for emerging applications. *Nano Today* **2019**, *29*, 100797.

(320) Zou, X.; Izumitani, T. Spectroscopic properties and mechanisms of excited state absorption and energy transfer upconversion for Er^{3+} -doped glasses. J. Non-Cryst. Solids **1993**, 162, 68–80.

(321) Liu, Y.; Luo, W.; Zhu, H.; Chen, X. Optical spectroscopy of lanthanides doped in wide band-gap semiconductor nanocrystals. *J. Lumin.* **2011**, *131*, 415–422.

(322) Luo, W.; Fu, C.; Li, R.; Liu, Y.; Zhu, H.; Chen, X. Er^{3+} -doped anatase TiO₂ nanocrystals: crystal-field levels, excited-state dynamics, upconversion, and defect luminescence. *Small* **2011**, *7*, 3046–3056.

(323) Liu, S.; Yan, L.; Huang, J.; Zhang, Q.; Zhou, B. Controlling upconversion in emerging multilayer core-shell nanostructures: from fundamentals to frontier applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2022, *51*, 1729–1765.

(324) Knighton, R. C.; Soro, L. K.; Francés-Soriano, L.; Rodríguez-Rodríguez, A.; Pilet, G.; Lenertz, M.; Platas-Iglesias, C.; Hildebrandt, N.; Charbonnière, L. J. Cooperative luminescence and cooperative sensitisation upconversion of lanthanide complexes in solution. *Angew. Chem.* **2022**, *61*, No. e202113114.

(325) Bolvin, H.; Fürstenberg, A.; Golesorkhi, B.; Nozary, H.; Taarit, I.; Piguet, C. Metal-based linear light upconversion implemented in molecular complexes: challenges and perspectives. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2022**, *55*, 442–456.

(326) Yang, X. F.; Lyu, Z. Y.; Dong, H.; Sun, L. D.; Yan, C. H. Lanthanide upconverted microlasing: microlasing spanning full visible spectrum to near-infrared under low power, CW pumping. *Small* **2021**, *17*, 2103140.

(327) Zhang, Y.; Lei, P.; Zhu, X.; Zhang, Y. Full shell coating or cation exchange enhances luminescence. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 6178.

(328) Chivian, J. S.; Case, W.; Eden, D. The photon avalanche: A new phenomenon in Pr3+-based infrared quantum counters. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1979**, 35, 124.

(329) Liu, J.; Wu, R.; Li, N.; Zhang, X.; Zhan, Q.; He, S. Deep, high contrast microscopic cell imaging using three-photon luminescence of β -(NaYF₄: Er³⁺/NaYF₄) nanoprobe excited by 1480-nm CW laser of only 1.5-mW. *Biomed. Opt. Express* **2015**, *6*, 1857–1866.

(330) Chan, E. M.; Levy, E. S.; Cohen, B. E. Rationally designed energy transfer in upconverting nanoparticles. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 5753–5761.

(331) Dong, H.; Du, S.-R.; Zheng, X.-Y.; Lyu, G.-M.; Sun, L.-D.; Li, L.-D.; Zhang, P.-Z.; Zhang, C.; Yan, C.-H. Lanthanide nanoparticles: from design toward bioimaging and therapy. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 10725–10815.

(332) Kolesov, R.; Reuter, R.; Xia, K.; Stöhr, R.; Zappe, A.; Wrachtrup, J. Super-resolution upconversion microscopy of praseodymium-doped yttrium aluminum garnet nanoparticles. *Phys. Rev. B* **2011**, *84*, 153413.

(333) De Camillis, S.; Ren, P.; Cao, Y.; Plöschner, M.; Denkova, D.; Zheng, X.; Lu, Y.; Piper, J. A. Controlling the non-linear emission of upconversion nanoparticles to enhance super-resolution imaging performance. *Nanoscale* **2020**, *12*, 20347–20355.

(334) Mi, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Vanga, S. K.; Chen, C.-B.; Tan, H. Q.; Watt, F.; Liu, X.; Bettiol, A. A. Subwavelength imaging through ion-beaminduced upconversion. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 8832.

(335) Chen, C.; Wang, F.; Wen, S.; Su, Q. P.; Wu, M. C. L.; Liu, Y.; Wang, B.; Li, D.; Shan, X.; Kianinia, M.; Aharonovich, I.; Toth, M.; Jackson, S. P.; Xi, P.; Jin, D. Multi-photon near-infrared emission saturation nanoscopy using upconversion nanoparticles. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 3290.

(336) Wu, Q.; Huang, B.; Peng, X.; He, S.; Zhan, Q. Non-bleaching fluorescence emission difference microscopy using single 808-nm laser excited red upconversion emission. *Opt. Express* 2017, 25, 30885–30894.

(337) Huang, B.; Wu, Q.; Peng, X.; Yao, L.; Peng, D.; Zhan, Q. Onescan fluorescence emission difference nanoscopy developed with excitation orthogonalized upconversion nanoparticles. *Nanoscale* **2018**, *10*, 21025–21030.

(338) Chen, C.; Wang, F.; Wen, S.; Su, Q. P.; Wu, M. C. L.; Liu, Y.; Wang, B.; Li, D.; Shan, X.; Kianinia, M.; Aharonovich, I.; Toth, M.; Jackson, S. P.; Xi, P.; Jin, D. Multi-photon near-infrared emission saturation nanoscopy using upconversion nanoparticles. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 3290.

(339) Chen, C.; Liu, B.; Liu, Y.; Liao, J.; Shan, X.; Wang, F.; Jin, D. Heterochromatic nonlinear optical responses in upconversion nanoparticles for super-resolution nanoscopy. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2008847.

(340) Liu, B.; Chen, C.; Di, X.; Liao, J.; Wen, S.; Su, Q. P.; Shan, X.; Xu, Z.-Q.; Ju, L. A.; Mi, C.; Wang, F.; Jin, D. Upconversion nonlinear structured illumination microscopy. *Nano Lett.* **2020**, *20*, 4775–4781. (341) Liu, B.; Liao, J.; Song, Y.; Chen, C.; Ding, L.; Lu, J.; Zhou, J.; Wang, F. Multiplexed structured illumination super-resolution imaging with lifetime-engineered upconversion nanoparticles. *Nanoscale Adv.* **2021**, *4*, 30–38.

(342) Sedlmeier, A.; Gorris, H. H. Surface modification and characterization of photon-upconverting nanoparticles for bioanalytical applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 1526–1560.

(343) Han, S.; Deng, R.; Xie, X.; Liu, X. Enhancing luminescence in lanthanide-doped upconversion nanoparticles. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 11702–11715.

(344) Sun, T.; Li, Y.; Ho, W. L.; Zhu, Q.; Chen, X.; Jin, L.; Zhu, H.; Huang, B.; Lin, J.; Little, B. E.; Chu, S. T.; Wang, F. Integrating temporal and spatial control of electronic transitions for bright multiphoton upconversion. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 1811.

(345) Dong, H.; Sun, L.-D.; Yan, C.-H. Lanthanide-doped upconversion nanoparticles for super-resolution microscopy. *Front. Chem.* **2021**, DOI: 10.3389/fchem.2020.619377.

(346) Niu, W.; Wu, S.; Zhang, S. A facile and general approach for the multicolor tuning of lanthanide-ion doped NaYF 4 upconversion nanoparticles within a fixed composition. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2010**, *20*, 9113–9117.

(347) Sun, L.; Wei, R.; Feng, J.; Zhang, H. Tailored lanthanidedoped upconversion nanoparticles and their promising bioapplication prospects. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *364*, 10–32.

(348) Fan, Y.; Liu, L.; Zhang, F. Exploiting lanthanide-doped upconversion nanoparticles with core/shell structures. *Nano Today* **2019**, *25*, 68–84.

(349) Park, Y. I.; Lee, K. T.; Suh, Y. D.; Hyeon, T. Upconverting nanoparticles: a versatile platform for wide-field two-photon microscopy and multi-modal in vivo imaging. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2015, 44, 1302–1317.

(350) Iijima, S. Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon. *Nature* **1991**, 354, 56–58.

(351) Iijima, S.; Ichihashi, T. Single-shell carbon nanotubes of 1-nm diameter. *Nature* **1993**, *363*, 603–605.

(352) Bethune, D.; Kiang, C. H.; De Vries, M.; Gorman, G.; Savoy, R.; Vazquez, J.; Beyers, R. Cobalt-catalysed growth of carbon nanotubes with single-atomic-layer walls. *Nature* **1993**, *363*, 605–607.

(353) Monthioux, M.; Kuznetsov, V. L. Who should be given the credit for the discovery of carbon nanotubes? *Carbon* 2006, 44, 1621–1623.

(354) Hong, G.; Diao, S.; Antaris, A. L.; Dai, H. Chem. Rev. 2015, 115, 10816-10906.

(355) Wilder, J. W.; Venema, L. C.; Rinzler, A. G.; Smalley, R. E.; Dekker, C. Electronic structure of atomically resolved carbon nanotubes. *Nature* **1998**, *391*, 59–62.

(356) Odom, T. W.; Huang, J.-L.; Kim, P.; Lieber, C. M. Atomic structure and electronic properties of single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Nature* **1998**, *391*, 62–64.

(357) O'Connell, M. J.; Bachilo, S. M.; Huffman, C. B.; Moore, V. C.; Strano, M. S.; Haroz, E. H.; Rialon, K. L.; Boul, P. J.; Noon, W. H.; Kittrell, C.; Ma, J.; Hauge, R. H.; Weisman, R. B.; Smalley, R. E. Band gap fluorescence from individual single-walled carbon nano-tubes. *Science* **2002**, *297*, 593–596.

(358) Smith, A. M.; Mancini, M. C.; Nie, S. Second window for in vivo imaging. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2009**, *4*, 710–711.

(359) Welsher, K.; Liu, Z.; Sherlock, S. P.; Robinson, J. T.; Chen, Z.; Daranciang, D.; Dai, H. A route to brightly fluorescent carbon nanotubes for near-infrared imaging in mice. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2009**, *4*, 773–780.

(360) Heller, D. A.; Jin, H.; Martinez, B. M.; Patel, D.; Miller, B. M.; Yeung, T.-K.; Jena, P. V.; Hobartner, C.; Ha, T.; Silverman, S. K.; Strano, M. S. Multimodal optical sensing and analyte specificity using single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2009**, *4*, 114–120.

(361) Reuel, N. F.; Dupont, A.; Thouvenin, O.; Lamb, D. C.; Strano, M. S. Three-dimensional tracking of carbon nanotubes within living cells. *ACS Nano* **2012**, *6*, 5420–5428.

(362) Wang, Y.; Bahng, J. H.; Che, Q.; Han, J.; Kotov, N. A. Anomalously fast diffusion of targeted carbon nanotubes in cellular spheroids. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 8231–8238.

(363) Jena, P. V.; Shamay, Y.; Shah, J.; Roxbury, D.; Paknejad, N.; Heller, D. A. Photoluminescent carbon nanotubes interrogate the permeability of multicellular tumor spheroids. *Carbon* **2016**, *97*, 99– 109.

(364) Varela, J. A.; Dupuis, J. P.; Etchepare, L.; Espana, A.; Cognet, L.; Groc, L. Targeting neurotransmitter receptors with nanoparticles in vivo allows single-molecule tracking in acute brain slices. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 10947.

(365) Cognet, L.; Tsyboulski, D. A.; Weisman, R. B. Subdiffraction far-field imaging of luminescent single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Nano Lett.* **2008**, *8*, 749–753.

(366) Kim, Y.; Velizhanin, K. A.; He, X.; Sarpkaya, I.; Yomogida, Y.; Tanaka, T.; Kataura, H.; Doorn, S. K.; Htoon, H. Photoluminescence intensity fluctuations and temperature-dependent decay dynamics of individual carbon nanotube sp³ defects. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, *10*, 1423–1430.

(367) Sen, F.; Boghossian, A. A.; Sen, S.; Ulissi, Z. W.; Zhang, J.; Strano, M. S. Observation of oscillatory surface reactions of riboflavin, trolox, and singlet oxygen using single carbon nanotube fluorescence spectroscopy. *ACS Nano* **2012**, *6*, 10632–10645.

(368) Pan, J.; Cha, T.-G.; Li, F.; Chen, H.; Bragg, N. A.; Choi, J. H. Visible/near-infrared subdiffraction imaging reveals the stochastic nature of DNA walkers. *Sci. Adv.* **2017**, *3*, No. e1601600.

(369) Danne, N.; Kim, M.; Godin, A. G.; Kwon, H.; Gao, Z.; Wu, X.; Hartmann, N. F.; Doorn, S. K.; Lounis, B.; Wang, Y.; Cognet, L. Ultrashort carbon nanotubes that fluoresce brightly in the near-infrared. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 6059–6065.

(370) Godin, A. G.; Setaro, A.; Gandil, M.; Haag, R.; Adeli, M.; Reich, S.; Cognet, L. Photoswitchable single-walled carbon nanotubes for super-resolution microscopy in the near-infrared. *Sci. Adv.* **2019**, *5*, No. eaax1166.

(371) Urban, N. T.; Foreman, M. R.; Hell, S. W.; Sivan, Y. Nanoparticle-assisted STED nanoscopy with gold nanospheres. *ACS Photonics* **2018**, *5*, 2574–2583.

(372) Zhao, W.-W.; Tian, C.-Y.; Xu, J.-J.; Chen, H.-Y. The coupling of localized surface plasmon resonance-based photoelectrochemistry and nanoparticle size effect: towards novel plasmonic photoelectrochemical biosensing. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 895–897.

(373) Liu, X.; Lee, C.; Law, W.-C.; Zhu, D.; Liu, M.; Jeon, M.; Kim, J.; Prasad, P. N.; Kim, C.; Swihart, M. T. Au-Cu_{2-x}Se heterodimer nanoparticles with broad localized surface plasmon resonance as contrast agents for deep tissue imaging. *Nano Lett.* **2013**, *13*, 4333–4339.

(374) Giannini, V.; Fernández-Domínguez, A. I.; Heck, S. C.; Maier, S. A. Plasmonic nanoantennas: fundamentals and their use in controlling the radiative properties of nanoemitters. *Chem. Rev.* **2011**, *111*, 3888–3912.

(375) Lee, S.; Sun, Y.; Cao, Y.; Kang, S. H. Plasmonic nanostructurebased bioimaging and detection techniques at the single-cell level. *TrAC Trends Anal. Chem.* **2019**, *117*, 58–68.

(376) Liu, X.; Swihart, M. T. Heavily-doped colloidal semiconductor and metal oxide nanocrystals: an emerging new class of plasmonic nanomaterials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2014**, *43*, 3908–3920.

(377) Serrano-Montes, A. B.; Langer, J.; Henriksen-Lacey, M.; Jimenez de Aberasturi, D.; Solis, D. M.; Taboada, J. M.; Obelleiro, F.; Sentosun, K.; Bals, S.; Bekdemir, A.; Stellacci, F.; Liz-Marzan, L. M. Gold nanostar-coated polystyrene beads as multifunctional nanoprobes for SERS bioimaging. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2016**, *120*, 20860–20868.

(378) Serrano-Montes, A. B.; Langer, J.; Henriksen-Lacey, M.; Jimenez de Aberasturi, D.; Solis, D. M.; Taboada, J. M.; Obelleiro, F.; Sentosun, K.; Bals, S.; Bekdemir, A.; Stellacci, F.; Liz-Marzan, L. M. Metal-enhanced fluorescence from quantum dot-coupled gold nanoparticles. J. Phys. Chem. C 2016, 120, 20860–20868.

(379) Kuladeep, R.; Jyothi, L.; Alee, K. S.; Deepak, K.; Rao, D. N. Laser-assisted synthesis of Au-Ag alloy nanoparticles with tunable surface plasmon resonance frequency. *Opt. Mater. Express* **2012**, *2*, 161–172.

12538

(380) Liang, A.; Liu, Q.; Wen, G.; Jiang, Z. The surface-plasmonresonance effect of nanogold/silver and its analytical applications. *TrAC Trends Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *37*, 32–47.

(381) Amendola, V.; Pilot, R.; Frasconi, M.; Maragò, O. M.; Iati, M. A. Surface plasmon resonance in gold nanoparticles: a review. *J. Phys.*-*Condens. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 203002.

(382) Teranishi, T.; Eguchi, M.; Kanehara, M.; Gwo, S. Controlled localized surface plasmon resonance wavelength for conductive nanoparticles over the ultraviolet to near-infrared region. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2011**, *21*, 10238–10242.

(383) Liu, Y.; Peng, Z.; Peng, X.; Yan, W.; Yang, Z.; Qu, J. Shedding New Lights Into STED Microscopy: Emerging Nanoprobes for Imaging. *Front. Chem.* **2021**, *9*, 641330.

(384) Liu, S.; Chen, G.; Prasad, P. N.; Swihart, M. T. Synthesis of monodisperse Au, Ag, and Au-Ag alloy nanoparticles with tunable size and surface plasmon resonance frequency. *Chem. Mater.* **2011**, *23*, 4098–4101.

(385) Gonzalo, J.; Serna, R.; Solis, J.; Babonneau, D.; Afonso, C. Morphological and interaction effects on the surface plasmon resonance of metal nanoparticles. *J. Phys.-Condens. Mater.* **2003**, *15*, S3001–S3010.

(386) Gradess, R.; Abargues, R.; Habbou, A.; Canet-Ferrer, J.; Pedrueza, E.; Russell, A.; Valdes, J. L.; Martinez-Pastor, J. P. Localized surface plasmon resonance sensor based on Ag-PVA nanocomposite thin films. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2009**, *19*, 9233–9240.

(387) Sharma, V.; Verma, D.; Okram, G. S. Influence of surfactant, particle size and dispersion medium on surface plasmon resonance of silver nanoparticles. *J. Phys.-Condens. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 145302.

(388) Sivan, Y.; Sonnefraud, Y.; Kéna-Cohen, S. p.; Pendry, J. B.; Maier, S. A. Nanoparticle-assisted stimulated-emission-depletion nanoscopy. *ACS Nano* **2012**, *6*, 5291–5296.

(389) Sivan, Y. Performance improvement in nanoparticle-assisted stimulated-emission-depletion nanoscopy. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2012**, *101*, 021111.

(390) Sivan, Y.; Sonnefraud, Y. Nanoparticle-assisted stimulated emission depletion (STED) super-resolution nanoscopy. *Plasmonics Super-Resolut. Imaging* **2017**, 247–298.

(391) Balzarotti, F.; Stefani, F. D. Plasmonics meets far-field optical nanoscopy. *ACS Nano* **2012**, *6*, 4580–4584.

(392) Cortes, E.; Huidobro, P. A.; Sinclair, H. G.; Guldbrand, S.; Peveler, W. J.; Davies, T.; Parrinello, S.; Gorlitz, F.; Dunsby, C.; Neil, M. A. A.; Sivan, Y.; Parkin, I. P.; French, P. M. W.; Maier, S. A. Plasmonic nanoprobes for stimulated emission depletion nanoscopy. *ACS Nano* **2016**, *10*, 10454–10461.

(393) Galanzha, E. I.; Weingold, R.; Nedosekin, D. A.; Sarimollaoglu, M.; Nolan, J.; Harrington, W.; Kuchyanov, A. S.; Parkhomenko, R. G.; Watanabe, F.; Nima, Z.; Biris, A. S.; Plekhanov, A. I.; Stockman, M. I.; Zharov, V. P. Spaser as a biological probe. *Nat. Commun.* **201**7, *8*, 15528.

(394) Gao, Z.; Wang, J. H.; Song, P.; Kang, B.; Xu, J. J.; Chen, H. Y. Spaser nanoparticles for ultranarrow bandwidth STED superresolution imaging. *Adv. Mater.* **2020**, *32*, 1907233.

(395) Qiu, K.; Du, Y.; Liu, J.; Guan, J.-L.; Chao, H.; Diao, J. Superresolution observation of lysosomal dynamics with fluorescent gold nanoparticles. *Theranostics* **2020**, *10*, 6072–6081.

(396) Gao, Z.; Wu, P.; Yin, L.; Kang, B.; Chen, H.-Y.; Xu, J.-J. Superresolution plasmonic imaging via scattering saturation STED. *Chem. Commun.* 2021, 57, 3492–3495.

(397) Yadav, A.; Verma, N. C.; Rao, C.; Mishra, P. M.; Jaiswal, A.; Nandi, C. K. Bovine serum albumin-conjugated red emissive gold nanocluster as a fluorescent nanoprobe for super-resolution microscopy. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2020**, *11*, 5741–5748.

(398) Wolfbeis, O. S. An overview of nanoparticles commonly used in fluorescent bioimaging. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 4743–4768.

(399) Heuer-Jungemann, A.; Feliu, N.; Bakaimi, I.; Hamaly, M.; Alkilany, A.; Chakraborty, I.; Masood, A.; Casula, M. F.; Kostopoulou, A.; Oh, E.; Susumu, K.; Stewart, M. H.; Medintz, I. L.; Stratakis, E.; Parak, W. J.; Kanaras, A. G. The role of ligands in the chemical synthesis and applications of inorganic nanoparticles. Chem. Rev. 2019, 119, 4819-4880.

(400) Martynenko, I.; Litvin, A.; Purcell-Milton, F.; Baranov, A.; Fedorov, A.; Gun'Ko, Y. Application of semiconductor quantum dots in bioimaging and biosensing. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2017**, *S*, 6701–6727.

(401) Gaponik, N.; Rogach, A. L. Semiconductor nanocrystal quantum dots; Springer, 2008.

(402) Pong, B.-K.; Trout, B. L.; Lee, J.-Y. Modified ligand-exchange for efficient solubilization of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots in water: a procedure guided by computational studies. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24*, 5270–5276.

(403) Aldana, J.; Lavelle, N.; Wang, Y.; Peng, X. Size-dependent dissociation pH of thiolate ligands from cadmium chalcogenide nanocrystals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2496–2504.

(404) Smith, A. M.; Duan, H.; Rhyner, M. N.; Ruan, G.; Nie, S. A systematic examination of surface coatings on the optical and chemical properties of semiconductor quantum dots. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *8*, 3895–3903.

(405) Moloney, M. P.; Govan, J.; Loudon, A.; Mukhina, M.; Gun'ko, Y. K. Preparation of chiral quantum dots. *Nat. Protoc.* **2015**, *10*, 558–573.

(406) Stsiapura, V.; Sukhanova, A.; Baranov, A.; Artemyev, M.; Kulakovich, O.; Oleinikov, V.; Pluot, M.; Cohen, J. H.; Nabiev, I. DNA-assisted formation of quasi-nanowires from fluorescent CdSe/ ZnS nanocrystals. *Nanotechnology* **2006**, *17*, 581.

(407) Lee, C.-M.; Jang, D.; Cheong, S.-J.; Kim, E.-M.; Jeong, M.-H.; Kim, S.-H.; Kim, D. W.; Lim, S. T.; Sohn, M.-H.; Jeong, H.-J. Surface engineering of quantum dots for in vivo imaging. *Nanotechnology* **2010**, *21*, 285102.

(408) Liu, J.; Yang, X.; Wang, K.; Wang, Q.; Ji, H.; Wu, C.; Li, J.; He, X.; Tang, J.; Huang, J. Combining physical embedding and covalent bonding for stable encapsulation of quantum dots into agarose hydrogels. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2012**, *22*, 495–501.

(409) Goldman, E. R.; Medintz, I. L.; Hayhurst, A.; Anderson, G. P.; Mauro, J. M.; Iverson, B. L.; Georgiou, G.; Mattoussi, H. Selfassembled luminescent CdSe-ZnS quantum dot bioconjugates prepared using engineered poly-histidine terminated proteins. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 2005, 534, 63–67.

(410) Tomczak, N.; Liu, R.; Vancso, J. G. Polymer-coated quantum dots. *Nanoscale* **2013**, *5*, 12018–12032.

(411) Viswanath, A.; Shen, Y.; Green, A. N.; Tan, R.; Greytak, A. B.; Benicewicz, B. C. Copolymerization and synthesis of multiply binding histamine ligands for the robust functionalization of quantum dots. *Macromolecules* **2014**, *47*, 8137–8144.

(412) Fokina, A.; Klinker, K.; Braun, L.; Jeong, B. G.; Bae, W. K.; Barz, M.; Zentel, R. Multidentate polysarcosine-based ligands for water-soluble quantum dots. *Macromolecules* **2016**, *49*, 3663–3671.

(413) Oh, M. H.; Chen, M.; Chuang, C.-H.; Wilson, G. J.; Burda, C.; Winnik, M. A.; Scholes, G. D. Charge transfer in CdSe nanocrystal complexes with an electroactive polymer. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2013, *117*, 18870–18884.

(414) Wang, M.; Oh, J. K.; Dykstra, T. E.; Lou, X.; Scholes, G. D.; Winnik, M. A. Surface modification of CdSe and CdSe/ZnS semiconductor nanocrystals with poly (N, N-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate). *Macromolecules* **2006**, *39*, 3664–3672.

(415) Wang, W.; Kapur, A.; Ji, X.; Zeng, B.; Mishra, D.; Mattoussi, H. Multifunctional and high affinity polymer ligand that provides bioorthogonal coating of quantum dots. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2016**, *27*, 2024–2036.

(416) Schmidtke, C.; Kreuziger, A.-M.; Alpers, D.; Jacobsen, A.; Leshch, Y.; Eggers, R.; Kloust, H.; Tran, H.; Ostermann, J.; Schotten, T.; Thiem, J.; Thimm, J.; Weller, H. Glycoconjugated amphiphilic polymers via click-chemistry for the encapsulation of quantum dots. *Langmuir* **2013**, *29*, 12593–12600.

(417) Yang, P.; Ando, M.; Murase, N. Controlled self-assembly of hydrophobic quantum dots through silanization. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2011, 361, 9–15.

(418) Fu, A.; Gu, W.; Boussert, B.; Koski, K.; Gerion, D.; Manna, L.; Le Gros, M.; Larabell, C. A.; Alivisatos, A. P. Semiconductor quantum rods as single molecule fluorescent biological labels. *Nano Lett.* 2007, 7, 179–182.

(419) Parak, W. J.; Gerion, D.; Zanchet, D.; Woerz, A. S.; Pellegrino, T.; Micheel, C.; Williams, S. C.; Seitz, M.; Bruehl, R. E.; Bryant, Z.; Bustamante, C.; Bertozzi, C. R.; Alivisatos, A. P. Conjugation of DNA to silanized colloidal semiconductor nanocrystalline quantum dots. *Chem. Mater.* **2002**, *14*, 2113–2119.

(420) Jańczewski, D.; Tomczak, N.; Han, M.-Y.; Vancso, G. J. Synthesis of functionalized amphiphilic polymers for coating quantum dots. *Nat. Protoc.* **2011**, *6*, 1546–1553.

(421) Lee, V.; McMahan, R. S.; Hu, X.; Gao, X.; Faustman, E. M.; Griffith, W. C.; Kavanagh, T. J.; Eaton, D. L.; McGuire, J. K.; Parks, W. C. Amphiphilic polymer-coated CdSe/ZnS quantum dots induce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in mouse lung epithelial cells and macrophages. *Nanotoxicology* **2015**, *9*, 336–343.

(422) Lin, C. A. J.; Sperling, R. A.; Li, J. K.; Yang, T. Y.; Li, P. Y.; Zanella, M.; Chang, W. H.; Parak, W. J. Design of an amphiphilic polymer for nanoparticle coating and functionalization. *Small* **2008**, *4*, 334–341.

(423) Wang, T.; Sridhar, R.; Korotcov, A.; Ting, A. H.; Francis, K.; Mitchell, J.; Wang, P. C. Synthesis of amphiphilic triblock copolymers as multidentate ligands for biocompatible coating of quantum dots. *Colloids Surf.*, A 2011, 375, 147–155.

(424) Darbandi, M.; Thomann, R.; Nann, T. Single quantum dots in silica spheres by microemulsion synthesis. *Chem. Mater.* **2005**, *17*, 5720–5725.

(425) Nann, T.; Mulvaney, P. Single quantum dots in spherical silica particles. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2004**, *43*, 5393–5396.

(426) Chen, Y.; Rosenzweig, Z. Luminescent CdSe quantum dot doped stabilized micelles. *Nano Lett.* **2002**, *2*, 1299–1302.

(427) Beloglazova, N.; Shmelin, P.; Speranskaya, E.; Lucas, B.; Helmbrecht, C.; Knopp, D.; Niessner, R.; De Saeger, S.; Goryacheva, I. Y. Quantum dot loaded liposomes as fluorescent labels for immunoassay. *Anal. Chem.* **2013**, *85*, 7197–7204.

(428) Tahara, K.; Fujimoto, S.; Fujii, F.; Tozuka, Y.; Jin, T.; Takeuchi, H. Quantum dot-loaded liposomes to evaluate the behavior of drug carriers after oral administration. *J. Pharm.* **2013**, 2013, 848275.

(429) Beloglazova, N.; Goryacheva, O.; Speranskaya, E.; Aubert, T.; Shmelin, P.; Kurbangaleev, V.; Goryacheva, I. Y.; De Saeger, S. Silicacoated liposomes loaded with quantum dots as labels for multiplex fluorescent immunoassay. *Talanta* **2015**, *134*, 120–125.

(430) Fan, H.; Leve, E. W.; Scullin, C.; Gabaldon, J.; Tallant, D.; Bunge, S.; Boyle, T.; Wilson, M. C.; Brinker, C. J. Surfactant-assisted synthesis of water-soluble and biocompatible semiconductor quantum dot micelles. *Nano Lett.* **2005**, *5*, 645–648.

(431) Hermanson, G. T. *Bioconjugate techniques*; Academic Press, 2013.

(432) Sapsford, K. E.; Berti, L.; Medintz, I. L. Fluorescence spectroscopy: applications in chemical biology. In *Wiley Encyclopedia* of *Chemical Biology*; John Wiley & Sons, Inc: Hoboken, NJ, 2007; pp 1–23.

(433) Sapsford, K. E.; Algar, W. R.; Berti, L.; Gemmill, K. B.; Casey, B. J.; Oh, E.; Stewart, M. H.; Medintz, I. L. Functionalizing nanoparticles with biological molecules: developing chemistries that facilitate nanotechnology. *Chem. Rev.* **2013**, *113*, 1904–2074.

(434) Shang, L.; Azadfar, N.; Stockmar, F.; Send, W.; Trouillet, V.; Bruns, M.; Gerthsen, D.; Nienhaus, G. U. One-pot synthesis of nearinfrared fluorescent gold clusters for cellular fluorescence lifetime imaging. *Small* **2011**, *7*, 2614–2620.

(435) Lin, C.-A. J.; Yang, T.-Y.; Lee, C.-H.; Huang, S. H.; Sperling, R. A.; Zanella, M.; Li, J. K.; Shen, J.-L.; Wang, H.-H.; Yeh, H.-I; Parak, W. J.; Chang, W. H. Synthesis, characterization, and bioconjugation of fluorescent gold nanoclusters toward biological labeling applications. *ACS Nano* **2009**, *3*, 395–401.

(436) Sun, D.; Gang, O. DNA-functionalized quantum dots: fabrication, structural, and physicochemical properties. *Langmuir* **2013**, *29*, 7038–7046.

(437) Alonso-Cristobal, P.; Vilela, P.; El-Sagheer, A.; Lopez-Cabarcos, E.; Brown, T.; Muskens, O.; Rubio-Retama, J.; Kanaras, A. Highly sensitive DNA sensor based on upconversion nanoparticles and graphene oxide. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2015**, *7*, 12422–12429.

(438) Vilela, P.; El-Sagheer, A.; Millar, T. M.; Brown, T.; Muskens, O. L.; Kanaras, A. G. Graphene oxide-upconversion nanoparticle based optical sensors for targeted detection of mRNA biomarkers present in Alzheimer's disease and prostate cancer. *ACS Sens.* 2017, *2*, 52–56.

(439) Pakiari, A.; Jamshidi, Z. Nature and strength of M-S Bonds (M= Au, Ag, and Cu) in binary alloy gold clusters. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2010**, *114*, 9212–9221.

(440) Schübbe, S.; Cavelius, C.; Schumann, C.; Koch, M.; Kraegeloh, A. STED microscopy to monitor agglomeration of silica particles inside A549 cells. *Adv. Eng. Mater.* **2010**, *12*, 417–422.

(441) Schübbe, S.; Schumann, C.; Cavelius, C.; Koch, M.; Müller, T.; Kraegeloh, A. Size-dependent localization and quantitative evaluation of the intracellular migration of silica nanoparticles in Caco-2 cells. *Chem. Mater.* **2012**, *24*, 914–923.

(442) Man, Z.; Lv, Z.; Xu, Z.; Cui, H.; Liao, Q.; Zheng, L.; Jin, X.; He, Q.; Fu, H. Organic nanoparticles with ultrahigh stimulated emission depletion efficiency for low-power STED nanoscopy. *Nanoscale* **2019**, *11*, 12990–12996.

(443) Algar, W. R.; Prasuhn, D. E.; Stewart, M. H.; Jennings, T. L.; Blanco-Canosa, J. B.; Dawson, P. E.; Medintz, I. L. The controlled display of biomolecules on nanoparticles: a challenge suited to bioorthogonal chemistry. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2011**, *22*, 825–858.

(444) Tuantranont, A. Applications of nanomaterials in sensors and diagnostics; Springer Series on Chemical Sensors and Biosensors; Springer: Berlin Heidelberg, 2013; Vol. 14.

(445) Schneider, G.; Decher, G. From functional core/shell nanoparticles prepared via layer-by-layer deposition to empty nanospheres. *Nano Lett.* **2004**, *4*, 1833–1839.

(446) Schoeler, B.; Poptoshev, E.; Caruso, F. Growth of multilayer films of fixed and variable charge density polyelectrolytes: effect of mutual charge and secondary interactions. *Macromolecules* **2003**, *36*, 5258–5264.

(447) Liu, G.; Zhao, J.; Sun, Q.; Zhang, G. Role of chain interpenetration in layer-by-layer deposition of polyelectrolytes. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2008**, *112*, 3333–3338.

(448) Khopade, A. J.; Caruso, F. Investigation of the factors influencing the formation of dendrimer/polyanion multilayer films. *Langmuir* **2002**, *18*, 7669–7676.

(449) Holmberg, A.; Blomstergren, A.; Nord, O.; Lukacs, M.; Lundeberg, J.; Uhlén, M. The biotin-streptavidin interaction can be reversibly broken using water at elevated temperatures. *Electrophoresis* **2005**, *26*, 501–510.

(450) Lesch, H. P.; Kaikkonen, M. U.; Pikkarainen, J. T.; Ylä-Herttuala, S. Avidin-biotin technology in targeted therapy. *Expert Opin. Drug Delivery* **2010**, *7*, 551–564.

(451) Roll, D.; Malicka, J.; Gryczynski, I.; Gryczynski, Z.; Lakowicz, J. R. Metallic colloid wavelength-ratiometric scattering sensors. *Anal. Chem.* **2003**, *75*, 3440–3445.

(452) Nash, M. A.; Yager, P.; Hoffman, A. S.; Stayton, P. S. Mixed stimuli-responsive magnetic and gold nanoparticle system for rapid purification, enrichment, and detection of biomarkers. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2010**, *21*, 2197–2204.

(453) Li, X.; Kohli, P. Investigating molecular interactions in biosensors based on fluorescence resonance energy transfer. J. Phys. Chem. C 2010, 114, 6255–6264.

(454) Biju, V. Chemical modifications and bioconjugate reactions of nanomaterials for sensing, imaging, drug delivery and therapy. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2014**, *43*, 744–764.

(455) Foubert, A.; Beloglazova, N. V.; Rajkovic, A.; Sas, B.; Madder, A.; Goryacheva, I. Y.; De Saeger, S. Bioconjugation of quantum dots: Review & impact on future application. *TrAC Trends Anal. Chem.* **2016**, 83, 31–48.

(456) Medintz, I. L.; Berti, L.; Pons, T.; Grimes, A. F.; English, D. S.; Alessandrini, A.; Facci, P.; Mattoussi, H. A reactive peptidic linker for self-assembling hybrid quantum dot-DNA bioconjugates. *Nano Lett.* **2007**, *7*, 1741–1748.

(457) Nagasaki, Y.; Ishii, T.; Sunaga, Y.; Watanabe, Y.; Otsuka, H.; Kataoka, K. Novel molecular recognition via fluorescent resonance energy transfer using a biotin-PEG/polyamine Stabilized CdS Quantum Dot. *Langmuir* **2004**, *20*, 6396–6400.

(458) Warnement, M. R.; Tomlinson, I. D.; Chang, J. C.; Schreuder, M. A.; Luckabaugh, C. M.; Rosenthal, S. J. Controlling the reactivity of ampiphilic quantum dots in biological assays through hydrophobic assembly of custom PEG derivatives. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2008**, *19*, 1404–1413.

(459) Andreani, T.; Souza, A. L. R. d.; Kiill, C. P.; Lorenzon, E. N.; Fangueiro, J. F.; Calpena, A. C.; Chaud, M. V.; Garcia, M. L.; Gremiao, M. P. D.; Silva, A. M.; Souto, E. B. Preparation and characterization of PEG-coated silica nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2014**, 473, 627–635.

(460) Fernandes, R.; Smyth, N. R.; Muskens, O. L.; Nitti, S.; Heuer-Jungemann, A.; Ardern-Jones, M. R.; Kanaras, A. G. Interactions of skin with gold nanoparticles of different surface charge, shape, and functionality. *Small* **2015**, *11*, 713–721.

(461) Owens, D. E., III; Peppas, N. A. Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2006**, 307, 93–102.

(462) Jokerst, J. V.; Lobovkina, T.; Zare, R. N.; Gambhir, S. S. Nanoparticle PEGylation for imaging and therapy. *Nanomedicine* **2011**, *6*, 715–728.

(463) Bartczak, D.; Muskens, O. L.; Nitti, S.; Sanchez-Elsner, T.; Millar, T. M.; Kanaras, A. G. Interactions of human endothelial cells with gold nanoparticles of different morphologies. *Small* **2012**, *8*, 122–130.

(464) Bartczak, D.; Kanaras, A. G. Diacetylene-containing ligand as a new capping agent for the preparation of water-soluble colloidal nanoparticles of remarkable stability. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, 7072–7077.

(465) Colombo, M.; Mazzucchelli, S.; Montenegro, J. M.; Galbiati, E.; Corsi, F.; Parak, W. J.; Prosperi, D. Protein oriented ligation on nanoparticlesexploiting O6-Alkylguanine-DNA transferase (SNAP) genetically encoded fusion. *Small* **2012**, *8*, 1492–1497.

(466) Sun, C.; Du, K.; Fang, C.; Bhattarai, N.; Veiseh, O.; Kievit, F.; Stephen, Z.; Lee, D.; Ellenbogen, R. G.; Ratner, B.; Zhang, M. PEG-mediated synthesis of highly dispersive multifunctional superparamagnetic nanoparticles: their physicochemical properties and function in vivo. ACS Nano 2010, 4, 2402–2410.

(467) Susumu, K.; Uyeda, H. T.; Medintz, I. L.; Pons, T.; Delehanty, J. B.; Mattoussi, H. Enhancing the stability and biological functionalities of quantum dots via compact multifunctional ligands. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 13987–13996.

(468) Correa-Duarte, M. A.; Giersig, M.; Liz-Marzán, L. M. Stabilization of CdS semiconductor nanoparticles against photodegradation by a silica coating procedure. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1998**, *286*, 497–501.

(469) Mulvaney, P.; Liz-Marzan, L.; Giersig, M.; Ung, T. Silica encapsulation of quantum dots and metal clusters. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2000**, *10*, 1259–1270.

(470) Kirchner, C.; Liedl, T.; Kudera, S.; Pellegrino, T.; Muñoz Javier, A.; Gaub, H. E.; Stölzle, S.; Fertig, N.; Parak, W. J. Cytotoxicity of colloidal CdSe and CdSe/ZnS nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2005**, *5*, 331–338.

(471) Wu, S.-H.; Mou, C.-Y.; Lin, H.-P. Synthesis of mesoporous silica nanoparticles. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 3862–3875.

(472) Vinu, A.; Hossain, K. Z.; Ariga, K. Recent advances in functionalization of mesoporous silica. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 2005, 5, 347–371.

(473) Elzoghby, A. O.; Samy, W. M.; Elgindy, N. A. Albumin-based nanoparticles as potential controlled release drug delivery systems. *J. Controlled Release* **2012**, *157*, 168–182.

(474) Xia, B.; Zhang, W.; Shi, J.; Xiao, S.-j. Engineered stealth porous silicon nanoparticles via surface encapsulation of bovine serum

albumin for prolonging blood circulation in vivo. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2013**, *5*, 11718–11724.

(475) Spicer, C. D.; Jumeaux, C.; Gupta, B.; Stevens, M. M. Peptide and protein nanoparticle conjugates: versatile platforms for biomedical applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, *47*, 3574–3620.

(476) Lewin, M.; Carlesso, N.; Tung, C.-H.; Tang, X.-W.; Cory, D.; Scadden, D. T.; Weissleder, R. Tat peptide-derivatized magnetic nanoparticles allow in vivo tracking and recovery of progenitor cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2000**, *18*, 410–414.

(477) Zhang, J.; Chi, Q.; Nielsen, J. U.; Friis, E. P.; Andersen, J. E.; Ulstrup, J. Two-dimensional cysteine and cystine cluster networks on Au (111) disclosed by voltammetry and in situ scanning tunneling microscopy. *Langmuir* **2000**, *16*, 7229–7237.

(478) Lévy, R.; Thanh, N. T.; Doty, R. C.; Hussain, I.; Nichols, R. J.; Schiffrin, D. J.; Brust, M.; Fernig, D. G. Rational and combinatorial design of peptide capping ligands for gold nanoparticles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 10076–10084.

(479) Bartczak, D.; Muskens, O. L.; Sanchez-Elsner, T.; Kanaras, A. G.; Millar, T. M. Manipulation of in vitro angiogenesis using peptidecoated gold nanoparticles. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 5628–5636.

(480) Chowdhury, R.; Ilyas, H.; Ghosh, A.; Ali, H.; Ghorai, A.; Midya, A.; Jana, N. R.; Das, S.; Bhunia, A. Multivalent gold nanoparticle-peptide conjugates for targeting intracellular bacterial infections. *Nanoscale* **2017**, *9*, 14074–14093.

(481) Bartczak, D.; Kanaras, A. G. Preparation of peptidefunctionalized gold nanoparticles using one pot EDC/sulfo-NHS coupling. *Langmuir* **2011**, *27*, 10119–10123.

(482) Bartczak, D.; Muskens, O. L.; Millar, T. M.; Sanchez-Elsner, T.; Kanaras, A. G. Laser-induced damage and recovery of plasmonically targeted human endothelial cells. *Nano Lett.* **2011**, *11*, 1358– 1363.

(483) Bartczak, D.; Muskens, O. L.; Nitti, S.; Millar, T. M.; Kanaras, A. G. Nanoparticles for inhibition of in vitro tumour angiogenesis: synergistic actions of ligand function and laser irradiation. *Biomater. Sci.* **2015**, *3*, 733–741.

(484) Roma-Rodrigues, C.; Heuer-Jungemann, A.; Fernandes, A. R.; Kanaras, A. G.; Baptista, P. V. Peptide-coated gold nanoparticles for modulation of angiogenesis in vivo. *Int. J. Nanomed.* **2016**, *11*, 2633–2639.

(485) Bartczak, D.; Sanchez-Elsner, T.; Louafi, F.; Millar, T. M.; Kanaras, A. G. Receptor-mediated interactions between colloidal gold nanoparticles and human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Small* **2011**, 7, 388–394.

(486) Bartczak, D.; Nitti, S.; Millar, T. M.; Kanaras, A. G. Exocytosis of peptide functionalized gold nanoparticles in endothelial cells. *Nanoscale* **2012**, *4*, 4470–4472.

(487) Pedrosa, P.; Heuer-Jungemann, A.; Kanaras, A. G.; Fernandes, A. R.; Baptista, P. V. Potentiating angiogenesis arrest in vivo via laser irradiation of peptide functionalised gold nanoparticles. *J. Nanobiotechnol.* **2017**, *15*, 85.

(488) Wilchek, M.; Bayer, E. A. [2] Introduction to avidin-biotin technology. *Methods Enzymol.* **1990**, *184*, 5–13.

(489) Li, S.; Liu, H.; He, N. Covalent binding of streptavidin on gold magnetic nanoparticles for bead array fabrication. *J. Nanosci.* Nanotechnol. 2010, 10, 4875–4882.

(490) Ma, W.; Saccardo, A.; Roccatano, D.; Aboagye-Mensah, D.; Alkaseem, M.; Jewkes, M.; Di Nezza, F.; Baron, M.; Soloviev, M.; Ferrari, E. Modular assembly of proteins on nanoparticles. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 1489.

(491) Ho, Y.-P.; Leong, K. W. Quantum dot-based theranostics. Nanoscale 2010, 2, 60–68.

(492) Martynenko, I.; Litvin, A. P.; Purcell-Milton, F.; Baranov, A.; Fedorov, A.; Gun'ko, Y. K. Application of semiconductor quantum dots in bioimaging and biosensing. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2017**, *5*, 6701–6727.

(493) Jiang, W.; Kim, B. Y.; Rutka, J. T.; Chan, W. C. Nanoparticlemediated cellular response is size-dependent. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2008, 3, 145–150. (494) Soenen, S. J.; Nuytten, N.; De Meyer, S. F.; De Smedt, S. C.; De Cuyper, M. High intracellular iron oxide nanoparticle concentrations affect cellular cytoskeleton and focal adhesion kinase-mediated signaling. *Small* **2010**, *6*, 832–842.

(495) Huang, Y.-F.; Liu, H.; Xiong, X.; Chen, Y.; Tan, W. Nanoparticle-mediated IgE-receptor aggregation and signaling in RBL mast cells. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 17328–17334.

(496) Thomas, T. P.; Shukla, R.; Kotlyar, A.; Liang, B.; Ye, J. Y.; Norris, T. B.; Baker Jr, J. R. Dendrimer-epidermal growth factor conjugate displays superagonist activity. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 603–609.

(497) Osaki, F.; Kanamori, T.; Sando, S.; Sera, T.; Aoyama, Y. A quantum dot conjugated sugar ball and its cellular uptake. On the size effects of endocytosis in the subviral region. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 6520–6521.

(498) Zhang, S.; Gao, H.; Bao, G. Physical principles of nanoparticle cellular endocytosis. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 8655–8671.

(499) Feliu, N.; Huhn, J.; Zyuzin, M. V.; Ashraf, S.; Valdeperez, D.; Masood, A.; Said, A. H.; Escudero, A.; Pelaz, B.; Gonzalez, E.; Duarte, M. A. C.; Roy, S.; Chakraborty, I.; Lim, M. L.; Sjoqvist, S.; Jungebluth, P.; Parak, W. J. Quantitative uptake of colloidal particles by cell cultures. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2016**, *568*, 819–828.

(500) Biju, V.; Itoh, T.; Ishikawa, M. Delivering quantum dots to cells: bioconjugated quantum dots for targeted and nonspecific extracellular and intracellular imaging. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2010**, *39*, 3031–3056.

(501) Conner, S. D.; Schmid, S. L. Regulated portals of entry into the cell. *Nature* **2003**, *422*, 37–44.

(502) Mayor, S.; Pagano, R. E. Pathways of clathrin-independent endocytosis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2007**, *8*, 603–612.

(503) Kumari, S.; Swetha, M.; Mayor, S. Endocytosis unplugged: multiple ways to enter the cell. *Cell Res.* **2010**, *20*, 256–275.

(504) Howes, M. T.; Mayor, S.; Parton, R. G. Molecules, mechanisms, and cellular roles of clathrin-independent endocytosis. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **2010**, *22*, 519–527.

(505) Kobayashi, S.; Nakase, I.; Kawabata, N.; Yu, H.-H.; Pujals, S.; Imanishi, M.; Giralt, E.; Futaki, S. Cytosolic targeting of macromolecules using a pH-dependent fusogenic peptide in combination with cationic liposomes. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2009**, *20*, 953–959.

(506) Fuller, J. E.; Zugates, G. T.; Ferreira, L. S.; Ow, H. S.; Nguyen, N. N.; Wiesner, U. B.; Langer, R. S. Intracellular delivery of core-shell fluorescent silica nanoparticles. *Biomaterials* **2008**, *29*, 1526–1532.

(507) Yezhelyev, M. V.; Qi, L.; O'Regan, R. M.; Nie, S.; Gao, X. Proton-sponge coated quantum dots for siRNA delivery and intracellular imaging. *J. Am. Chem. SoC* **2008**, *130*, 9006–9012.

(508) Thomas, M.; Klibanov, A. M. Conjugation to gold nanoparticles enhances polyethylenimine's transfer of plasmid DNA into mammalian cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2003**, *100*, 9138–9143.

(509) Ruan, G.; Agrawal, A.; Marcus, A. I.; Nie, S. Imaging and tracking of tat peptide-conjugated quantum dots in living cells: new insights into nanoparticle uptake, intracellular transport, and vesicle shedding. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 14759–14766.

(510) Chou, L. Y.; Ming, K.; Chan, W. C. Strategies for the intracellular delivery of nanoparticles. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2011**, *40*, 233–245.

(511) Karabanovas, V.; Zitkus, Z.; Kuciauskas, D.; Rotomskis, R.; Valius, M. Surface properties of quantum dots define their cellular endocytic routes, mitogenic stimulation and suppression of cell migration. *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.* **2014**, *10*, 775–785.

(512) Park, J.; Nam, J.; Won, N.; Jin, H.; Jung, S.; Jung, S.; Cho, S. H.; Kim, S. Compact and stable quantum dots with positive, negative, or zwitterionic surface: specific cell interactions and non-specific adsorptions by the surface charges. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2011**, *21*, 1558–1566.

(513) Al-Hajaj, N. A.; Moquin, A.; Neibert, K. D.; Soliman, G. M.; Winnik, F. M.; Maysinger, D. Short ligands affect modes of QD uptake and elimination in human cells. *ACS Nano* **2011**, *5*, 4909– 4918. (514) Shan, Y.; Hao, X.; Shang, X.; Cai, M.; Jiang, J.; Tang, Z.; Wang, H. Recording force events of single quantum-dot endocytosis. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 3377–3379.

(515) Nabiev, I.; Mitchell, S.; Davies, A.; Williams, Y.; Kelleher, D.; Moore, R.; Gun'ko, Y. K.; Byrne, S.; Rakovich, Y. P.; Donegan, J. F.; Sukhanova, A.; Conroy, J.; Cottell, D.; Gaponik, N.; Rogach, A.; Volkov, Y. Nonfunctionalized nanocrystals can exploit a cell's active transport machinery delivering them to specific nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments. *Nano Lett.* **2007**, *7*, 3452–3461.

(516) Zhang, L. W.; Monteiro-Riviere, N. A. Mechanisms of quantum dot nanoparticle cellular uptake. *Toxicol. Sci.* 2009, 110, 138–155.

(517) Jiang, X.; Röcker, C.; Hafner, M.; Brandholt, S.; Dörlich, R. M.; Nienhaus, G. U. Endo-and exocytosis of zwitterionic quantum dot nanoparticles by live HeLa cells. *ACS Nano* **2010**, *4*, 6787–6797.

(518) Leménager, G.; De Luca, E.; Sun, Y.-P.; Pompa, P. P. Superresolution fluorescence imaging of biocompatible carbon dots. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 8617–8623.

(519) Lee, J.; Choi, Y.; Cho, Y.; Song, R. Selective Targeting of cellular nucleus using positively-charged quantum dots. *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* **2013**, *13*, 417–422.

(520) Jaiswal, J. K.; Mattoussi, H.; Mauro, J. M.; Simon, S. M. Longterm multiple color imaging of live cells using quantum dot bioconjugates. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2003**, *21*, 47–51.

(521) Gomez, N.; Winter, J. O.; Shieh, F.; Saunders, A. E.; Korgel, B. A.; Schmidt, C. E. Challenges in quantum dot-neuron active interfacing. *Talanta* **2005**, *67*, 462–471.

(522) Breus, V. V.; Heyes, C. D.; Tron, K.; Nienhaus, G. U. Zwitterionic biocompatible quantum dots for wide pH stability and weak nonspecific binding to cells. *ACS Nano* **2009**, *3*, 2573–2580.

(523) Murcia, M. J.; Minner, D. E.; Mustata, G.-M.; Ritchie, K.; Naumann, C. A. Design of quantum dot-conjugated lipids for longterm, high-speed tracking experiments on cell surfaces. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 15054–15062.

(524) Mok, H.; Park, J. W.; Park, T. G. Enhanced intracellular delivery of quantum dot and adenovirus nanoparticles triggered by acidic pH via surface charge reversal. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2008**, *19*, 797–801.

(525) Wen, C.-J.; Zhang, L.-W.; Al-Suwayeh, S. A.; Yen, T.-C.; Fang, J.-Y. Theranostic liposomes loaded with quantum dots and apomorphine for brain targeting and bioimaging. *Int. J. Nanomed.* **2012**, *7*, 1599–1611.

(526) Al-Jamal, W. T.; Al-Jamal, K. T.; Tian, B.; Lacerda, L.; Bomans, P. H.; Frederik, P. M.; Kostarelos, K. Lipid-quantum dot bilayer vesicles enhance tumor cell uptake and retention in vitro and in vivo. *ACS Nano* **2008**, *2*, 408–418.

(527) Jung, Y. K.; Shin, E.; Kim, B.-S. Cell nucleus-targeting zwitterionic carbon dots. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 18807.

(528) Rezgui, R.; Blumer, K.; Yeoh-Tan, G.; Trexler, A. J.; Magzoub, M. Precise quantification of cellular uptake of cell-penetrating peptides using fluorescence-activated cell sorting and fluorescence correlation spectroscopy. *BBA-Biomembranes* **2016**, *1858*, 1499–1506.

(529) Walther, C.; Meyer, K.; Rennert, R.; Neundorf, I. Quantum dot-carrier peptide conjugates suitable for imaging and delivery applications. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2008**, *19*, 2346–2356.

(530) Tang, P. S.; Sathiamoorthy, S.; Lustig, L. C.; Ponzielli, R.; Inamoto, I.; Penn, L. Z.; Shin, J. A.; Chan, W. C. The role of ligand density and size in mediating quantum dot nuclear transport. *Small* **2014**, *10*, 4182–4192.

(531) Kuo, K.-W.; Chen, T.-H.; Kuo, W.-T.; Huang, H.-Y.; Lo, H.-Y.; Huang, Y.-Y. Cell uptake and intracellular visualization using quantum dots or nuclear localization signal-modified quantum dots with gold nanoparticles as quenchers. *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* **2010**, *10*, 4173–4177.

(532) Ohta, S.; Inasawa, S.; Yamaguchi, Y. Real time observation and kinetic modeling of the cellular uptake and removal of silicon quantum dots. *Biomaterials* **2012**, *33*, 4639–4645.

(533) Pinaud, F.; Clarke, S.; Sittner, A.; Dahan, M. Probing cellular events, one quantum dot at a time. *Nat. Methods* 2010, 7, 275–285.
(534) Feng, G.; Liu, B. Aggregation-induced emission (AIE) dots:

emerging theranostic nanolights. Acc. Chem. Res. 2018, 51, 1404-1414.

(535) Liu, J.; Chen, C.; Ji, S.; Liu, Q.; Ding, D.; Zhao, D.; Liu, B. Long wavelength excitable near-infrared fluorescent nanoparticles with aggregation-induced emission characteristics for image-guided tumor resection. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 2782–2789.

(536) Torelli, M. D.; Nunn, N. A.; Shenderova, O. A. A perspective on fluorescent nanodiamond bioimaging. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1902151.

(537) Dong, H.; Sun, L.-D.; Yan, C.-H. Energy transfer in lanthanide upconversion studies for extended optical applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 1608–1634.

(538) Xie, X.; Li, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Guo, S.; Pendharkar, A. I.; Lu, M.; Huang, L.; Huang, W.; Han, G. Emerging≈ 800 nm excited lanthanide-doped upconversion nanoparticles. *Small* **2017**, *13*, 1602843.

(539) Su, X.; Sun, X.; Wu, S.; Zhang, S. Manipulating the emission intensity and lifetime of NaYF₄:Yb³⁺, Er³⁺ simultaneously by embedding it into CdS photonic crystals. *Nanoscale* **2017**, *9*, 7666–7673.

(540) Feng, Z.; Hu, D.; Liang, L.; Xu, J.; Cao, Y.; Zhan, Q.; Guan, B. O.; Liu, X.; Li, X. Laser-splashed plasmonic nanocrater for ratiometric upconversion regulation and encryption. *Adv. Opt. Mater.* **2019**, *7*, 1900610.

(541) Andrian, T.; Pujals, S.; Albertazzi, L. Quantifying the effect of PEG architecture on nanoparticle ligand availability using DNA-PAINT. *Nanoscale Adv.* **2021**, *3*, 6876–6881.

(542) Andrian, T.; Delcanale, P.; Pujals, S.; Albertazzi, L. Correlating super-resolution microscopy and transmission electron microscopy reveals multiparametric heterogeneity in nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 5360–5368.

(543) Ben-Sasson, A. J.; Watson, J. L.; Sheffler, W.; Johnson, M. C.; Bittleston, A.; Somasundaram, L.; Decarreau, J.; Jiao, F.; Chen, J.; Mela, I.; Drabek, A. A.; Jarrett, S. M.; Blacklow, S. C.; Kaminski, C. F.; Hura, G. L.; De Yoreo, J. J.; Kollman, J. M.; Ruohola-Baker, H.; Derivery, E.; Baker, D. Design of biologically active binary protein 2D materials. *Nature* **2021**, *589*, 468–473.

(544) Boott, C. E.; Laine, R. F.; Mahou, P.; Finnegan, J. R.; Leitao, E. M.; Webb, S. E.; Kaminski, C. F.; Manners, I. In situ visualization of block copolymer self-assembly in organic media by super-resolution fluorescence microscopy. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **2015**, *21*, 18539–18542.

(545) Murakami, T.; Qamar, S.; Lin, J. Q.; Schierle, G. S. K.; Rees, E.; Miyashita, A.; Costa, A. R.; Dodd, R. B.; Chan, F. T.S.; Michel, C. H.; Kronenberg-Versteeg, D.; Li, Y.; Yang, S.-P.; Wakutani, Y.; Meadows, W.; Ferry, R. R.; Dong, L.; Tartaglia, G. G.; Favrin, G.; Lin, W.-L.; Dickson, D. W.; Zhen, M.; Ron, D.; Schmitt-Ulms, G.; Fraser, P. E.; Shneider, N. A.; Holt, C.; Vendruscolo, M.; Kaminski, C. F.; St George-Hyslop, P. ALS/FTD mutation-induced phase transition of FUS liquid droplets and reversible hydrogels into irreversible hydrogels impairs RNP granule function. *Neuron* **2015**, *88*, 678–690. (546) Hardenberg, M. C.; Sinnige, T.; Casford, S.; Dada, S. T.;

Poudel, C.; Robinson, E. A.; Fuxreiter, M.; Kaminksi, C. F.; Kaminski Schierle, G. S.; Nollen, E. A. Observation of an α -synuclein liquid droplet state and its maturation into Lewy body-like assemblies. *J. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2021**, *13*, 282–294.

(547) Holcman, D.; Parutto, P.; Chambers, J. E.; Fantham, M.; Young, L. J.; Marciniak, S. J.; Kaminski, C. F.; Ron, D.; Avezov, E. Single particle trajectories reveal active endoplasmic reticulum luminal flow. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2018**, *20*, 1118–1125.

(548) van Wee, R.; Filius, M.; Joo, C. Completing the canvas: advances and challenges for DNA-PAINT super-resolution imaging. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **2021**, *46*, 918–930.

(549) Jungmann, R.; Avendaño, M. S.; Woehrstein, J. B.; Dai, M.; Shih, W. M.; Yin, P. Multiplexed 3D cellular super-resolution imaging with DNA-PAINT and Exchange-PAINT. *Nat. Methods* **2014**, *11*, 313–318. (550) Lee, J.; Park, S.; Kang, W.; Hohng, S. Accelerated superresolution imaging with FRET-PAINT. *Mol. Brain* **2017**, *10*, 63.

(551) Auer, A.; Štrauss, M. T.; Schlichthaerle, T.; Jungmann, R. Fast, background-free DNA-PAINT imaging using FRET-based probes. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 6428–6434.